## DATA AND TOOLS TO OPERATIONALIZE

### RIDGE-TO-REEF MANAGEMENT AND BUILD ISLAND RESILIENCE IN

### OCEANIC ISLAND ENVIRONMENTS

## A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE DIVISION OF THE UNIVERSITY OF HAWAI'I AT MĀNOA IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

### NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

JULY 2017

By

Jade Maëva Scarlett Delevaux

Dissertation Committee:

Peter Garrod, Chairperson Alan Friedlander Tamara Ticktin Kawika Winter Robert Toonen

Keywords: coral reef, land-based nutrients, sedimentation, climate change, bleaching, social-ecological resilience, modeling, ridge-to-reef, oceanic islands

### COPYRIGHT

Copyright Reserved by Jade M. S. Delevaux (2017).

This acknowledges Jade M. S. Delevaux as copyright owner and author of this dissertation, entitled "data and tools to operationalize ridge-to-reef management and build island resilience in oceanic island environments", and is accordingly entitled to all exclusive rights and privileges.

© 2017, Jade M. S. Delevaux

# DEDICATION

To my teachers, partner, friends and family whose guidance, support and love has empowered me to reach beyond the realms of possibility.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Because my research has been an effort aimed at reconnecting terrestrial and marine systems, I have many people to thank for their contribution, enthusiasm, and patience while I learned about their fields. Above all, I am grateful for Kosta Stamoulis and his willingness to embark upon a major collaboration that allowed us to produce a story that really goes beyond the sum of its parts. I also want to thank Cynthia Lai for being my office mate and "grad school buddy". Her support and care allowed me to remain committed and overcome many challenges along this academic journey. I am also very thankful for Leah Bremer for her support from beginning to end providing me with opportunities and always asking me the right questions to keep me moving forward!

Special appreciation goes to my PhD committee members, starting with my advisor Pete Garrod. His trust allowed me to embark on this research, which was new territory for both of us. I am thankful for Stacy Jupiter from the Wildlife Conservation Society, for helping me brainstorm this ridge-to-reef tool on scratch paper at a café in Honolulu, her ability to return a draft by the next day from Fiji, and always shining new perspectives on this work. Tamara Ticktin in the Botany Department at UH for being my role model in all realms of my life and inspiring me to always go above and beyond. I am very grateful for Alan Friedlander from the Fishery Ecology and Research Lab (FERL) at UH for teaching me about Pacific island geography and coral reef ecology, taking the time to provide me with extensive feedback either in person or on paper, sharing his unparalleled experience underwater, and helping me build a strong quantitative skills and scientific foundation. I thank Rob Toonen from the Biology Department at UH for making me reflect on why 'all models are wrong, but some can be useful', teaching me about the importance and nuance between terrestrial and marine population dynamics, and their implication for resources management. Lastly but not least, Kawika Winter from the National Botanical Gardens in Hā'ena, for helping me bridge science to local communities, ensuring this work can inform their local initiatives, and for being an inspiring local community leader.

None of this work would have been possible without funding that supported me and this project, especially the National Science Foundation (NSF) Coastal SEES award # 1325874. I would like to thank other sources of funding including NOAA Coral Reef Conservation Program award

#NA13N0S4820020 and USGS Pacific Island Climate Science Center award #G13AC00361 for supporting me as a research assistant during my course work, which allowed me to expand my knowledge and build the skills that would lead me toward my PhD candidacy. I would like to also thank my employers and team members from EA Technology, Science, and Engineering and Enviro Training and Services for supporting me during my dissertation-writing phase and being flexible with my academic life's demands. They provided me with valuable opportunities to learn more about coastal water quality, compliance and needed science in the State of Hawai'i. This thesis' chapters 1 and 2 could not have been completed without access to data provided by the State of Hawai'i Department of Health, School of Ocean and Earth Science and Technology, FERL and The Nature Conservancy (TNC) Hawai'i. Chapter 3 of this thesis was made possible thanks to data provided by the Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS) Fiji, the Government of Fiji (Ministry of Agriculture), and the University of Queensland. I would like to also thank all the local communities in Hawai'i and Fiji who participated in this research and inspiring its application.

Through the course of my degree, many people have given advice, helped with data analysis, and provided feedback on many drafts. Solving environmental problems at the forefront of transdisciplinary science were made possible thanks to the contribution and support of my modeling partners and collaborators, especially: Robert Whittier (Hawai'i Department of Health) for modeling groundwater and embarking with me on this modeling effort to link and land and sea like it has ever been done before; Lida Teneva (Hawai'i Conservation International) for her support and feedback; Greg Guannel (University of Virgin Islands & NatCap) for guiding me in the writing of my first chapter and teaching me about wave modeling; Anders Knudby (Department of Geography, University of Ottawa) and Matt Poti (NOAA Biogeography Branch contractor) for your patience and extensive feedback and support in R coding and spatial predictive modeling; Matt Kendall (NOAA Biogeography Branch) for showing me how big data projects can be pulled together; Kimberly Burnett (UHERO) for her positive energy, reminding to have fun in the process, and feedback along this journey; Susan Yee (EPA) for initiating and mentoring me on coral reef ecosystem and ecosystem services modeling; Wendy Wiltse (EPA) for introducing me to key collaborators; Mehana Vaughan (NREM) for opening my heart to the Hawaiian culture and new world views; and Kim Falinski (TNC) for providing me with sediment models for the Fiji

chapter. Thank you all for aiding in some shape or form with my research and analyses in ArcGIS, modeling in R, communicating and bridging science to policy, agencies, and communities.

Last, but by no means least, I would like to extend my deep gratitude to all the people who have provided me encouragement, love and moral support along this journey. In particular a special thank you to my loving and inspiring friends (Cynthia Lai, Kara Miller, Erin Zanre, Cheryl Geslani, Connie Winterstein, Rafael Bergstrom, Tamara Smith, Ella Nkanagu, Dan Amato, Ricardo Zanre, Caleb McMahan, Phil Potter, Melody Serre and Lalaina Garretta), who made life in graduate school unforgettable and worth it, my graduate school ohana (in particular Hla Htun, Shanna Graffeld, Rachel Dacks, Michele Barnes, Natalie Kurashima, Jonatha Giddens, and the Mehana lab) and my dear and loving family. Last and foremost, I am forever grateful for Kosta Stamoulis, for being my strongest advocate, the love of my life and my light on this journey.

#### ABSTRACT

Around the Pacific, a cultural renaissance rooted in the concern over declining natural resources seeks to revive traditional ridge-to-reef management approaches to promote social and ecological resilience in a changing climate. However, the effectiveness of ridge-to-reef management remains unclear due to a poor understanding of the cumulative effects of human and natural disturbances. In high Pacific islands, land and sea are tightly connected through social and ecological processes as a result of their small size and steep elevation gradients. Therefore, new tools are needed to inform resilience management over spatial scales relevant to Pacific Islanders. This research focused on three ridge-to-reef systems under community-based-management in Hawai'i (Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu) and Fiji (Kubulau), which capture a wide spectrum of natural disturbances governing high Pacific islands.

Based on local data from Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu, I developed a novel predictive modeling framework linking land and sea drivers to coral reef benthic and fish indicators, at fine spatial resolution. This framework was used to determine the effects of terrestrial and marine disturbances on coral reef communities and compare the effects of coastal development coupled with climate change on coral reef benthic communities and their targeted reef fish populations, given different natural disturbance regimes. I then transferred the framework to Kubulau to assess the effects of forest cover change on downstream coral reefs given uncertain climate impacts.

The results revealed that sheltered and dry oceanic environments, such as Ka'ūpūlehu, may be particularly susceptible to reduced water quality impacts. In contrast, exposed areas, like Hā'ena, are less susceptible to anthropogenic activities due to dilution and mixing from higher wave power and freshwater discharge. However, reef fish populations across most study sites became vulnerable to the impact of land-based source pollution when models incorporated climate change. In all cases, terrestrial management actions aimed at improving coastal water quality through wastewater management or forest conservation, coupled with the protection of coral reef nurseries or deep-water refuges, improved coral reef resilience potential. This research demonstrates that locally developed and data-driven models offer a much-needed opportunity for aiding place based management of coral reef social-ecological systems in high oceanic island environments.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOLEDGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	<i>x</i>
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
References	6
CHAPTER 2. A MODELING FRAMEWORK TO LINK TERRESTR	IAL & MARINE
DRIVERS TO CORAL REEF ECOLOGICAL OUTC	OMES
IN HIGH OCEANIC ISLANDS	11
Abstract	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Site description	
2.2.1.1 Windward Kaua'i ahupua'a: Hā'ena	14
2.2.1.2 Leeward Hawai'i ahupua'a: Ka'ūpūlehu	14
2.2.2 Ridge-to-reef modeling framework	15
2.2.3 Coral reef indicators & field data	17
2.2.3.1 Coral reef indicators	17
2.3.2 Hā`ena field data	
2.3.3 Ka'ūpūlehu field data	19
2.2.4 Modeling terrestrial drivers	19
2.2.4.1 Groundwater models boundary conditions	19
2.2.4.2 Groundwater flow modeling	
2.2.4.3 Nutrient flux modeling	24
2.2.4.4 Coastal water quality modeling	27
2.2.5 Marine driver modeling	
2.2.6 Identifying terrestrial and marine drivers of coral reefs	
2.2.7 Modeling coral reef dynamics	
2.3. Results	
2.3.1 Terrestrial drivers	
2.3.2 Marine drivers	34
2.3.3 Coral reef drivers	35
2.3.3.1 Effect of groundwater discharge on coral reefs	41
2.3.3.2 Effect of wave power on coral reefs	41

2.3.3.3 Effect of habitat conditions on coral reefs	41
2.3.3.4 Effect of land-based nutrients on coral reefs	
2.4. Discussion	
2.4.1 Effect of natural disturbances on coral reefs	
2.4.1.1 Effect of groundwater discharge on coral reefs	
2.4.1.2 Effect of wave power on coral reefs	
2.4.2 Effect of habitat conditions on coral reefs	
2.4.3 Effect of land-based nutrients on coral reefs	
2.4.3.1 Marine sinks of land-based nutrients	47
2.4.4 Management implications	
2.5. Conclusions	49
Supplementary Material	
References	67

### CHAPTER 3. CORAL REEF RESILIENCE TO HUMAN DRIVERS IN OCEANIC ISLAND ENVIRONMENTS

ISLAND ENVIRONMENTS	75
Abstract	75
3.1 Introduction	76
3.2. Methods	77
3.2.1 Modeling approach	77
3.2.2 Coral reef indicators	79
3.2.3 Modeling natural drivers	79
3.2.4 Modeling human drivers	82
3.2.5.1 Local human drivers: Coastal development scenarios	82
3.2.5.2 Global human drivers: Climate change scenarios	84
3.2.5 Modeling scenarios impacts	86
3.2.6 Scenario analysis	86
3.3. Results	87
3.3.1 Effect of coastal development on groundwater nutrient flux	87
3.3.2 Effect of coastal development on coral reefs	91
3.3.3 Effect of climate change on coral reefs	93
3.3.4 Effect of coastal development and climate change on coral reefs	93
3.4. Discussion	94
3.4.1 Human driver effect on coral reefs	95
3.4.1.1 Effect of coastal development on coral reefs	95
3.4.1.2 Effect of climate change on coral reefs	96
3.4.1.3 Effect of coastal development and climate change on coral reefs	96
3.4.2 Management implications	98
3.5. Conclusions	100

Supplementary Material	101
References	107
CHAPTER 4. MANAGING FOR ISLAND RESILIENCE THROUGH SCENA	RIO
PLANNING WITH LINKED LAND-SEA MODELS	
Abstract	111
4.1 Introduction	112
4.2 Methods	113
4.2.1 Site description: Kubulau, Fiji	113
4.2.2 Modeling approach	115
4.2.3 Coral reef indicators	117
4.2.3.1 Field datasets	118
4.2.4 Modeling human driver scenarios	119
4.2.4.1 Global human drivers: Coral bleaching scenarios	119
4.2.4.2 Local human drivers: Forest cover change scenarios	120
4.2.5 Modeling terrestrial drivers	121
4.2.5.1 Sediment models	121
4.2.5.2 Coastal water quality models	
4.2.6 Modeling marine drivers	123
4.2.7 Coral reef predictive models	127
4.2.8 Modeling scenarios impact and analysis	128
4.3. Results	128
4.3.1 Terrestrial drivers	128
4.3.2 Marine drivers	129
4.3.3 Coral reef communities in tabu and open areas	130
4.3.4 Coral reef drivers and seascape dynamics	130
4.3.5 Effect of human drivers on coral reefs	134
4.4. Discussion	138
4.4.1 Effects of terrestrial and marine drivers on ridge-to-reef dynamics	139
4.4.1.1 Effects of terrestrial drivers on coral reefs	139
4.4.1.2 Effects of marine drivers on coral reefs	140
4.4.2 Effects of human drivers on coral reefs	141
4.4.3 Management implications	141
4.5. Conclusions	143
Supplemental material	144
References	165
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION	
Kelerences	1/3

# LIST OF FIGURES

<u>FIGURE</u> <u>TITLE</u>	PAGE
Chapter 1 - Introduction	
Figure 1.1 Conceptual diagram of a ridge-to-reef Social-Ecological System	2
Chapter 2 – A ridge-to-reed modeling framework	
Figure 2.1. Study sites	13
Figure 2.2. Modeling framework for the ridge-to-reef decision support tool	16
Figure 2.3. Groundwater model domains	21
Figure 2.4. Groundwater conceptual model	22
Figure 2.5. Groundwater recharge models	32
Figure 2.6. Groundwater models outputs	
Figure 2.7. Modeled groundwater nutrients flux tube coupled	
with modeled coastal water quality in Hā'ena and Ka'pūlehu	
Figure 2.8. dbRDA of the coral reef communities	
Figure 2.9. Coral reef models and key drivers of benthic and fish indicators	
Figure 2.10. Predicted distribution of the coral reef indicators at Hā'ena	
Figure 2.11. Predicted distribution of the coral reef indicators at Ka'ūpūlehu	40
Figure S2.1. Spatial representation of the marine drivers at Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu	54
Figure S2.2. Response curves of coral reef indicators at Hā'ena	57
Figure S2.3. Response curves of coral reef indicators at Ka'ūpūlehu	62

# Chapter 3 – Coral reef resilience to human drivers

Figure 3.1. Modeling framework	78
Figure 3.2. Maps of coral cover per climate change scenario	85
Figure 3.3. Coastal nutrients export per coastal development scenario	88
Figure 3.4. Coastal development scenarios at Hā'ena	89
Figure 3.5. Coastal development scenarios at Kaʿūpūlehu	90
Figure 3.6. Average percent change of coral reef indicators per scenario	92
Figure S3.1. Hā'ena benthic indicators distribution per extreme scenarios	102
Figure S3.2. Hā'ena resource fish indicators distribution per extreme scenario	103
Figure S3.3. Ka'ūpūlehu benthic indicators distribution per extreme scenarios	104
Figure S3.4. Ka'ūpūlehu resource fish indicators distribution per extreme scenario	105
Figure S3.5. Coral reef indicators percent change per scenario in Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu	106

# Chapter 4 – Managing for resilience using scenario planning

Figure 4.1. Study site	114
Figure 4.2. Modeling framework for the ridge-to-reef decision support tool	116

Figure 4.3. Maps of coral cover per climate change scenarios	.120
Figure 4.4. Maps of forest cover change per scenario	.121
Figure 4.5. Modeled sedimentation coupled with modeled coastal water quality	
per forest cover scenario	.129
Figure 4.6. Coral reef models and key drivers of benthic and fish indicators	.132
Figure 4.7. Predicted distribution of the coral reef indicators	.133
Figure 4.8. Coral reef community percent change from present conditions in areas open to	
fishing	.136
Figure 4.9. Coral reef community percent change from present conditions in tabu areas	.137
Figure S4.1. Spatial representation of marine drivers	.153
Figure S4.2. Response curves of benthic indicators	.154
Figure S4.3. Response curves of fish indicators	.157
Figure S4.4. Boxplots of coral reef indicators values for Present by fishing ground per village	;
	.160
Figure S4.5. Coral reef indicators abundance percent change from present conditions	
in Kiobo open and tabu areas per scenario	.161
Figure S4.6. Coral reef indicators abundance percent change from present conditions	
in Nakorovou open and tabu areas per scenario	.162
Figure S4.7. Coral reef indicators abundance percent change from present conditions	
in Navatu open and tabu areas per scenario	.163
Figure S4.8. Coral reef indicators abundance percent change from present conditions	
in Raviravi open and tabu areas per scenario	.164

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLES	TITLE	PAGE
Chapter 2	2 – A ridge-to-reed modeling framework	
Table 2.1	Coral reef benthic and fish indicators	18

	10
Table 2.2. Groundwater budget parameters	23
Table 2.3. Annual natural nutrient flux	25
Table 2.4. Annual nutrient flux per land use type	27
Table 2.5. Description of marine drivers	29
Table 2.6. Marine drivers average and standard deviation across	
Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu modeled areas	35
Table 2.7. Coral reef BRT perform BRT model calibration and cross-validation (CV)	
percent deviance explained (PDE)	37
Table S2.1. Fish species composition per functional groups	51
Table S2.2. Modeling framework predictor variables description and processing methods	52

# Chapter 3 – Coral reef resilience to human drivers

Table 3.1. Description of the natural drivers of coral reefs used as predictor variables	80
Table 3.2.a. Coastal development scenarios	83
Table 3.2.b. Nutrient loading rates per land use type	83
Table 3.4. PERMANOVA pseudo-F values for the benthic and fish communities	
per scenario	91

# Chapter 4 – Managing for resilience using scenario planning

Table 4.1. Coral reef benthic and fish indicators for coral reef models	117
Table 4.2. Sediment model calibration factors	122
Table 4.3. Description of marine drivers	125
Table 4.4. BRT model calibration and cross-validation (CV) percent deviance explained	(PDE)
	131
Table 4.5. PERMANOVA F-values for the fished and tabu areas for each village	135
Table S4.1. Fish species composition per functional groups	145
Table S4.2. Modeling framework predictor variables summary	149
Table S4.3. Marine drivers average and standard deviation per village (tabu and open are	eas)152

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BROW	Browsers
BRT	Boosted Regression Trees
CCA	Crustose coralline algae
°C	Degrees Celsius
COR	Corals
FERL	Fishery Ecology & research Lab
GRDT	Grazers and detritivores
MAC	Macroalgae
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Ν	Nitrogen
Р	Phosphorus
PISC	Piscivores
TNC	The Nature Conservancy
SCEX	Scrapers and excavators
SCRP	Scrapers
SST	Sea Surface Temperature
TSS	Total Suspended Sediment
TUR	Turf algae
WCS	Wildlife Conservation Society

#### **CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION**

In the last century, climate change has become one of the most serious risk to coral reefs around the world as it directly impacts corals through bleaching from exposure to elevated sea surface temperature (SST) (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999), ocean acidification (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007), and intensified storms (Webster et al. 2005). At the same time, growing human population has increased the range and intensity of anthropogenic disturbances impacting coral reef ecosystem resilience (Hughes et al. 2010, Nyström et al. 2000). Increases in overfishing and land-based source pollution now threaten over 55% and 25% of the total global reef area, respectively (Burke et al. 2011). Worldwide, humans have altered land use and, consequently, terrestrial fluxes of freshwater (Vörösmarty & Sahagian 2000), sediments (Syvitski et al. 2005), and nutrients (Downing et al. 1999, Elser et al. 2007) to coral reef environments (Kroon et al. 2014). The resulting declines in coastal water quality can impact on the structure, dynamics and diversity of coral reefs (Fabricius 2005, Fabricius et al. 2005), by promoting algal growth and reducing habitat quality (Houk et al. 2014, Smith et al. 2016). Increases in land-based nutrients, coupled with reduced herbivory due to overfishing (Jackson et al. 2001), have become primary concerns as they may interact with natural disturbance cycles to alter coral reefs ability to buffer natural disturbances and increase risk of phase shifts (Connell 1997, Dollar & Grigg 2004, Littler et al. 2006, Nyström et al. 2000). Thus, managing for the resilience of coral reefs has become a priority for conservation planning (Morecroft et al. 2012). In this study, resilience management consists of maintaining the ability of coral reef ecosystems to resist disturbances (resistance), as well as reorganize and re-establish after disturbances (recovery) (Mumby et al. 2014, Nyström et al. 2000).

Ridge-to-reef management has been widely advocated to foster coral reef resilience in a fast changing world (Bridge et al. 2013, Gurney et al. 2013). Consequently, community-based movements across the Pacific and Oceania seek to restore ridge-to-reef resource management systems, such as the ahupua'a system in Hawai'i (McGregor et al. 2003, Minerbi 1999) and the concept of *vanua* in Fiji (Berkes et al. 1998), as well traditional marine closures, such as *tabu* areas (Johannes 1978, 2002) (Figure 1.1). These ridge-to-reef initiatives aim to promote coral reef ecological and social resilience by protecting their biocultural resources (Minerbi 1999, Winter & Lucas 2017) and restoring abundant coral reef fisheries (Vaughan & Vitousek 2013). However,

### 1. INTRODUCTION

the degree to which ridge-to-reef management benefits coral reefs can vary among places. This is partly because the impact of human activities on land and at sea vary across space and time depending on their intensity, geology (e.g., soil and reef formation), and geography (e.g., landscape steepness and reef slopes). As a result, the protection of different places on the land and in the sea will have differential impacts on coral reef ecosystems and their fisheries (Klein et al. 2014).



**Figure 1.1. Conceptual diagram of a ridge-to-reef Social-Ecological System.** Social-ecological systems (SESs) are comprised of an ecological unit, e.g., watersheds and coral reef ecosystems, a social unit, e.g., local coastal communities, and the interactions and feedbacks between them. Ecological systems provide fisheries that support human well-being (I), while social systems feed back on ecological systems through human modifying actions, such as coastal development and fishing activities (II). Adapted from (Kittinger et al. 2012)

In addition, land-sea connections can take multiple pathways, which makes observation and tractability challenging for scientists (Slomp & Van Cappellen 2004), and hinders managers from making informed decisions (Alvarez-Romero et al. 2011, Makino et al. 2013). While streams and storm water runoff are the most obvious lateral pathway to link land and sea (Izuka et al. 2016, Jokiel et al. 1993), groundwater discharge can exceed surface runoff in many coastal regions (Kim et al. 2011, Moore 1996). Groundwater can also be the primary water-borne transport vector for land-based nutrients to coral reefs (Prouty et al. 2016, Street et al. 2008), particularly in dry environments where stream flow is negligible (Knee et al. 2010). Groundwater has been shown to discharge a significant portion of land-based nutrients to coral reef waters compared to surface

inputs in ridge-to-reef systems exposed to high rainfall (Garrison et al. 2003). Therefore, decisions about protecting coral reefs or restoring forests need to be supported by spatial conservation prioritization analyses (Klein et al. 2012a) and tools to understand the potential cumulative impacts and multiple outcomes of these decisions (Stamoulis & Delevaux 2015).

High Pacific islands are very susceptible to natural disturbances (Fosberg 1963), which shape the character of ecosystems by changing community structures, physical environments, and resource and space availability (Pickett & White 1985). Exposure to the prevailing trade winds and seasonal large waves combined with the rain shadow from high shield volcanoes result in wet windward sides exposed to high wave action and dry leeward sides sheltered from waves (Fletcher et al. 2008, Giambelluca et al. 2012, Grigg 1998). This is particularly true in high latitude oceanic islands, which often consist of steep topographic relief carved by rainfall (Izuka et al. 2016) and fringed with coral reefs sculpted by oceanic waves (Dollar 1982, Gove et al. 2013, Grigg 1998). As a result of their small size and steep elevational gradients, land and sea are tightly connected through social and ecological processes (Jupiter et al. 2017). Within island geographies are locations subject to different natural disturbances regimes that can be used to compare the effects of natural disturbances on coral reef resilience to human impacts. Therefore, high oceanic islands provide ideal models to understand land-sea and human-environment interactions in disparate natural conditions (Maris 2007).

To manage for coral reef resilience, we need to understand the effects of both natural and anthropogenic disturbances on coral reefs and the interactions between them (Buma 2015, Hughes & Connell 1999). To assess the impacts and recovery of coral reefs subject to disturbances, researchers have generally relied on long-term quantitative measurements (Connell 1997). Ecological and genetic datasets that track changes in coral reef communities across disturbance and recovery periods can help partition the variance associated with marine population dynamics, and attribute causes of change to individual drivers (Houk et al. 2014, Selkoe et al. 2010). However, datasets that provide information on long-term changes in coral reef composition associated with successive disturbances are rare, costly and typically are conducted at very limited temporal and spatial scales (Adjeroud et al. 2008, Chabanet et al. 2005, Hughes et al. 2002). This

poses a critical limitation in understanding the roles that natural and human drivers play in coral reef resilience and ecological regime shifts (Hughes et al. 2010, Nyström et al. 2000).

Today's challenge for conservation science and resource management is understanding the cumulative effects of global and local human impacts on ecological systems in order to foster ecosystem resilience and prevent phase shifts (Darling et al. 2010, Nyström et al. 2000). Although, climate change and land-based source pollution have historically been studied and managed in isolation, it is becoming clear that a single-driver perspective is inadequate when managing ecosystems that are subject to multiple co-occurring drivers (Halpern et al. 2008b,a). Gaining knowledge of whether the cumulative effect of multiple human drivers is less than (antagonism), more than (synergism), or equal to the additive effects can have a profound influence on management outcomes (Bruno et al. 2007, Cinner et al. 2016, Hughes & Connell 1999). Of greatest concern to reef health are synergistic interactions among drivers that can result in "ecological surprises" (Folke et al. 2004, Paine et al. 1998), such as coral reefs phase shifts (Connell 1997, Littler et al. 2006). However, these ecosystem shifts are currently difficult to predict and, therefore challenging to manage (Darling & Côté 2008, Thrush et al. 2009).

Social-ecological modeling has proven useful to foster understanding of coral reef ecosystems under multiple co-occurring drivers and alternative human drivers' scenarios to inform management at relevant spatial scales (Gurney et al. 2013, Kouwen et al. 2007). During the last two decades, a series of models have been applied to coral reef ecosystems to explore the influence of natural and human drivers on their community dynamics (Kubicek et al. 2012, McClanahan 1995, Melbourne-Thomas et al. 2011) and provide more effective decision support tools to manage marine ecosystems (Franklin 2010, Stamoulis & Delevaux 2015). Social-ecological predictive modelling can provide insights into (*a*) the drivers and activities that result in shifts within the system (Kenneth 2016), (*b*) the scales they operate on (Halpern et al. 2008a), and (*c*) the interaction between them (Buma 2015, Crain et al. 2008), and thus help to manage cumulative impacts more effectively.

In spite of existing conceptual frameworks to adopt land-sea planning (Alvarez-Romero et al. 2011, Makino et al. 2013), very few practical examples demonstrate how to operationalize ridge-

### 1. INTRODUCTION

to-reef concepts into marine conservation planning. Some applications have linked the effects of land uses to marine ecosystems at broad spatial resolutions (Halpern et al. 2008b, Jenkins et al. 2010, Klein et al. 2010) to identify regions for more refined analysis (Klein et al. 2014). Others incorporated land and sea connections in the design of protected areas at a fine spatial-resolution (1km<sup>2</sup>) and found that priorities for conservation changed after incorporating land-sea connections (Klein et al. 2012b, Tallis et al. 2008, Tulloch et al. 2016). However, these applications remain too coarse to operationalize ridge-to-reef management at the scale relevant for Pacific Islanders- that of a single to a few watersheds and linked reef areas. To address these shortcomings, the goals of this research are to develop a ridge-to-reef modeling framework that links the effects of natural and human drivers to coral reefs at final spatial scale and apply this framework to identify management priorities under different land use and climate change scenarios. To address these goals, my research had three main objectives:

- 1. Develop a model to determine the effects of terrestrial and marine drivers on coral reef communities and dynamics
- 2. Compare the effects of coastal development and climate change on coral reefs under different natural disturbance regimes
- 3. Evaluate the effects of forest conservation in protecting coral reefs from climate change impacts.

# References

Adjeroud M, Michonneau F, Edmunds PJ, Chancerelle Y, Penin L, et al. 2008. Recurrent largescale disturbances, recovery trajectories, and resilience of coral assemblages on a coral reef in the south-central Pacific. . https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/halsde-00332281

Alvarez-Romero JG, Pressey RL, Ban NC, Vance-Borland K, Willer C, et al. 2011. Integrated land-sea conservation planning: the missing links. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 42:381–409

Berkes F, Kislalioglu M, Folke C, Gadgil M. 1998. Minireviews: exploring the basic ecological unit: ecosystem-like concepts in traditional societies. Ecosystems. 1(5):409–415

Bridge TCL, Hughes TP, Guinotte JM, Bongaerts P. 2013. Call to protect all coral reefs. Nat. Clim. Change. 3(6):528–30

Bruno JF, Selig ER, Casey KS, Page CA, Willis BL, et al. 2007. Thermal stress and coral cover as drivers of coral disease outbreaks. PLoS Biol. 5(6):e124

Buma B. 2015. Disturbance interactions: characterization, prediction, and the potential for cascading effects. Ecosphere. 6(4):1–15

Burke L, Reytar K, Spalding M, Perry A. 2011. Reefs at Risk Revisited

Chabanet P, Adjeroud M, Andréfouët S, Bozec Y-M, Ferraris J, et al. 2005. Human-induced physical disturbances and their indicators on coral reef habitats: A multi-scale approach. Aquat. Living Resour. 18(3):215–30

Cinner JE, Huchery C, MacNeil MA, Graham NA, McClanahan TR, et al. 2016. Bright spots among the world's coral reefs. Nature. 535(7612):416–419

Connell JH. 1997. Disturbance and recovery of coral assemblages. Coral Reefs. 16(1):S101-13

Crain CM, Kroeker K, Halpern BS. 2008. Interactive and cumulative effects of multiple human stressors in marine systems. Ecol. Lett. 11(12):1304–1315

Darling ES, Côté IM. 2008. Quantifying the evidence for ecological synergies. Ecol. Lett. 11(12):1278-86

Darling ES, McClanahan TR, Côté IM. 2010. Combined effects of two stressors on Kenyan coral reefs are additive or antagonistic, not synergistic. Conserv. Lett. 3(2):122–130

Dollar SJ. 1982. Wave stress and coral community structure in Hawai'i. Coral Reefs. 1(2):71-81

Dollar SJ, Grigg RW. 2004. Anthropogenic and Natural Stresses on Selected Coral Reefs in Hawai'i: A Multidecade Synthesis of Impact and Recovery. Pac. Sci. 58(2):281–304

Downing JA, McClain M, Twilley R, Melack JM, Elser J, et al. 1999. The impact of accelerating land-use change on the N-cycle of tropical aquatic ecosystems: current conditions and projected changes. Biogeochemistry. 46(1–3):109–148

Elser JJ, Bracken ME, Cleland EE, Gruner DS, Harpole WS, et al. 2007. Global analysis of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. Ecol. Lett. 10(12):1135–1142

Fabricius K, De'ath G, McCook L, Turak E, Williams DM. 2005. Changes in algal, coral and fish assemblages along water quality gradients on the inshore Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51(1–4):384–98

Fabricius KE. 2005. Effects of terrestrial runoff on the ecology of corals and coral reefs: review and synthesis. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50(2):125–46

Fletcher CH, Bochicchio C, Conger CL, Engels MS, Feirstein EJ, et al. 2008. Geology of Hawai'i Reefs. In Coral Reefs of the USA, eds. BM Riegl, RE Dodge, pp. 435–87. Springer Netherlands

Folke C, Carpenter S, Walker B, Scheffer M, Elmqvist T, et al. 2004. Regime shifts, resilience, and biodiversity in ecosystem management. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst. 35:557–581

Fosberg FR. 1963. The island ecosystem. In Man's Place in the Island Ecosystem, pp. 1–7. Honolulu: Bishop Museum Press. Fosberg, F.R. ed.

Franklin J. 2010. Mapping Species Distributions: Spatial Inference and Prediction. Cambridge University Press

Garrison GH, Glenn CR, McMurtry GM. 2003. Measurement of submarine groundwater discharge in Kahana Bay, O'ahu, Hawai'i. Limnol. Oceanogr. 48(2):920–28

Giambelluca TW, Chen Q, Frazier AG, Price JP, Chen Y-L, et al. 2012. Online Rainfall Atlas of Hawai'i. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 94(3):313–16

Gove JM, Williams GJ, McManus MA, Heron SF, Sandin SA, et al. 2013. Quantifying climatological ranges and anomalies for Pacific coral reef ecosystems. PloS One. 8(4):e61974

Grigg RW. 1998. Holocene coral reef accretion in Hawai'i: a function of wave exposure and sea level history. Coral Reefs. 17(3):263–72

Gurney GG, Melbourne-Thomas J, Geronimo RC, Aliño PM, Johnson CR. 2013. Modelling Coral Reef Futures to Inform Management: Can Reducing Local-Scale Stressors Conserve Reefs under Climate Change? PLOS ONE. 8(11):e80137

Halpern BS, McLeod KL, Rosenberg AA, Crowder LB. 2008a. Managing for cumulative impacts in ecosystem-based management through ocean zoning. Ocean Coast. Manag. 51(3):203–211

Halpern BS, Walbridge S, Selkoe KA, Kappel CV, Micheli F, et al. 2008b. A Global Map of Human Impact on Marine Ecosystems. Science. 319(5865):948–52

Hoegh-Guldberg O. 1999. Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Mar. Freshw. Res. 50(8):839–866

Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, et al. 2007. Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. science. 318(5857):1737–1742

Houk P, Benavente D, Iguel J, Johnson S, Okano R. 2014. Coral Reef Disturbance and Recovery Dynamics Differ across Gradients of Localized Stressors in the Mariana Islands. PLOS ONE. 9(8):e105731

Hughes TP, Baird AH, Dinsdale EA, Harriott VJ, Moltschaniwskyj NA, et al. 2002. Detecting Regional Variation Using Meta-Analysis and Large-Scale Sampling: Latitudinal Patterns in Recruitment. Ecology. 83(2):436–51

Hughes TP, Connell JH. 1999. Multiple stressors on coral reefs: A long -term perspective. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44(3part2):932–40

Hughes TP, Graham NAJ, Jackson JBC, Mumby PJ, Steneck RS. 2010. Rising to the challenge of sustaining coral reef resilience. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25(11):633–42

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Izuka SK, Engott JA, Bassiouni M, Johnson AG, Miller LD, et al. 2016. Volcanic aquifers of Hawai'i—Hydrogeology, water budgets, and conceptual models. Scientific Investigations Report. 2015–5164, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA

Jackson JB, Kirby MX, Berger WH, Bjorndal KA, Botsford LW, et al. 2001. Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. science. 293(5530):629–637

Jenkins AP, Jupiter SD, Qauqau I, Atherton J. 2010. The importance of ecosystem-based management for conserving aquatic migratory pathways on tropical high islands: a case study from Fiji. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 20(2):224–238

Johannes RE. 1978. Traditional marine conservation methods in Oceania and their demise. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 9(1):349–364

Johannes RE. 2002. The renaissance of community-based marine resource management in Oceania. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 33(1):317–340

Jokiel PL, Hunter CL, Taguchi S, Watarai L. 1993. Ecological impact of a fresh-water "reef kill" in Kaneohe Bay, Oahu, Hawai'i. Coral Reefs. 12(3–4):177–84

Jupiter SD, Wenger A, Klein CJ, Albert S, Mangubhai S, et al. 2017. Opportunities and constraints for implementing integrated land–sea management on islands. Environ. Conserv. 1–13

Kenneth ARN. 2016. Coral reefs under climate change and ocean acidification: challenges and opportunities for management and policy

Kim G, Kim J-S, Hwang D-W. 2011. Submarine groundwater discharge from oceanic islands standing in oligotrophic oceans: Implications for global biological production and organic carbon fluxes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 56(2):673–682

Kittinger J, Finkbeiner E, Glazier E, Crowder L. 2012. Human dimensions of coral reef socialecological systems. Ecol. Soc. 17(4):

Klein CJ, Ban NC, Halpern BS, Beger M, Game ET, et al. 2010. Prioritizing land and sea conservation investments to protect coral reefs. PLoS One. 5(8):e12431

Klein CJ, Jupiter SD, Selig ER, Watts ME, Halpern BS, et al. 2012a. Forest conservation delivers highly variable coral reef conservation outcomes. Ecol. Appl. 22(4):1246–1256

Klein CJ, Jupiter SD, Selig ER, Watts ME, Halpern BS, et al. 2012b. Forest conservation delivers highly variable coral reef conservation outcomes. Ecol. Appl. 22(4):1246–1256

Klein CJ, Jupiter SD, Watts M, Possingham HP. 2014. Evaluating the influence of candidate terrestrial protected areas on coral reef condition in Fiji. Mar. Policy. 44:360–365

Knee KL, Street JH, Grossman> EE, Boehm AB, Paytan A. 2010. Nutrient inputs to the coastal ocean from submarine groundwater discharge in a groundwater-dominated system: Relation to land use (Kona coast, Hawai'i, U.S.A.). Limnol. Oceanogr. 55(3):1105–22

Kouwen FV, Dieperink C, Schot P, Wassen M. 2007. Applicability of Decision Support Systems for Integrated Coastal Zone Management. Coast. Manag. 36(1):19–34

Kroon FJ, Schaffelke B, Bartley R. 2014. Informing policy to protect coastal coral reefs: Insight from a global review of reducing agricultural pollution to coastal ecosystems. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 85(1):33–41

## 1. INTRODUCTION

Kubicek A, Muhando C, Reuter H. 2012. Simulations of Long-Term Community Dynamics in Coral Reefs - How Perturbations Shape Trajectories. PLOS Comput. Biol. 8(11):e1002791

Littler MM, Littler DS, Brooks BL. 2006. Harmful algae on tropical coral reefs: Bottom-up eutrophication and top-down herbivory. Harmful Algae. 5(5):565–85

Makino A, Beger M, Klein CJ, Jupiter SD, Possingham HP. 2013. Integrated planning for landsea ecosystem connectivity to protect coral reefs. Biol. Conserv. 165:35–42

Maris K-A. 2007. Under what circumstances do people put unsustainable demands on island environments?: evidence from the North Atlantic. University of Edinburgh

McClanahan TR. 1995. A coral reef ecosystem-fisheries model: impacts of fishing intensity and catch selection on reef structure and processes. Ecol. Model. 80(1):1–19

McGregor DP, Morelli P, Matsuoka J, Minerbi L, Becker HA, Vanclay F. 2003. An ecological model of well-being. Int. Handb. Soc. Impact Assess. Concept. Methodol. Adv. 109–126

Melbourne-Thomas J, Johnson CR, Fung T, Seymour RM, Chérubin LM, et al. 2011. Regionalscale scenario modeling for coral reefs: a decision support tool to inform management of a complex system. Ecol. Appl. 21(4):1380–98

Minerbi L. 1999. Indigenous management models and protection of the ahupua 'a. Soc. Process Hawai 'i. 39:208–225

Moore WS. 1996. Large groundwater inputs to coastal waters revealed by 226Ra enrichments. Nature. 380(6575):612–14

Morecroft MD, Crick HQ, Duffield SJ, Macgregor NA. 2012. Resilience to climate change: translating principles into practice. J. Appl. Ecol. 49(3):547–551

Mumby PJ, Wolff NH, Bozec Y-M, Chollett I, Halloran P. 2014. Operationalizing the Resilience of Coral Reefs in an Era of Climate Change. Conserv. Lett. 7(3):176–87

Nyström M, Folke C, Moberg F. 2000. Coral reef disturbance and resilience in a human-dominated environment. Trends Ecol. Evol. 15(10):413–17

Paine RT, Tegner MJ, Johnson EA. 1998. Compounded perturbations yield ecological surprises. Ecosystems. 1(6):535–545

Pickett STA, White PS, eds. 1985. The Ecology of Natural Disturbance and Patch Dynamics. San Diego: Academic Press

Prouty NG, Swarzenski PW, Fackrell J, Johannesson KH, Palmore CD. 2016. Groundwaterderived nutrient and trace element transport to a nearshore Kona coral ecosystem: Experimental mixing model results. J. Hydrol. Reg. Stud.

Selkoe KA, Watson JR, White C, Horin TB, Iacchei M, et al. 2010. Taking the chaos out of genetic patchiness: seascape genetics reveals ecological and oceanographic drivers of genetic patterns in three temperate reef species. Mol. Ecol. 19(17):3708–3726

Slomp CP, Van Cappellen P. 2004. Nutrient inputs to the coastal ocean through submarine groundwater discharge: controls and potential impact. J. Hydrol. 295(1):64–86

Smith JE, Brainard R, Carter A, Grillo S, Edwards C, et al. 2016. Re-evaluating the health of coral reef communities: baselines and evidence for human impacts across the central Pacific. Proc R Soc B. 283(1822):20151985

Stamoulis KA, Delevaux JMS. 2015. Data requirements and tools to operationalize marine spatial planning in the United States. Ocean Coast. Manag. 116:214–23

Street JH, Knee KL, Grossman EE, Paytan A. 2008. Submarine groundwater discharge and nutrient addition to the coastal zone and coral reefs of leeward Hawai'i. Mar. Chem. 109(3):355–376

Syvitski JP, Vörösmarty CJ, Kettner AJ, Green P. 2005. Impact of humans on the flux of terrestrial sediment to the global coastal ocean. Science. 308(5720):376–380

Tallis H, Ferdana Z, Gray E. 2008. Linking terrestrial and marine conservation planning and threats analysis. Conserv. Biol. 22(1):120–130

Thrush SF, Hewitt JE, Dayton PK, Coco G, Lohrer AM, et al. 2009. Forecasting the limits of resilience: integrating empirical research with theory. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. rspb20090661

Tulloch VJ, Brown CJ, Possingham HP, Jupiter SD, Maina JM, Klein C. 2016. Improving conservation outcomes for coral reefs affected by future oil palm development in Papua New Guinea. Biol. Conserv. 203:43–54

Vaughan MB, Vitousek PM. 2013. Mahele: Sustaining Communities through Small-Scale Inshore Fishery Catch and Sharing Networks. Pac. Sci. 67(3):329–44

Vörösmarty CJ, Sahagian D. 2000. Anthropogenic disturbance of the terrestrial water cycle. BioScience. 50(9):753–765

Webster PJ, Holland GJ, Curry JA, Chang H-R. 2005. Changes in tropical cyclone number, duration, and intensity in a warming environment. Science. 309(5742):1844–1846

Winter KB, Lucas M. 2017. Spatial modeling of social-ecological management zones of the ali'i era on the island of Kaua'i with implications for large-scale biocultural conservation and forest restoration efforts in Hawai'i. Pacific Science [in press, May 2017]. Pac. Sci.

# CHAPTER 2. A MODELING FRAMEWORK TO LINK TERRESTRIAL AND MARINE DRIVERS TO CORAL REEF ECOLOGICAL OUTCOMES IN HIGH OCEANIC ISLANDS

#### ABSTRACT

A cultural renaissance rooted in the concern over declining natural resources around the Pacific seeks to revive traditional ridge-to-reef management approaches to protect land and freshwater and restore abundant reef fisheries in the face of increasing anthropogenic impacts. As a result of their small size and steep elevational gradients, land and sea are tightly connected through social and ecological processes on Pacific high oceanic islands. Effective ridge-to-reef management requires better understanding of the combined effects of terrestrial and marine drivers on coral reef ecosystems under gradients of natural disturbances. Therefore, new tools are needed to inform these efforts over spatial scales relevant to Pacific Islanders. This study focused on two ridge-toreef systems (Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu) under community-based management, at opposite ends of the main Hawaiian Island chain, which capture a wide spectrum of natural disturbances from rainfall and wave energy influencing high Pacific islands . I developed a novel modeling framework, based on local data from each place, which couples groundwater models with coral reef predictive models at fine spatial resolution. This framework was used to determine the effects of terrestrial drivers (freshwater and nutrients) and marine drivers (habitat and wave power) on coral reef benthic and fish communities under different natural disturbance regimes (freshwater and waves). My results indicate that the high disturbance regime of Hā'ena has shaped a dynamic coral reef community founded on crustose coralline algae and driven by freshwater and wave disturbances, while the low disturbance regime of Ka'ūpūlehu is more dominated by corals and greater habitat structure. For this reason Ka'ūpūlehu may be more sensitive to nutrient inputs due to low rainfall and wave disturbances coupled with high background nitrogen in groundwater. Therefore, Hā'ena should be managed to promote recovery post-disturbances and Ka'ūpūlehu should be managed for resistance to disturbances. The results emphasize how coral reef ecosystems differ due to unique natural disturbance regimes and human activities and thus require place-based, ridge-to-reef approaches to management.

#### **2.1 Introduction**

In this chapter, I developed a novel fine-scale modeling framework based on local data, which links the effects of terrestrial (rainfall and nutrients) and marine drivers (wave and habitat) to coral reef ecological outcomes for two ridge-to-reef systems in the Hawaiian archipelago (Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu). Both communities have recently enacted place-based management to foster ahupua'a-based management and restore abundant nearshore fisheries (DAR 2016, TNC 2015). Located at opposite ends of the main Hawaiian Island chain, Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu also represent each end of the environmental spectrum (geologic age, rainfall, and wave) governing high oceanic island ecosystems. Hā'ena is an older windward ridge-to-reef system exposed to high rainfall and wave disturbances, while Ka'ūpūlehu is a younger dry leeward ridge-to-reef system sheltered from wave action. To support these and other ridge-to-reef management initiatives, I built a modeling framework that links land use to coral reefs through nutrient enriched groundwater flux, which is the major vector for land-based nutrients to the nearshore environment for both West Hawai'i and the North shore of Kauai (Knee et al. 2008, 2010).

My modeling framework couples groundwater models to coral reef predictive models calibrated with local empirical and remote sensing data. I used coral reef benthic and fish functional groups as indicators which support aspects of ecological resilience (Green & Bellwood 2009, Smith et al. 2016) and represent important biocultural resources to native Hawaiians (DAR 2016, Friedlander et al. 2002, Poepoe et al. 2005, TNC 2015). Once calibrated with place-specific empirical data, this framework can provide insights into the effects of terrestrial and marine drivers on the dynamics and structure of coral reef communities. Assuming these fundamental relationships are constant over time, calibrated models can be used to forecast taxa distributions based on habitat suitability and assess the effects of management actions and climate change on these distributions (De'ath & Fabricius 2010, Franklin 2010, Iverson & Prasad 1998). In this study, I used model outputs to characterize the effects of terrestrial-marine linkages on coral reef communities under different natural disturbance regimes represented by freshwater and wave power, to answer the following question: Is Hā'ena coral reef community structure different from Ka'ūpūlehu due to more intense natural disturbances?

## 2.2 Methods

## 2.2.1 Site description

The age of the main Hawaiian Islands spans  $\sim$ 6 million years of erosion and exposure to rainfall and wave disturbances. The wind patterns coupled with rain shadows from the high shield volcanoes results in a windward side being wet and a leeward side being dry. Located in the middle of the Pacific Ocean, these high oceanic islands are exposed to large ocean swells. We selected two sites at the opposite ends of this spectrum: Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu ahupua'a (Figure 2.1.a).



**Figure 2.1. Study sites.** (a) Location of study sites on Kaua'i and Hawai'i along the main Hawaiian Island chain, with island age and the direction of the prevailing northeast tradewinds indicated. Land cover and reef survey sites are shown for (b) Hā'ena and (c) Ka'ūpūlehu.

#### 2.2.1.1 Windward Kaua'i ahupua'a: Hā'ena

Hā'ena is located on the windward side of Kaua'i Island (Figure 2.1.a). Due to direct exposure to the prevailing tradewinds, Hā'ena ahupua'a receives very high rainfall (4,040 mm.year<sup>-1</sup>), resulting in large fluvial and groundwater inputs (Calhoun & Fletcher 1999). Dominated by steep cliffs, the Hā'ena ahupua'a is 7.3 km<sup>2</sup> and spans 1,006 m elevation from the summit of Ali'inui Mountain to the sea. Two perennial streams, located in Limahuli and Mānoa valleys, flow through Hā'ena. Due to its older geological age combined with marine erosion from wave exposure, the island shelf is wider and shallower compared to Ka'ūpūlehu (Fletcher et al. 2008), resulting in a modeled coral reef domain of 7.6 km<sup>2</sup>. Shallow carbonate reef flats form back-reef areas protected from north swell by well-developed reef crests. These back-reef areas exhibit a diverse benthic community with high coral cover and high fish abundance, particularly juveniles (Goodell 2015). On the exposed fore-reefs of Hā'ena, the benthic community is dominated by crustose coralline algae (CCA), and supports high fish biomass, particularly adult fishes (Friedlander et al. 2003, Jokiel et al. 2004). Hā'ena was designated as a Community-based Subsistence Fishing Area by the State of Hawai'i in 2006, to protect and reaffirm customary fishing practices for native Hawaiian wellbeing (DAR 2016). With ~140 landowners, the rural ahupua'a is mostly owned by the State of Hawai'i and the non-profit organization, National Botanical Garden, with a number of private residences along the coast (Figure 2.1.b).

### 2.2.1.2 Leeward Hawai'i ahupua'a: Ka'ūpūlehu

Located in the rain shadows of Mauna Loa and Mauna Kea mountains (Figure 2.1.a), Ka'ūpūlehu ahupua'a receives much less precipitation (ranging from 1,350 to 260 mm.yr<sup>-1</sup> from ridge-to-reef) (Izuka et al. 2016) than Hā'ena. This dry ahupua'a covers 104 km<sup>2</sup> and spans 2,518 m elevation from the summit of Hualalai Mountain to the sea. Geologically young, the surface is less eroded with poorly developed ephemeral stream channels and groundwater seeping along the coast (Knee et al. 2010). The 7.4 km long shoreline is sheltered from large winter swells. So the fringing reef has not been eroded and forms a narrow band on the slope of the shield volcano, which drops steeply into deep water (Fletcher et al. 2008). Except for a broader, shallow carbonate bench at the southern end of the site, extending the modeled reef area to 3.2km<sup>2</sup>. On the reef bench, the benthic community is mostly dominated by turf algae, scattered coral, and pavement, with low structural complexity and low fish abundance (Minton et al. 2015). The reef slope exhibits a more diverse

benthic community with high coral cover, structural complexity, and high fish abundance (Minton et al. 2015). Ka'ūpūlehu recently initiated a state-sanctioned 10-year fishing rest period and is developing a set of rules to restore abundant nearshore fisheries and protect groundwater quality (TNC 2015). Ka'ūpūlehu is both commercially and residentially more developed than Hā'ena, with two large luxury resorts, a golf course, three public beach access areas, and several private residences concentrated along the southern end of the coast (Figure 2.1.c). The entire ahupua'a is owned by the largest private landowner in the state of Hawai'i, Kamehameha Schools.

### 2.2.2 Ridge-to-reef modeling framework

My modeling framework couples groundwater models to coral reef predictive models calibrated with local empirical and remote sensing data (Figure 2.2). The terrestrial drivers were derived from combining groundwater modeling to quantify groundwater discharge and nutrient flux from natural and human sources with ArcGIS-based modeling to generate maps of nearshore water quality. I applied GIS-based modeling of remotely-sensed bathymetry (Multibeam and LiDAR) (HMRG 2015) and wave models (Stopa et al. 2013) to quantify and develop maps of the marine drivers (habitat and waves). The coral reef indicators were benthic and fish functional groups derived from local empirical data sets (Goodell 2015, Minton et al. 2015). These data sets were first used in a multivariate regression to determine the key terrestrial and marine drivers differentiating the coral reef dynamics of both sites. The coral reef models consisted of Boosted Regression Trees (BRTs) parameterized for the coral reef indicators as response variables with the terrestrial and marine driver data sets used as predictors to derive their empirical relationships (response curves) and map their distributions.



**Figure 2.2 Modeling framework for the ridge-to-reef decision support tool**<sup>1</sup>. Terrestrial drivers (freshwater and nutrients) derived from groundwater flow model MODFLOW (a) was coupled to the nutrient transport model MT3D-MS (b). Marine drivers (wave energy and habitat structure) were derived from the SWAN wave model (c) and LiDAR bathymetry data (d). Boosted regression trees were used to evaluate the relative contribution of drivers on variability in benthic and fish indicators (e). Response curves created by fitting modeled predictors to empirical measures of indicators can be used to predictively map changes to coral reef indicators under different climate and land use scenarios (f).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Symbols courtesy of Integration and Application Network (http://ian.umces.edu/symbols/); bathymetry image courtesy of Hawaii Mapping Research Group for bathymetry; wave model image courtesy of Hawaii Coastal Geology Group

#### 2.2.3 Coral reef indicators & field data

#### 2.2.3.1 Coral reef indicators

To determine and compare coral reef community structure and dynamics in the context of resilience to natural disturbances, I considered the abundance of four benthic and four fish groups based on their functional roles and importance as biocultural resources (Table 2.1) (Green & Bellwood 2009, Smith et al. 2016). The benthic functional groups included calcifying organisms (crustose coralline algae [CCA] and coral) and benthic algae (turf algae and macroalgae). CCA and corals are active reef builders (Goreau 1963, Setchell 1930), which can foster larvae recruitment (DeMartini et al. 2010, Harrington et al. 2004, Price 2010) and provide habitat for reef fishes (Green & Bellwood 2009). Excessive benthic algae can be a sign of excessive nutrients or reduced herbivory (Littler et al. 2006, Smith et al. 2010), which can affect coral health through direct or indirect competition for space (Houk et al. 2014, Littler & Littler 2007, Smith et al. 2016), as well as reducing fish larvae settlement (Vermeij & Sandin 2008). Resource fishes identified as important for subsistence and cultural practices by Native Hawaiians (e.g., Surgeonfishes, Parrotfishes, Jacks) (Friedlander et al. 2002, Poepoe et al. 2005) were modeled according to their functional role to track ecological resilience (see Green & Bellwood 2009 for classification): (1) browsers, (2) grazers/detritivores, (3) scrapers/excavators, and (4) piscivores (refer to Table S2.1 for more details on species composition). For instance, Surgeonfishes and most Parrotfishes graze on turf algae or macroalgae, which can help reverse coral-algal phase shifts; and some Parrotfishes free space for CCA and coral larval settlement (Green & Bellwood 2009). I derived the abundance of these indicators from reef survey data collected by the Fisheries Ecology Research Lab (FERL) at the University of Hawai'i and The Nature Conservancy of Hawai'i (TNC) reef monitoring program.

Туре	Code	Metric	Source	Description
	CCA	Crustose coralline algae	Reef surveys	% cover
Benthic	COR	Coral cover	Reef surveys	% cover
indicators	MAC	Macroalgae	Reef surveys	% cover
	TUR	Turf algae	Reef surveys	% cover
	BROW	Browsers	Reef surveys	Biomass (g.m <sup>-1</sup> )
Resource fish	GRDT	Grazers & Detritivores	Reef surveys	Biomass (g.m <sup>-1</sup> )
indicators	SCEX	Scrapers & Excavators	Reef surveys	Biomass (g.m <sup>-1</sup> )
	PISC	Piscivores	Reef surveys	Biomass (g.m <sup>-1</sup> )

**Table 2.1. Coral reef benthic and fish indicators.** Coral reef indicators were used as response variables in the coral reef models.

## 2.3.2 Hā`ena field data

For Hā'ena, I used a field dataset comprising 126 survey locations (Figure 2.1.b), collected over two sampling periods, July 2013 and August 2014 (refer to Goodell [2015] for more details). Fish and benthic surveys were randomly stratified by habitat (nearshore, back-reef, and fore-reef areas) and allocated proportionately to area on Mākua and Kē'ē reefs. At each site, a 25 x 5 m belt transect (125-m<sup>2</sup> transect area) were used to collect benthic and fish data. Benthic cover data was collected using quadrat point intercepts (0.5 m<sup>2</sup> quadrats). Two quadrats were randomly placed within each 5 m segment along the transect line resulting in a total of 10 quadrats per transect. Point observations from these transects were classified as "coral", "CCA", "macroalgae", "turf", or "substrate" from which we calculated the percentage cover of each benthic group. For each belt transect, divers identified, counted, and estimated fork length (FL) of fishes to the nearest centimeter. The biomass for each fish was calculated by applying the length estimates in the lengthweight (L-W) expression  $W = a \times L^b$ , where a and b are constants for the allometric growth equation, L is total length in centimeters, and W is mass in grams, using species-specific *a* and *b* parameters obtained from a comprehensive assessment of Hawai'i length-weight fitting parameters (FERL, unpublished data) and FishBase (Froese & Pauly 2011).

#### 2.3.3 Ka'ūpūlehu field data

For Ka'ūpūlehu, I used a field dataset for comprising 243 survey locations, collected over two sampling periods 2012 (N=166) and 2013 (N=78) by TNC (Figure 2.1.c) (see Minton et al. [2015] for more details). Fish and benthic surveys were randomly stratified across two factors: management status and reef types along Ka'ūpūlehu-Kiholo coast. Management status included two levels, inside and outside the existing marine managed area (Ka'ūpūlehu Fisheries Replenishment Area). At each site, two replicate 25 x 5 m belt transect (125-m<sup>2</sup> transect area) were used to collect benthic and fish data. Photo-quadrats were taken every meter and analyzed to estimate the percent cover of CCA, corals, macroalgae, turf algae, and other benthic organisms present. For each belt transect, divers recorded total length (TL) of observed fishes for each species, using 5 cm length classes. The biomass for each fish was calculated by applying the visual mean length of the fish size class in the length-weight (L-W) expression  $W = a \times L^b$ , where *a* and *b* are constants for the allometric growth equation, L is total length in cm, and W is mass in grams.

#### 2.2.4 Modeling terrestrial drivers

To derive maps of coastal water quality at both sites under the Present conditions, we estimated the coastal discharge of groundwater (m<sup>3</sup>.year<sup>-1</sup>) and dissolved nutrients loads (Nitrogen [N] and Phosphorus [P] in kg.year<sup>-1</sup>) using the groundwater flow model MODFLOW (Harbaugh 2005) and the nutrient transport model MT3D-MS (Zheng & Wang 1999).

#### 2.2.4.1 Groundwater models boundary conditions

Prior to modeling the terrestrial drivers, we assigned the boundary conditions to groundwater models for Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu ahupua'a. The boundary conditions were defined using MODPATH (Pollock 1994, 2012) and were assigned: (1) a flux representing the groundwater recharge at the upper boundary; (2) no-flow condition at the lateral boundaries; and (3) the elevation of the groundwater head boundaries at the coast (layer 1) and submarine (layer 2). Based on the greater density of seawater, the equivalent freshwater elevation were 0.019 meters above sea level (msl) for layer 1 and 0.075 msl for layer 2. The Hā'ena model domain comprised four watersheds with perennial streams (i.e., Wainiha River [6,130 ha], Mānoa [253 ha], Limahuli [480 ha] and the Mauna Pūlo'u [112 ha] watersheds) (Figure 2.3.a). The Ka'ūpūlehu groundwater

model domain included most of the north-central and central part of the Hualalai Aquifer Sector and assumed no inter-aquifer flow between the Kīholo aquifer and the Keauhou Aquifer, due to a rift zone bisecting the modeled area (Figure 2.3.b).

To represent non-point source discharge (Oki et al. 1999), we further sub-divided the groundwater model domains into narrow 'flow tubes' with their respective pour point at the shoreline (Figure 2.3.c & d) using MODPATH (Pollock 1994, 2012). The flow tubes boundaries were established along groundwater flow path lines so very little exchange of groundwater and dissolved nutrient occurs between flow tubes. The path lines were created using the particle tracking model MODPATH (Pollock 1994), which uses MODFLOW groundwater flow solution to model the particles movement along the simulated track to an endpoint (Pollock 2012). The virtual particles were placed at evenly spaced 'pour points' along the shoreline (Figure 2.3.c & d). The reverse tracking option was used to delineate groundwater flow paths from the coast to the zones of recharge, through the modeled area. Upgradient of the coastal zone, the flow tubes were terminated along a groundwater elevation contour. The downgradient boundary for flow tubes was the submarine boundary. The groundwater discharge and nutrient loads were computed for each flow tube using the groundwater utility model, ZONEBUDGET (Harbaugh 1990) and MT3D-MS (Zheng & Wang 1999).

# 2. RIDGE-TO-REEF MODELING FRAMEWORK



**Figure 2.3. Groundwater model domains.** (a) Hā'ena model domains (pink outline) overlaps with the Wainiha Aquifer (blue outline). Groundwater recharge is higher in the mountains (red zone) compared to coastal areas (green zone). (b) Ka'ūpūlehu model domains (pink outline), spreading across the Kīholo and Keauhou aquifers and bisected by a rift line (red line). Groundwater recharge is low (blue). (c) Hā'ena & (d) Ka'ūpūlehu key land uses; flow tubes and pour points to link groundwater model outputs to the coastal water quality models.

### 2.2.4.2 Groundwater flow modeling

On volcanic islands, groundwater is recharged by direct infiltration of rainfall and irrigation water that is not lost to runoff, evapotranspiration, or soil storage, and inflow from upgradient groundwater systems (Oki et al. 1999) (Figure 2.4).



**Figure 2.4. Groundwater conceptual model.** The groundwater budget represents the sum of the contributions to (e.g., precipitation and injection well) and withdrawals (e.g., evapotranspiration and extraction well) from groundwater.

As summarized in equation 1, the change in groundwater budget ( $\Delta GW$ ) is the sum of the contributions to and withdrawals from groundwater. The groundwater flux (m<sup>3</sup>.d<sup>-1</sup>) was computed for individual flow tubes at the upgradient boundary and the coastal and submarine boundaries of both sites. Since groundwater flow was simulated using a steady state model,  $\Delta GW$  becomes zero and thus the sum of variable in equation 1 also become zero (Izuka et al. 2016) (see Table 2.2 for parameters):

$$\Delta GW = R + Inj - ET - Str - Q - Cstl \tag{1}$$

where  $\mathbf{R}$  = groundwater recharge (see Table 2.2 for parameters) and derived from equation 2 (Shade 1995). *Inj* = water injection volume into the aquifer, *ET* = evapotranspiration from the
aquifer (set to zero because both model domains are deeper than the maximum evapotranspiration depth (1.5 m) (Engott 2011), Str = groundwater discharge to streams, Q = groundwater withdrawal rate (State of Hawai'i 2014), Cstl = coastal groundwater discharge.

$$R = P + I - DR - AE - \Delta SS \tag{2}$$

where P = precipitation (Giambelluca et al. 2012), I = irrigation (set to zero due to the lack of agriculture in the Hā'ena modeled domain and the recharge calculations of Engott (2011) was incorporated in model for the Ka'ūpūlehu), DR = direct runoff (Izuka et al. 2016, Shade 1995), AE = actual evapotranspiration (Giambelluca et al. 2014), and  $\Delta SS$  = the change in soil moisture storage (assumed to average out to zero over long term).

**Table 2.2. Groundwater budget parameters.** For each study site, equations 1 and 2 were parametrized with the following values.

Parameter	Units	Hā'ena	Source	Ka'ūpūlehu	Source	
Area	km <sup>2</sup>	69.8	Designated	334	Designated	
Р	$m^3.d^{-1}$	977,000	(Giambelluca et al.	710,000	(Giambelluca et al.	
ET	$m^{3}.d^{-1}$	-161,000	(Giambelluca et al.	395	(Giambelluca et al.	
DR	$m^3.d^{-1}$	-528,000	(Shade 1995)	-16,300	(Izuka et al. 2016)	
R	$m^3.d^{-1}$	287,000	Computed	272,000	(Izuka et al. 2016)	
Q	$m^{3}.d^{-1}$	-515	(State of Hawai'i	-51,600	(State of Hawai'i	
Inj	$m^3.d^{-1}$	-	NA	440	(State of Hawai'i	
Str	$m^{3}.d^{-1}$	-118,000	Modeled	0	NA	
Cstl	$m^3.d^{-1}$	-170,000	Modeled	-222,000	Modeled	
ΔGW	%	0.1	Computed	-0.6	Computed	

For Hā'ena, groundwater recharge was calculated across the model domain (Figure 2.4.a). Consistent with currently accepted conceptual model of groundwater flow for west Hawai'i (Wilson Okamoto Corporation 2008), the groundwater model of Ka'ūpūlehu assumed groundwater recharge occurring on the slopes of Hualalai Mountain and discharge at the coast of the Hualalai Volcano (Figure 2.4.b). The recharge values and distributions were derived from the comprehensive Hawai'i Island groundwater recharge assessment of Engott (2011) and the resulting GIS maps (Izuka et al. 2016).

For Hā'ena, groundwater discharge to streams (*Str*) was derived from gaged flow (2007 to present) of Wainiha River (USGS 2017) and estimated at 0.26 m<sup>3</sup>.s<sup>-1</sup> using a flow frequency distribution curve (White & Sloto 1990). The discharge of groundwater to the other streams were estimated by

scaling down the Wainiha River baseflow according to the relative watershed area (see Table 2.2 for parameters). For Ka'ūpūlehu, the water budget calibration was simplified by the absence of perennial streams in the modeled domain (see Table 2.2 for parameters). Groundwater coastal discharge (*Cstl*) was computed as the residuals at both sites.

#### 2.2.4.3 Nutrient flux modeling

The nutrient loads were calculated for each ahupua'a, in terms of natural and human sources. We simulated the movement of dissolved nutrients in the aquifer and coastal discharge using the steady state transport model MT3D-MS (Zheng & Wang 1999). In the absence of plant uptake at both sites, nitrate was treated as a conservative transport species, which did not bind to soil or alter to another chemical state (Marion 1998, Wiedemeier 1999). Conversely phosphate binds to most soils, so phosphate concentrations reflect the leachable fraction available to the groundwater (Potter et al. 2006, Soldat & Petrovic 2008). The dispersal distance of dissolved nutrients depends on the aquifer heterogeneity, groundwater flow velocity, and molecular diffusion (Freeze & Cherry 1979), and was set to 20 m based on a local study (Bienfang 1980, Glenn et al. 2013).

## Natural groundwater nutrient flux

We assigned representative nutrient concentrations to the groundwater recharge (Table 2.3), consistent with local groundwater measurements (Figure 2.3). For Hā'ena, the natural nutrient concentrations were evenly distributed across the modeled area. The background nutrient concentrations were set to 0.5 mg.l<sup>-1</sup> for nitrogen (Knee et al. 2008) and 0.2 mg.l<sup>-1</sup> for phosphorus (Fackrell 2016, Glenn et al. 2013, Knee et al. 2008). Given the groundwater nutrient concentrations in the Hualalai Aquifer are spatially variable, partly due to the rift zone (Fackrell 2016), Ka'ūpūlehu model domain was divided into four zones (upland Ka'ūpūlehu, lowland Ka'ūpūlehu, upland Keauhou, and lowland Keauhou) with their respective nutrients concentrations. The natural nutrient loads for the Ka'ūpūlehu model domain were derived from Fackrell (2016). Fackrell (2016) sampled 42 locations to determine the groundwater nutrient content to the coastal environment of west Hawai'i Island and divided the Ka'ūpūlehu area into three zones: (1) upland Ka'ūpūlehu wells had a nitrate concentration that varied from 1.6 to 4.2 mg.l<sup>-1</sup> with an average value of 2.8 mg.l<sup>-1</sup>; (2) middle Ka'ūpūlehu wells had slightly lower concentrations with an average

value of 2.5 mg.l<sup>-1</sup>; (3) coastal Ka'ūpūlehu nitrate concentration corrected for seawater mixing was 1.5 mg.l<sup>-1</sup> (Fackrell 2016).

**Table 2.3. Annual natural nutrient flux.** Groundwater zones were assigned nitrogen and phosphorus concentration with the corresponding concentrations (mg/L/yr) combined with the groundwater recharge rate (R) and equivalent nutrient loads (kg/yr).

Zones	[N]	[P]	N Load	P Load	Source
	(mg/L/yr)	(mg/L/yr)	(kg/yr)	(kg/yr)	
Hā'ena background	0.50 x R	0.20 x R	7.51/ha	3.00/ha	(Fackrell 2016, Glenn
					et al. 2013, Knee et al.
					2008, State of Hawai'i
					2016a)
Ka'ūpūlehu Upland	2.70 x R	0.20 x R	8.55/ha	0.63/ha	(Fackrell 2016, Izuka et
background					al. 2016)
Ka'ūpūlehu	0.25 x R	0.10 x R	0.65/ha	0.26/ha	(Fackrell 2016, Izuka et
Lowland					al. 2016)
background					
Keauhou Upland	1.20 x R	0.15 x R	3.11/ha	0.26/ha	(Fackrell 2016, Izuka et
background					al. 2016)
Keauhou Lowland	0.25 x R	0.1 x R	0.72/ha	0.29/ha	(Fackrell 2016, Izuka et
background					al. 2016)

# Human-derived groundwater nutrient flux

The nutrient loads from human activities was then added to the natural nutrient concentrations. First, we determined the number of houses in the coastal zone, their wastewater treatment systems, and green space areas (i.e., golf courses and lawns) in both *ahupua* 'a, using aerial photos and existing data. In Hā'ena, the existing coastal development is concentrated along the coastal zone, while in Ka'ūpūlehu it extends further inland and comprises more land use types (Figure 2.1.b & c). We estimated a total of 156 houses on cesspools (Whittier & El-Kadi 2014a) and 0.059 km<sup>2</sup> of green space in the modeled domain of Hā'ena. While Ka'ūpūlehu currently accommodates ~165 houses with 0.18 km<sup>2</sup> of green space, two resorts which disposes of its wastewater after secondary treatment through an injection well, and a golf course (1.87 km<sup>2</sup>). We assigned nutrient loading rates to these land use types derived from existing local studies and literature (Table 2.4).

The nutrient flux rates from housing were based on the assumptions that: (1) Each land parcel has a residential unit with three bedrooms at an occupancy rate of 1.5 persons per bedroom; (2) generating 265 l.d<sup>-1</sup> per person of wastewater or 1,190 l.d<sup>-1</sup> (435 m<sup>3</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) (U.S. EPA 2002); and (3) one onsite wastewater disposal systems (OSDS) served each dwelling. The majority of OSDS in Hā'ena are cesspools (Whittier & El-Kadi 2014b). Cesspool effluent receives no treatment and is disposed of in a deep seepage pit below the evapotranspiration zone, so all effluent is recharged to the groundwater. Nutrient concentrations of the cesspool effluent are assumed to be the same as raw wastewater (Lowe et al. 2009). Currently, the primary method of wastewater disposal in the Ka'ūpūlehu area is through wastewater injection from the Hualalai Resorts. The Hualalai Resorts injects approximately 440,000 l.day<sup>-1</sup> (or 160,000 m<sup>3</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) of secondary treated wastewater into two injection wells located approximately 800 m from the shoreline, resulting in an annual load of 840 and 1,090 kg for nitrogen and phosphorus, respectively (State of Hawai'i 2016b). The injection of wastewater was directly simulated in the groundwater flow and transport model. Given phosphorus beneath the soil zone may not get sorbbind with sediment (Glenn et al. 2013), we assumed no sorption for wastewater injection and cesspool discharge.

Typically, green spaces increase the nutrient flux due to increased recharge from irrigation and nutrient leaching from fertilizers. The coastal nutrient flux from green spaces were based on assumed landscaping practices, particularly irrigation (Engott 2011) and fertilization rates. Based on an irrigation rate of 0.00468 m.d<sup>-1</sup> (5,000 gpd.ac<sup>-1</sup>, CH2MHill 2003), rainfall of 1.01 mm.d<sup>-1</sup> and an evapotranspiration rate of 0.00371 m.d<sup>-1</sup>, the groundwater recharge rate over green spaces is assumed 0.00191 m.d<sup>-1</sup> (Engott 2011). For golf courses, fertilizers application rate was assumed at 879 kg.ha<sup>-1</sup> for nitrogen and 122 kg.ha<sup>-1</sup> for phosphorus, with a leaching rate of 5% for both nutrients, thereby resulting in an annual load of 49 and 13.5 kg.ha<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> for nitrogen and phosphorus, respectively (Table 2.4) (Throssell et al. 2009a). Using typical lawn fertilizer applications (Wang et al. 2014) and given soil absorption, a leaching rate of 4.5 kg.ha<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> and 0.2 kg.ha<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> were assumed for nitrogen and phosphorus, respectively (Wang et al. 2014) (Table 2.4).

**Table 2.4. Annual nutrient flux per land use type.** Existing development zones were assigned nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) concentration combined with groundwater recharge (R) and the corresponding nutrient loads.

Land use type	[N]	[P]	N Load	P Load	Source
	(mg/L/yr)	(mg/L/yr)	(kg/yr)	(kg/yr)	
Cesspool	87	19	38 per	8.3 per	(Lowe et al. 2010, Tasato &
			unit	unit	Dugan 1980, U.S. EPA
					2002)
Wastewater	5.25	6.8	843	1300	(State of Hawai'i 2016b)
Injection					
Hā'ena green			4.5/ha +	0.2/ha+	(Giambelluca et al. 2012,
space			R	R	2014; Shade 1995)
Ka'ūpūlehu golf	7.59	0.54	49/ha	13.5/ha	(Throssell et al. 2009a)
course/green					
space					

# 2.2.4.4 Coastal water quality modeling

I diffused the modeled groundwater and nutrient flux from each 'flow tube' into the coastal zone to create spatially explicit maps of coastal water quality. In order to represent the non-point source discharge of groundwater on volcanic islands (Oki et al. 1999), I applied an adapted distance based plume model at each 'pour point' in ArcGIS (Halpern et al. 2008b). The distance based plume model applies a decay function to a cost surface (Yu et al. 2003) and used 1 km from the shoreline as the maximum threshold for diffusion (Derse et al. 2007). The cost surface was a composite of depth (m), distance from shore (m), and wave power (kW/m). This method allowed me to diffuse groundwater into coastal waters but did not account for nearshore advection that acts to push terrestrial drivers in specific directions. I used these modeled coastal water quality metrics (i.e., freshwater, nitrogen, and phosphorus) as proxies for nutrient-rich groundwater discharge, terrestrial drivers that may influence coral reef dynamics at each site (Table S2.2).

### 2.2.5 Marine driver modeling

The marine drivers were derived from remote sensing and wave model data available for both sites using GIS-based tools. The selected marine drivers were identified as important drivers of coral reef benthic and fish communities by existing literature and local community input (Table 2.5). Wave disturbance was represented by mean wave power at each site (kW.m<sup>-1</sup>) and derived from the 500 m resolution SWAN hindcast model that spanned 10 years (2000-2009) (Stopa et al. 2013). Depth and distance from shore were used as geographic metrics to account for variation arising from spatial location. Depth was derived from the synthesis of Multibeam sonar and LiDAR bathymetry at 5 m resolution (HMRG 2015) and distance from shore was derived from the statewide coastline map (OP 2000). Three types of habitat drivers, representing direct and indirect effects of seafloor geomorphology on benthic and fish communities, were also derived from the synthesis of Multibeam sonar and LiDAR bathymetry (HMRG 2015): (1) habitat morphology, (2) habitat complexity, and (3) habitat exposure. Habitat morphology, represented by Bathymetric Position Index (BPI) and slope metrics, were computed for two neighborhood sizes (60 m and 240 m radii) to determine depth relative to the reef and surrounding area at different spatial scales (Kendall et al. 2011, Pittman & Brown 2011). Rugosity, plan and profile curvature metrics were computed to estimate habitat complexity. Three metrics of habitat exposure (sine circular mean, cosine circular mean, circular standard deviation), representing the steepest downslope direction (measured in degrees 0°-360°), were used to capture the direct and indirect effects of water flow due to seafloor topography and directionality.

Indicator	Metrics	Description	Unit	References
Wave	Power	Mean wave power derived from a 10 year (2000-2009) SWAN hindcast wave model.	kW.m <sup>-1</sup>	(Dollar 1982, Friedlander et al. 2003, Grigg 1998)
Geography	Depth	Mean seafloor depth	m	(Dollar 1982,
	Distance to shore	Euclidean distance to the shoreline	m	Fabricius & De'ath 2001, Jouffray et al. 2015)
Habitat morphology	BPI	Relative topographic position of a point based its elevation and the mean elevation within a neighborhood (m)	m	(Pittman & Brown 2011, Stamoulis et al. 2016)
	Slope	Maximum rate of change in seafloor depth between each grid cell and its neighbors	Degree	
Habitat complexity	Plan curvature	Seafloor curvature perpendicular to the direction of the maximum slope (mean). Value indicates whether flow will converge or diverge over a point.	Radians.m <sup>-1</sup>	(Darling et al. 2017, Friedlander & Parrish 1998a)
	Profile curvature	Seafloor curvature in the direction of the maximum slope (mean). Value indicates whether flow will accelerate or decelerate over the curve.	Radians.m <sup>-1</sup>	
	Rugosity	Measure of small-scale variations of amplitude in the height of a surface (mean). Value range from 1 (flat) to infinity.	Unitless	
Habitat exposure	Aspect	Downslope direction of maximum rate of change in seafloor depth between each grid cell and its neighbors (sine circular mean, cosine circular mean, circular standard deviation)	Degree	(Franklin et al. 2013, Knudby et al. 2013)

 Table 2.5. Description of marine drivers. Refer to Table S2.2 for more information.

#### 2.2.6 Identifying terrestrial and marine drivers of coral reefs

To identify and differentiate the effects of terrestrial (groundwater and nutrients) and marine drivers (habitat and wave) on coral reefs between sites, I analyzed the coral reef indicators using distance-based linear modeling (DISTLM) coupled with distance based redundancy analysis (dbRDA), a constrained multivariate multiple regression on principal coordinate axes of environmental drivers (Legendre & Anderson 1999, McArdle & Anderson 2001). This nonparametric technique models the relationship between a multivariate data cloud (coral reef indicators) and environmental drivers (terrestrial and marine). More specifically, it partitions the variation in the data cloud described by the resemblance matrix according to multiple linear regressions (Anderson et al. 2008). An Euclidean distance similarity measure was used to construct a resemblance matrix of the transformed and normalized benthic and fish indicators. Square root and fourth root transformations were applied to the benthic and fish variables, respectively, to improve normality (Costa & Kendall 2016, Stamoulis & Friedlander 2013). Environmental drivers were normalized, with highly correlated (> 0.7) drivers removed from the models. The DISTLIM routine was used to perform the partitioning, while the dbRDA routine was used to perform an ordination of the fitted values of the reef benthic and resource fish communities in PRIMER PERMANOVA+ software (Anderson et al. 2008). Fitted variation >70% is considered a good fit to the model (Legendre & Anderson 1999).

## 2.2.7 Modeling coral reef dynamics

Tree-based models are effective at modeling nonlinearities, discontinuities (threshold effects), and interactions between variables (Breiman 1996, 2001), which is well suited for the analysis of complex ecological data (De'ath & Fabricius 2000). To determine the important terrestrial and/or marine drivers of each coral reef indicator and obtain a description of these empirical relationships, I applied BRTs (Elith et al. 2008) (Figure 2.2.d).

I calibrated the BRT models for benthic and fish indicators, derived from the field data, as a function of the terrestrial and marine drivers. The calibration process uses an internal ten-fold cross-validation to maximize the model fit and determine the optimal combinations of four parameters: (1) learning rate (lr); (2) tree complexity (tc); (3) bag fraction (bag); and (4) the maximum number of trees (see (Elith et al. 2008) for more details). To control for overfitting,

BRTs uses a regularization process that simplifies the selected optimal model, while providing sufficient flexibility to fit complex non-linear relationships. I determined the number of drivers to remove by evaluating how many drivers could be dropped without resulting in a major reduction in PDE (see Elith et al [2008] Appendix S2). Calibrated BRT models provide response curves, which represent the empirical correlation between the indicator and environmental predictor (Figure 2.2.f). The response curves need to be further compared against historical data trends for validation. I used the percent deviance explained (PDE) by the calibration and internal ten-fold cross validation method as performance measures of the model optimum. The optimal models explained the most variation in the response variables (i.e., greatest PDE). During the model-fitting process, BRTs determined the strongest statistical environmental drivers (among the simultaneously tested predictors) and estimate the underlying relationship (response curve) between the modeled indicator and the key environmental drivers (De'ath & Fabricius 2000, 2010; Venables & Ripley 2013). I conducted the model fitting in R software (R Core Team 2014) using the gbm package (Elith et al. 2008, Ridgeway 2007).

The final BRT models of each study sites were used to predict and map the distribution of each coral reef indicator given the environmental drivers' conditions, on a cell-by-cell basis, across the coral reef model domain. First, I spatially predicted the benthic groups as a function of their key environmental drivers. Then, I predicted the resource fishes as a function the environmental drivers, including the predicted benthic groups. Spatial autocorrelation of the response variable was tested using Moran's I Index for both the raw values and the ecological model residuals (Miller 2012). I performed the spatial prediction in the R software (R Core Team 2014) using the dismo (Hijmans et al. 2014) and raster packages (Hijmans 2014).

## 2.3. Results

## 2.3.1 Terrestrial drivers

The calculated groundwater recharge for Hā'ena was compared to the Wainiha Aquifer water budget model (Shade 1995) and was within 1% difference. The Ka'ūpūlehu groundwater recharge was derived from the comprehensive Hawai'i Island groundwater recharge assessment of Engott (2011) and the resulting GIS maps (Izuka et al. 2016), and therefore did not need further validation. Our groundwater model showed that groundwater recharge was much higher in Hā'ena (ranging from 0.0006 m.d<sup>-1</sup> to 0.01 m.d<sup>-1</sup>) compared to Ka'ūpūlehu (ranging from 0.0001 m.d<sup>-1</sup> to 0.0088 m.d<sup>-1</sup>) (Figure 2.5.a & b). Consequently, the groundwater discharge was 2.5 times higher in Hā'ena (57.1 million m<sup>3</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> or 10,279 m<sup>3</sup>.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> of shoreline) than Ka'ūpūlehu (22.7 million m<sup>3</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> or 3,085 m<sup>3</sup>.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> of shoreline (Figure 2.6). In Hā'ena, the greatest freshwater flux (~28,200 m<sup>3</sup>.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) was through an embayment on the eastern side of the study area (Figure 2.5.c). At Ka'ūpūlehu, the greatest freshwater flux (6,700 m<sup>3</sup>.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) occurred through a small embayment near the middle of the study area (Figure 2.5.d).



**Figure 2.5. Groundwater recharge models.** (a) Hā'ena groundwater recharge is higher in the mountains (red zone) compared to coastal areas (green zone). (b) Ka'ūpūlehu groundwater recharge is low throughout the ahupua'a (yellow and green zones).



**Figure 2.6. Groundwater models outputs.** Groundwater discharge (left) and nutrient loads (right) in Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu based on status quo conditions.

In terms of nutrient loads, nitrogen was lower in Hā'ena (29,200 kg.yr<sup>-1</sup> or 6.02 kg.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) in comparison to Ka'ūpūlehu (38,900 kg.yr<sup>-1</sup> or 7.08 kg.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) (Figure 2.6). Conversely, the phosphorus load for Hā'ena (11,500 kg.yr<sup>-1</sup> or 2.24 kg.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) was 3.3 times greater compared to Ka'ūpūlehu (3,510 kg.yr<sup>-1</sup> or 0.78 kg.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>). The fraction of human-derived nutrient load delivered to the coastal zone was lower at Hā'ena (N=7.8% and P=5.5%), compared to Ka'ūpūlehu (N=24% and P=35%). The key sources of these nutrients were wastewater at Hā'ena and greenspaces, such as golf courses, at Ka'ūpūlehu (Table 2.4). At Hā'ena, the greatest nutrient flux (N=15.4 kg.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> and P=5.9 kg.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) was through the embayment on the eastern side of the study area (Figure 2.7), located downstream from existing coastal development (Figure 2.1.b). At Ka'ūpūlehu, the greatest nutrients flux (N=18.6 kg.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup> and P=4.5 kg.m<sup>-1</sup>.yr<sup>-1</sup>) occurred through a small embayment near the middle of the study area (Figure 2.7) and downstream from existing coastal development (Figure 2.1.c). Consequently, coastal nitrogen levels at Ka'ūpūlehu ( $\bar{X}$ = 1,666; SD=1,776) were higher compared to Hā'ena ( $\bar{X}$ =933; SD=1,617). Conversely, coastal freshwater and phosphorus levels were higher in Hā'ena (freshwater:  $\bar{X}$ = 1,445, SD=2,753; P:  $\bar{X}$ = 336, SD=598) compared to Ka'ūpūlehu (freshwater:  $\bar{X}$ = 777, SD=746; P:  $\bar{X}$ = 243, SD=363).



**Figure 2.7. Modeled groundwater nutrients flux coupled with modeled coastal water quality in Hā'ena (left) and Ka'pūlehu (right).** a: Groundwater nitrate flux (kg/yr) and coastal plume (/yr). b: Groundwater phosphate flux (kg/yr) and coastal plume (/yr).

# 2.3.2 Marine drivers

The average and standard deviations of our marine drivers maps across the modeled coral reef domains showed that wave power in Hā'ena is higher than Ka'ūpūlehu by an order of magnitude (Table 2.6) (refer to Figure S2.1 for spatial representation). The island shelf of Hā'ena was wider compared to the narrow island shelf of Ka'ūpūlehu. In terms of habitat morphology, BPI values suggested Hā'ena reef exhibit less ridges and valleys compared to Ka'ūpūlehu at both modeled spatial scales. Similarly, Ka'ūpūlehu reef slopes were steeper and varied more compared to Hā'ena, particularly at the 60m resolution. On the other hand, habitat complexity was higher in Hā'ena compared to Ka'ūpūlehu. In terms of habitat exposure, Hā'ena was more exposed than Ka'ūpūlehu.

Туре	Marine drivers	Hā'ena	Ka'ūpūlehu
Wave disturbance	Wave power	21,697 (4,119)	2,756 (186)
Gaagraphia	Depth	-8.0 (4.4)	-7.3 (5.1)
Geographic	Distance to shore	594.5 (422.8)	269.5 (187.1)
	BPI (60m)	0.2 (0.2)	0.3 (0.4)
Habitat mambalagy	BPI (240m)	0.9 (1.3)	2.7 (3.3)
Habitat morphology	Slope (60m)	2.8 (1.8)	3.4 (2.4)
	Slope (240m)	20.0 (6.8)	19.4 (9.2)
	Plan curvature (mean)	0.0 (1.2)	-0.1 (1.0)
Habitat complexity	Plan curvature (std)	18.1 (9.3)	13.8 (9.9)
Habitat complexity	Profile curvature	0.0 (0.1)	0.0 (0.1)
	Rugosity	1.0 (0.0)	1.0 (0.0)
	Aspect (std)	1.1 (0.4)	0.8 (0.5)
Habitat exposure	Aspect (cosine)	0.4 (0.4)	0.5 (0.4)
	Aspect (sine)	-0.1 (0.5)	-0.5 (0.4)

Table 2.6. Marine drivers average and standard deviation across Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu modeled areas.

# 2.3.3 Coral reef drivers

The distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) showed that Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu coral reef communities are well separated in ordination space based on key terrestrial drivers (freshwater, nitrogen, and phosphorus) and marine drivers (wave, distance from shore and depth) (Figure 2.8). The first axis was positively correlated with wave power and accounted for 57.8% of the fitted variation (34.1% of the total variation), separating the exposed waters of Hā'ena from the sheltered waters of Ka'ūpūlehu. The second axis accounted for 29% of the fitted variation, equivalent to 17.1% of the total variation. It showed a positive correlation with distance from shore and a negative correlation with depth, thereby separating the wider and shallower eroded island shelf of Hā'ena from the narrow and deeper island shelf of Ka'ūpūlehu. The second axis was also negatively correlated with the terrestrial drivers, highlighting the higher levels of nitrogen in Ka'ūpūlehu compared to Hā'ena, as opposed to higher levels of freshwater and phosphorus in Hā'ena compared to Ka'ūpūlehu.



**Figure 2.8. dbRDA of the coral reef communities.** Ordination plot illustrating the relationship between terrestrial and marine drivers that best explain the variation of benthic and fish indicators (a) in Hā'ena (blue dots) and (b) Ka'ūpūlehu (pink dots). The dbRDA vectors overlays are shown for the environmental drivers explaining a significant proportion of the variation: Wave, distance to shore (dist2shore), depth, groundwater (H2O) and nutrients (N and P) are the key drivers differing Hā'ena from the Ka'ūpūlehu coral reef communities.

The calibration and cross-validation of coral reef models of Hā'ena explained 34-74% and 10-51% of the deviance, respectively (Table 2.7). At Ka'ūpūlehu, the calibration and cross-validation of coral reef models explained 21-60% and 5-26% of the deviance, respectively. Analysis of the residuals from the final coral reef models showed no spatial autocorrelation (Moran's I Index p > 0.1).

**Table 2.7. Coral reef model performance.** The percent deviance explained (PDE) by the BRT models for the calibration and cross-validation (CV) processes and the final number of predictors (Pi) is shown for Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu.

Deafindicators	Hā'ena		Ka'ūpūlehu			
Neel mulcators	PDE (%)	CV PDE (%)	Pi	PDE (%)	CV PDE (%)	Pi
CCA	74	51	4	22	5	4
Corals	67	47	4	60	26	4
Macroalgae	50	27	7	28	7	4
Turf algae	44	10	6	33	10	6
Browsers	34	12	5	21	5	6
Grazers & Detritivores	49	25	7	50	16	6
Scrapers & Excavators	41	10	6	50	20	5
Piscivores	41	10	6	32	10	7

The final coral reef models found that Hā'ena is mostly structured by natural disturbances (wave and freshwater) and distance from shore, while Ka'ūpūlehu is mostly driven by local drivers, like habitat structure and land-based nutrients (Figure 2.9). The response curves characterizing those relationships showed group-specific responses to key drivers, as well as similarities and differences between the two geographical locations (Figures S2.2 & S2.3). Those empirically derived relationships influence the distribution of the benthic and fish indicators at each site (Figures 2.10 & 2.11).



**Figure 2.9. Coral reef models and key drivers of benthic and fish indicators.** The BRT models identify the key drivers of the benthic and fish indicators. The benthic (top) and fish (bottom) indicators are represented along the X axes. The terrestrial drivers, marine drivers, and benthic community for the fish indicator only are represented on the Y axes. The bubble size represents the relative percent contribution of each driver and the color indicates whether the relationship between the indicator and the driver is positive (green), convex or concave or unchanged (yellow), or negative (red).



Figure 2.10. Predicted distribution of the coral reef indicators at Hā'ena. Benthic groups are measured in % cover and the fish indicators are measured in  $g/m^2$ 



Figure 2.11. Predicted distribution of the coral reef indicators at Ka' $\bar{u}p\bar{u}$ lehu. Benthic groups are measured in % cover and the fish indicators are measured in g/m<sup>2</sup>

#### 2.3.3.1 Effect of groundwater discharge on coral reefs

The coral reef models identified groundwater discharge (represented by freshwater) as a more important driver of the benthic community at Hā'ena, compared to Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure 2.9). In both sites, CCA was negatively related with groundwater discharge. In Hā'ena only, coral and macroalgae were negatively related to groundwater discharge, while turf algae showed a positive association. The effects of groundwater discharge varied across fish functional groups, as well as between sites. The relationship between browsers and grazers/detritivores with groundwater discharge were negatively related with groundwater discharge at both sites.

## 2.3.3.2 Effect of wave power on coral reefs

Wave power was an influential marine driver of the benthic community at Hā'ena, but not at Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure 2.9). In Hā'ena, CCA and macroalgae were positively associated with wave power, while coral cover and turf algae responded negatively to wave power. As a result, predicted coral cover was lower and CCA was more abundant and widespread in Hā'ena (Figure 2.10), whereas predicted CCA was lower and coral cover was more abundant and broadly distributed in Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure 2.11). In response to these benthic indicators, fish biomass (for browsers and scrapers/excavators) was higher with CCA at Hā'ena, while fish biomass (for grazers/detritivores and scrapers/excavators) was higher with corals at Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure 2.9). Fish biomass of scrapers/excavators was also positively associated with higher levels of wave power at both sites and piscivores at Ka'ūpūlehu only.

## 2.3.3.3 Effect of habitat conditions on coral reefs

The geographic metrics (depth and distance from shore) were important predictors in both sites (Figure 2.9). In Hā'ena, CCA and corals were predicted to be more abundant in areas away from the shore, while macroalgae and turf algae are more abundant in areas close to shore (Figure 2.10). In Ka'ūpūlehu, CCA and macroalgae were predicted to be more abundant in nearshore areas, while coral cover was predicted to be higher in deeper waters (Figure 2.11). In both sites, fish biomass was predicted to be higher in deeper waters, with the exception of browsers in Ka'ūpūlehu (Figures 2.10 & 2.11). Fish biomass was also predicted to be higher in areas away from the shore in both sites, with the exception of grazers/detritivores in Hā'ena (Figures 2.10 & 2.11).

The geomorphology metrics (BPI and slope) were more important drivers for the Ka'ūpūlehu coral reef community than for that of Hā'ena (Figure 2.9). In Ka'ūpūlehu, the abundance of CCA, coral, grazers/detritivores, and scrapers/excavators were all positively associated with the reef slopes. Consequently, the biomass of these fish groups was predicted to be higher along the reef slopes of Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure 2.11). Macroalgae, turf algae and browsers were positively associated with flat areas, so higher biomass of browsers is predicted to be found on the reef flats of Ka'ūpūlehu. Surface complexity of the reef was also a positive driver of benthic and fish abundance at both sites, but this was particularly true for the benthic community at Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure 2.9).

#### 2.3.3.4 Effect of land-based nutrients on coral reefs

The coral reef models indicated that nutrients were more important at Ka'ūpūlehu, compared to Hā'ena (Figure 2.9). In Hā'ena, macroalgae and turf algae were weakly but positively related with nutrients (nitrate [Figure S2.2]). Similarly in Ka'ūpūlehu, turf algae responded positively to nutrients (phosphate [Figure S2.3]), whereas CCA was negatively related to nutrients (nitrate [Figure S2.3]). As a result, turf algae, and particularly macroalgae, were predicted to be more abundant in the nearshore and eastern areas of Hā'ena (Figure 2.10), where nutrients discharge from coastal development was higher (Figure 2.7). In Ka'ūpūlehu, turf algae distribution is predicted to be concentrated near higher sources of nutrients, such as golf courses, while CCA abundance is predicted to be higher in areas away from nutrients inputs (Figure 2.11). In response to these benthic communities, fishes were more strongly associated to macroalgae at Hā'ena (scrapers/excavators and piscivores), while fishes were more dependent on turf algae at Ka'ūpūlehu (browsers) (Figure 2.9). Fish biomass was also negatively associated with higher levels of nutrients at both sites (Figure 2.9). More specifically, browsers and piscivores were negatively related with nitrate in Hā'ena (Figure S2.2), while browsers were negatively related with phosphate in Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure S2.3).

#### 2.4. Discussion

I present a novel integrated framework that links fine-scale land use to coral reef dynamics through groundwater, to support ridge-to-reef management at the (sub) watershed-scale on small oceanic islands. I used this approach to characterize the dynamics of two oceanic island environments subject to very different disturbance regimes. Over time, exposure to natural disturbances have sculpted a diverse gradient of ridge-to-reef systems along the Hawaiian Islands chain. My results suggest that exposure to rainfall and wave power can influence whether coral reef communities are primarily structured by natural disturbances or local drivers. The coral reef dynamics of Hā'ena characterize an old oceanic island environment eroded by freshwater and wave disturbances, while young Ka'ūpūlehu represents a sheltered and dry oceanic island environment shaped by local drivers, such as marine habitat conditions and human activities (coastal development) (Figure 2.1). Consistent with previous studies (Dollar 1982, Engels et al. 2004, Friedlander & Parrish 1998a, Grigg 1998), my results show that the high wave energy environment of Hā'ena has shaped a coral reef community founded on CCA, while the low wave energy environment of Ka'ūpūlehu has allowed for the accretion of a coral driven community. In response, the fish-habitat linkages of Hā'ena is more strongly related to CCA, while in Ka'ūpūlehu fishes is more strongly associated to corals and habitat structure. With the exception of wave sheltered back-reef areas, the benthic community of Ha'ena may benefit from dilution and mixing of land-based source nutrients attributable to high rainfall and wave power. In contrast, the Ka'ūpūlehu benthic community may be more vulnerable to land-based sources of nutrients due to naturally high levels of dissolved nutrient in groundwater, combined with low dilution and mixing from limited rainfall and wave action. Below I discuss the mechanisms by which the most important drivers found in this study may influence reef benthic and fish communities.

## 2.4.1 Effect of natural disturbances on coral reefs

# 2.4.1.1 Effect of groundwater discharge on coral reefs

Our groundwater models reflect the different rainfall patterns (Giambelluca et al. 2012), where recharge and discharge at Hā'ena are much higher than at Ka'ūpūlehu and consequently play a higher role in structuring reef communities at Hā'ena. Groundwater discharge can reduce salinity (Jokiel et al. 1993) and/or temperature in shallow waters (Bienfang 1980, Knee et al. 2010)... Consistent with the ecology and salinity tolerance of CCA on coral reefs (Adey 1986), CCA

responded negatively to groundwater discharge in both sites. Similarly, and also consistent with their ecology (Bahr et al. 2015, Jokiel et al. 1993), coral cover was lower in areas exposed to high groundwater inputs. Results for CCA and corals in Hā'ena suggest that groundwater discharge may hinder their distribution in nearshore areas (Figure 2.10). Conversely, turf algae were positively related to freshwater input (Figure 2.9). Decreases in salinity can directly promote intrinsic turf algae growth or indirectly hinder competition for space by other species (Duarte et al. 2010). Freshwater input had a mixed effect on the distribution of reef fishes, which may be due to the fact that reef fishes may tolerate a wider range of salinity than expected (Wu & Chung 1995).

#### 2.4.1.2 Effect of wave power on coral reefs

Wave disturbance is a key marine driver controlling coral growth, reef development and the structure of Hawaiian benthic reef communities (Dollar 1982, Fletcher et al. 2008). On small high oceanic islands, coral reefs grow as narrow fringing reefs on the subsiding slopes of shield volcanoes. In geologically young islands, sheltered from wave power, coral reefs form relatively narrow fringes, which can drop quickly in deeper waters (Fletcher et al. 2008), such as in Ka'ūpūlehu. In geologically older islands exposed to wave power, coral reefs form wider and shallower reef flats eroded by wave action (Fletcher et al. 2008), such as are found in Hā'ena. In Hā'ena, wave power has restricted coral growth to sheltered backreef areas (Figure 2.10) like the Makua reef complex (Figure 2.1) (Goodell 2015). By contrast, Ka'ūpūlehu coral growth is not limited by wave power (Fletcher et al. 2008, Grigg 1998) and therefore was more widespread across the reef slopes (Figure 2.11). Coral cover was higher in deeper waters at Ka'ūpūlehu and in areas away from the shore at Hā'ena, both demonstrating association with well mixed waters (Friedlander & Brown 2006). Similar to coral reefs in exposed settings (Fletcher et al. 2008), CCA abundance was greater in the high-wave environment of Hā'ena (Figure 2.10), where it stabilizes the reef structure (Smith et al. 2016) and promotes recovery post-disturbances through coral larval recruitment (Harrington et al. 2004, Price 2010). The coral and CCA abundance patterns in both sites indicate that CCA may be out-competed by coral under wave conditions suited to coral growth, but flourish in wave conditions adverse to coral growth (Figures 2.10 & 2.11) (Engels et al. 2004, Friedlander & Parrish 1998a, Friedlander et al. 2014, Jokiel et al. 2004). These patterns have also been observed across the Hawaiian archipelago (Dollar & Grigg 2004, Grigg 1998, Jokiel 1978), where coral reefs in exposed settings are dynamic, subject to renewal, and often

suppressed to a thin veneer (Grigg 1983), while coral reefs in sheltered areas can accrete slowly over time and are more stable (Dollar 1982, Grigg 1983). These different benthic community dynamics have implications for habitat conservation and coral reef resilience management.

The effect of wave disturbance on reef fish community structure in Hawai'i is not well studied, due to the challenges of conducting field work in high wave environments (DeMartini et al. 1996, Friedlander & Parrish 1998b, Friedlander et al. 2003). My results implied that wave energy indirectly influences fish through habitat association: at Hā'ena, browser, scraper and excavator biomass have positive association with CCA cover, which dominate in the high wave energy environment, while at Ka'ūpūlehu, scraper and excavator biomass has positive association which coral, which is more dominant in deeper, sheltered areas. Fish biomass for scrapers and excavators was also higher in more exposed wave environments and deeper reefs in both sites (Figure 2.9). These results suggested that fishes seek refuge in deeper waters at Hā'ena to avoid the metabolic costs of operating in high wave energy environments (Friedlander & Parrish 1998b), while in Ka'ūpūlehu fishes may seek deeper areas to avoid fishing pressure (Goetze et al. 2011) and may benefit from reduced human access due to wave action (Stamoulis et al. 2016).

## 2.4.2 Effect of habitat conditions on coral reefs

Owing to their geological ages coupled with erosion from natural disturbances (Fletcher et al. 2008), coral reefs of Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu exhibit very different habitat geomorphology and complexity. Many studies have shown that habitat geomorphology and complexity are primary marine drivers controlling coral reefs in Hawai'i (Friedlander & Parrish 1998a, Friedlander et al. 2003, Friedlander & Brown 2006, Stamoulis et al. 2016). The results for Ka'ūpūlehu in particular are consistent with these findings, with benthic and resource fish communities depending strongly on the reef geomorphology and habitat complexity, as opposed to Hā'ena (Figure 2.9). The reef calcifying groups are more abundant along the reef slopes while the benthic algae are on the reef flats (Figure 2.9). Resource fish biomass is generally higher along reef slopes, with high structure, such as spur and grooves carved by water circulation (Friedlander & Brown 2006) (Figure 2.10 & 2.11). The disparate importance of habitat structure between both sites implied that natural disturbances are the primary drivers of coral reef communities in exposed settings, while habitat conditions play a more important role in protected settings.

#### 2.4.3 Effect of land-based nutrients on coral reefs

Our nutrient transport model results highlighted that Ka'ūpūlehu has relatively high natural nutrient loads, consistent with leaching from agricultural activities (Fackrell et al. in press), though the land cover types above the groundwater flow path only consists of barren rock, grass lands, shrub land, and some native forests (Engott 2011). Therefore, groundwater provides a large fraction of the coastal nitrogen load. Some have hypothesized that groundwater in this region may be geothermally altered (Fackrell et al. in press), but the exact source of these background nutrients remains unknown. Compounded with lower groundwater recharge, the concentrations of dissolved nitrogen in Ka'ūpūlehu are much higher, compared to Hā'ena (Figure 2.6). Ka'ūpūlehu results are consistent with other areas on the dry leeward side of Hawai'i Island, where coastal groundwater nutrient fluxes were estimated as high as 2,000 and 200 kg/ha/yr for nitrogen and phosphorus, respectively (Street et al. 2008). These values are high compared to other less dry high latitude oceanic islands, such as South Korea (N:1,100 and P:20 kg/ha/yr) (Street et al. 2008). Results for Hā'ena are consistent with other wet and rural ahupua'a on the windward side of Kauai (Knee et al. 2008), O'ahu (Garrison et al. 2003) and south side of Moloka'i (Street et al. 2008). In Hanalei Bay, groundwater provides over 2.7 times more nutrients to the coastal environment than Hanalei River (Knee et al. 2008). Nutrient fluxes in Kahana Bay, on the windward side of O'ahu, were estimated as 170 and 19 kg/ha/yr for nitrogen and phosphorus, respectively (Garrison et al. 2003). On other tropical oceanic islands where surface water runoff is negligible, submarine groundwater discharge has been identified as a major source of nutrients to coral reefs, including Reunion Island (Cuet et al. 2011), and Mauritius Island, and were partly linked to sewage pollution (Gendre et al. 1994) and agriculture (Povinec et al. 2012).

In addition to the natural nutrient loads, groundwater can be enriched by human activities (Amato et al. 2016, Lapointe et al. 1999). This study identified wastewater disposal via cesspools for Hā'ena as the major source of human-derived nutrients (Table 2.4). Sewage on coral reefs has been recognized as a major environmental problem in Hawai'i (Amato et al. 2016, Smith et al. 1981) as well as in regions such as the Red Sea (Walker & Ormond 1982), Florida Keys (Lapointe et al. 2005), and the Great Barrier Reef (Bell 1992) Cesspools represent the most prevalent wastewater disposal system across the main Hawaiian Islands and have been recognized as a primary driver of groundwater and nearshore water quality degradation (Whittier & El-Kadi 2014a). Although,

the Hawai'i Department of Health revised wastewater regulations to ban new cesspools for the entire state in 2016 (HAR Title 11, Chapter 62), cesspools still account for 76% and 84% of the OSDS currently used on Kaua'i and Hawai'i Island, respectively (Whittier & El-Kadi 2014a). For Ka'ūpūlehu, we identified green spaces, such as golf courses, as the major source of human-derived nutrients (Table 2.4). Studies elsewhere in Hawai'i have showed that nutrient concentrations can be significantly higher in proximity to golf courses (Derse et al. 2007, Dollar & Atkinson 1992, Knee et al. 2010), thereby calling for best management practices for fertilizer application.

#### 2.4.3.1 Marine sinks of land-based nutrients

Macroalgae and turf algae responded positively to nitrate in Hā'ena, while turf algae was positively related to phosphate and CCA was negatively related to nitrate in Ka'ūpūlehu (Figures 2.9, S2.2, & S2.3). These ecological responses to nutrients suggest that coral reef waters are nitrogen limited in Hā'ena, as was shown in nearby Hanalei Bay (Derse et al. 2007). Phosphate could be a limiting nutrient in Ka'ūpūlehu, as was found in Honokōhau Bay also located on the Kona coast (Prouty et al. 2016). Known to be abundant on healthy reefs (Barott et al. 2009), turf algae can also proliferate rapidly and lead to phase shifts when exposed to land-based nutrients (Fabricius 2005, Vermeij et al. 2010). These results suggest that macroalgae, but particularly turf algae may have a competitive advantage over corals and CCA under nutrient enriched waters, such as Ka'ūpūlehu. Vermeij et al. (2010) showed that local nutrient enrichment can foster turf algae overgrowth, reduce CCA and coral recovery capacity after disturbances, through loss of space availability (Smith et al. 2006). Delivery of nutrient enriched groundwater can negatively affect coral reef calcifiers while promoting benthic algae growth (Fabricius 2005, Littler et al. 2006, Pastorok & Bilyard 1985, Smith et al. 2010, Vermeij et al. 2010).

On coral reefs, herbivores structure benthic communities by controlling the abundance of turf and macroalgae (Littler et al. 2006, Smith et al. 2010, Vermeij et al. 2013) and freeing space for recruitment of coral reef calcifiers (Green & Bellwood 2009). Consistent with Hanalei Bay (Friedlander & Parrish 1998a), macroalgae appear to have been reduced by grazing from herbivores in Hā'ena, given their cover showed a negative relationship with herbivore biomass (Figure 2.9). In this study, grazers/detritivores in Hā'ena and browsers in Ka'ūpūlehu were

positively associated with turf (Figure 2.9). The extent to which a reef system possesses these functional groups is fundamental to determine its capacity to resist phase shifts and recover in the face of disturbance (Bellwood et al. 2004).

## 2.4.4 Management implications

The similarity and differences identified in these ridge-to-reef systems are applicable to other oceanic island environments comprised within this spectrum of natural disturbances. This study confirms the need for ridge-to-reef management grounded in the dynamics of the place. In ridge-to-reef environments exposed to natural disturbances, as represented by Hā'ena, it is critical to adopt management practices that promote coral reef recovery post-disturbances. An appropriate management strategy would be to protect habitats located away from the influence of terrestrial disturbances (Bridge et al. 2013) and those protected from wave power, such as the Makua reef complex, which can act as nursery grounds to replenish coral and fish populations (Figure 2.1) (Goodell 2015). Additionally, upgrading existing cesspools could reduce the nutrients being discharged upstream from Makua reefs complex, which may negatively impact the fish community or the habitat quality (Figure 2.10) of this nursery ground. In addition, the protection of key herbivores, such as scrapers and excavators, can foster CCA and coral recruitment after natural disturbances (Bellwood et al. 2004).

Dry ridge-to-reef environments sheltered from natural disturbances, as represented by Ka<sup>c</sup>ūpūlehu, call for ridge-to-reef management actions, that which promote coral reef resistance to natural and human disturbances. The coral reef community along the narrow fringing reef appears seems to be susceptible to increases in land-based nutrients (Figure 2.11). Therefore, land-based activities should minimize nutrient inputs into groundwater or coastal waters given the naturally high groundwater nutrient loads (Street et al. 2008). Marine actions should focus on protecting deep water habitats, which can act as refuge for corals and fish populations from human disturbances (land-based nutrients and fishing pressure) (Bridge et al. 2013) coupled with the protection of herbivores to offset the effect of nutrients on turf algae (Bellwood et al. 2004, Littler et al. 2006, Smith et al. 2010).

## **2.5.** Conclusions

With a growing human population and a trend away from traditional ridge-to-reef resourcemanagement practices, managers need to better understand the impact of land-based activities on coral reefs in order to manage them more effectively. Empirical data provide a snapshot of the coral reef at the time of the data collection, but fail to provide future predictions to inform decision making (Stamoulis & Delevaux 2015). Tools to project and anticipate potential impacts are needed to better manage coral reefs (Gurney et al. 2013, Melbourne-Thomas et al. 2011). The linked landsea models I produced here can help managers evaluate the relative influence of terrestrial and marine drivers on reef communities to better direct strategical investment to maintain system resilience. Furthermore, they can be used to predict downstream responses to future land use and climate change. Although these ridge-to-reef models were built to understand the dynamics specific to these places, many of the effects we described can be generalized and adapted to oceanic island environments comprised within this spectrum of environmental conditions.

# Supplementary Material

Function	Scientific name	Common name	Hawaiian name
	Calotomus carolinus	Stareye parrotfish	ponuhunuhu
Browsers	Naso lituratus	Orangespine unicornfish	umaumalei
	Naso unicornis	Bluespine unicornfish	kala
	Acanthurus achilles	Achilles Tang	paku'iku'i
	Acanthurus blochii	Ringtail surgeonfish	pualu
	Acanthurus dussumieri	Eyestripe surgeonfish	palani
	Acanthurus guttatus	Whitespotted surgeonfish	api
	Acanthurus leucopareius	Whitebar surgeonfish	maikoiko
	Acanthurus nigricans	Goldrim surgeonfish	
Grazers	Acanthurus nigrofuscus	Brown surgeonfish	ma'i'i'i
&	Acanthurus nigroris	Bluelined surgeonfish	maiko
Detritivores	Acanthurus olivaceus	Orangeband surgeonfish	na'ena'e
	Acanthurus triostegus	Convict surgeonfish	manini
	Acanthurus xanthopterus	Yellowfin surgeonfish	pualu
	Ctenochaetus hawaiiensis	Black surgeonfish	
	Ctenochaetus strigosus	Goldring surgeonfish	kole
	Zebrasoma flavescens	Yellow tang	lau'ipala
	Zebrasoma veliferum	Sailfin tang	mane'one'o
	Chlorurus perspicillatus	Spectacled parrotfish	uhu uliuli
Scrapers	Chlorurus spilurus	Pacific bullethead parrotfish	uhu
&	Scarus dubius	Regal parrotfish	lauia
Excavators	Scarus psittacus	Palenose parrotfish	uhu
	Scarus rubroviolaceus	Ember parrotfish	palukaluka
	Caranx melampygus	Bluefin trevally	omilu
Piscivores	Parupeneus cyclostomus	Blue goatfish	moano kea
	Scomberoides lysan	Doublespotted queenfish	lai

Table S2.1. Fish species composition per functional groups.

**Table S2.2. Modeling framework predictor variables description and processing methods.** Description of all the predictor variables modeled in the coral reef models. Each metric was classified by type (terrestrial drivers or marine drivers) and coded for modeling. Data source and analytical tool used to generate each metric are provided. Refer to Stamoulis et al. 2016 for more details.

Туре	Code	Metric	Source	Description	Analytical tool
	H2O	Freshwater	Groundwater	Proxy for salinity (/yr)	GIS-based models
			models		
Terrestrial	Ν	Nitrate	Groundwater	Proxy for land-based source	GIS-based models
drivers			models	dissolved nitrogen (/yr)	
	Р	Phosphate	Groundwater	Proxy for land-based source	GIS-based models
			models	dissolved phosphorus (/yr)	
Marine driver	wav	Wave power	SWAN wave	Wave power (kW.m-1)	(Stopa et al. 2013)
(Wave)			model <sup>1</sup>		
	Depth	Depth	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Average depth (m)	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst tools
Marine					(ESRI 2011)
drivers	dist2shor	Distance to shore	Coastline <sup>3</sup>	Distance to nearest land (m)	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst
(Geography)	e				Euclidean Distance tool (ESRI
					2011)
	bpi	Bathymetric	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Mean values indicate a location's	Benthic Terrain Modeler tool
		position index		position relative to the surrounding	(Wright et al. 2005)
Marine		(60m, 240m)		area; values can be positive	
drivers				(ridges), negative (valleys), or zero	
(Morphology)				(flat or constant slope)	
(Worphology)	slp	Slope	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Maximum rate of change from a	ArcGIS Slope tool (ESRI 2011)
		(60m, 240m)		cell to its neighbors	ArcGIS Focal Statistics tool
					(ESRI 2011)
Marine	asp_sd	Surface aspect	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Slope direction (degree)	ArcGIS Aspect tool (ESRI
drivers		(standard			2011)
(Exposure)		deviation)			

	asp sin	Sine aspect	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Sine of slope direction (derived	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst tools		
		1		from transforming the mean aspect	(sine function) (ESRI 2011)		
				into "eastness") (degree)			
	asp_cos	Cosine aspect	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Cosine of slope direction (derived	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst tools		
		_		from transforming the mean aspect	(cosine function) (ESRI 2011)		
				into "northness") (degree)			
	curv_pro	Profile curvature	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Curvature values can be +	DEM Surface Tools Curvature		
Maring		(mean)		(concave), - (convex), or 0 (flat).	tool (Jenness 2013)		
				A proxy for spur and groove			
				effects on water flow.			
Marine	curv_pla	Planar curvature	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Curvature values can be –	DEM Surface Tools Curvature		
(Complexity)	n	(mean)		(concave) to $+$ (convex), or 0 (flat)	tool (Jenness 2013)		
				(mean). A proxy for spur and			
				groove effects on water flow.			
	rug	Rugosity	Bathymetry <sup>2</sup>	Value range from 1 (flat) to	DEM Surface Tools Curvature		
				infinity.	tool (Jenness 2013)		
	CCA	Crustose coralline	Coral reef	Spatially-explicit predicted %	Coral reef model predictions		
		algae	model	cover			
	COR	Coral cover	Coral reef	Spatially-explicit predicted %	Coral reef model predictions		
Benthic			model	cover			
community	MAC	Macroalgae	Coral reef	Spatially-explicit predicted %	Coral reef model predictions		
			model	cover			
	TUR	Turf algae	Coral reef	Spatially-explicit predicted %	Coral reef model predictions		
			model	cover			
<sup>1</sup> SWAN hindcast wave model at 500m native resolution (Stopa et al. 2013)							
<sup>2</sup> Bathymetry sy	ynthesis at 5	im native resolution (	HMRG 2015)				
<sup>3</sup> Coastline (OP	<b>2</b> 000)						







Figure S2.1. Spatial representation of the marine drivers at Hā'ena (left) and Ka'ūpūlehu (right).
















**Figure S2.2. Response curves of coral reef indicators at Hā'ena.** The y-axis is the fitted function for the modeled coral reef indicator and the x-axis represents the terrestrial or marine drivers















**Figure S2.3. Response curves of coral reef indicators at Ka'ūpūlehu.** The y-axis is the fitted function for the modeled coral reef indicator and the x-axis represents the terrestrial or marine drivers

# References

Adey WH. 1986. Coralline algae as indicators of sea-level. In Sea-Level Research, ed. O van de Plassche, pp. 229–80. Springer Netherlands

Amato DW, Bishop JM, Glenn CR, Dulai H, Smith CM. 2016. Impact of Submarine

Groundwater Discharge on Marine Water Quality and Reef Biota of Maui. PLOS ONE. 11(11):e0165825

Anderson MJ, Gorley RN, Clarke KR. 2008. PERMANOVA+ for Primer: Guide to Software and Statistical Methods

Bahr KD, Jokiel PL, Toonen RJ. 2015. The unnatural history of Kāne'ohe Bay: coral reef resilience in the face of centuries of anthropogenic impacts. PeerJ. 3:e950

Barott K, Smith J, Dinsdale E, Hatay M, Sandin S, Rohwer F. 2009. Hyperspectral and Physiological Analyses of Coral-Algal Interactions. PLOS ONE. 4(11):e8043

Bell PRF. 1992. Eutrophication and coral reefs—some examples in the Great Barrier Reef lagoon. Water Res. 26(5):553–68

Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M. 2004. Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature. 429(6994):827–833

Bienfang P. 1980. Water Quality Characteristics of Honokohau Harbor: A Subtropical Embayment Affected by Groundwater Intrusion

Breiman L. 1996. Bagging predictors. Mach. Learn. 24(2):123-40

Breiman L. 2001. Statistical Modeling: The Two Cultures (with comments and a rejoinder by the author). Stat. Sci. 16(3):199–231

Bridge TCL, Hughes TP, Guinotte JM, Bongaerts P. 2013. Call to protect all coral reefs. Nat. Clim. Change. 3(6):528–30

Calhoun RS, Fletcher CH. 1999. Measured and predicted sediment yield from a subtropical, heavy rainfall, steep-sided river basin: Hanalei, Kauai, Hawaiian Islands. Geomorphology. 30(3):213–26

Costa BM, Kendall M. 2016. Marine Biogeography Assessment of the Main Hawaiian Islands. OCS Study BOEM 2016-035 and NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 214. 359 pp. Bureau of Ocean Energy Management and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration ed.

Cuet P, Atkinson MJ, Blanchot J, Casareto BE, Cordier E, et al. 2011. CNP budgets of a coraldominated fringing reef at La Réunion, France: coupling of oceanic phosphate and groundwater nitrate. Coral Reefs. 30(1):45

DAR. 2016. DRAFT Management Plan for the Hā'ena Community-Based Subsistence Fisheries Area, Kauai. Division of Aquatic Resources, Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources

Darling ES, Graham NA, Januchowski-Hartley FA, Nash KL, Pratchett MS, Wilson SK. 2017. Relationships between structural complexity, coral traits, and reef fish assemblages. Coral Reefs. 1–15 De'ath G, Fabricius KE. 2000. Classification and Regression Trees: A Powerful vet Simple Technique for Ecological Data Analysis. Ecology. 81(11):3178-92 De'ath G, Fabricius K. 2010. Water quality as a regional driver of coral biodiversity and macroalgae on the Great Barrier Reef. Ecol. Appl. 20(3):840-50 DeMartini EE, Anderson TW, Kenyon JC, Beets JP, Friedlander AM. 2010. Management implications of juvenile reef fish habitat preferences and coral susceptibility to stressors< a class=. Mar. Freshw. Res. 61(5):532-540 DeMartini EE, Parrish FA, Parrish JD. 1996. Interdecadal Change in Reef Fish Populations at French Frigate Shoals and Midway Atoll, Northwestern Hawaiian Islands: Statistical Power in Retrospect. Bull. Mar. Sci. 58(3):804-25 Derse E, Knee KL, Wankel SD, Kendall C, Berg Carl J, Paytan A. 2007. Identifying Sources of Nitrogen to Hanalei Bay, Kauai, Utilizing the Nitrogen Isotope Signature of Macroalgae. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41(15):5217-23 Dollar SJ. 1982. Wave stress and coral community structure in Hawai'i. Coral Reefs. 1(2):71-81 Dollar SJ, Atkinson MJ. 1992. Effects of nutrient subsidies from groundwater to nearshore marine ecosystems off the island of Hawai'i. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 35(4):409-24 Dollar SJ, Grigg RW. 2004. Anthropogenic and Natural Stresses on Selected Coral Reefs in Hawai'i: A Multidecade Synthesis of Impact and Recovery. Pac. Sci. 58(2):281-304 Duarte TK, Pongkijvorasin S, Roumasset J, Amato D, Burnett K. 2010. Optimal management of a Hawaiian Coastal aquifer with nearshore marine ecological interactions. Water Resour. Res. 46(11):W11545 Elith J, Leathwick JR, Hastie T. 2008. A working guide to boosted regression trees. J. Anim. Ecol. 77(4):802–13 Engels MS, Fletcher CH, Field ME, Storlazzi CD, Grossman EE, et al. 2004. Holocene reef accretion: southwest Molokai, Hawai'i, USA. J. Sediment. Res. 74(2):255-269 Engott JA. 2011. A Water-Budget Model and Assessment of Groundwater Recharge for the Island of Hawai'i. 2011-5078 Fabricius K, De'ath G. 2001. Environmental factors associated with the spatial distribution of crustose coralline algae on the Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs. 19(4):303-9 Fabricius KE. 2005. Effects of terrestrial runoff on the ecology of corals and coral reefs: review and synthesis. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50(2):125-46 Fackrell J. 2016. Geochemical Evolution of Hawaiian Groundwater. In Natural and Anthropogenic Controls on Groundwater Nutrient and Dissolved Inorganic Carbon Concentrations; West Hawai'i, USA, pp. 68-99. University of Hawai'i, Dept. of Geology and Geophysics. Phd Dissertation ed. Fackrell J, Glenn CR, Thomas D, Whittier R, Popp B. in press. Development and Hydrogeologic Application of a Local Meteoric Water Line for West Hawai'i, USA. Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies. J. Hydrol. Reg. Stud.

Fletcher CH, Bochicchio C, Conger CL, Engels MS, Feirstein EJ, et al. 2008. Geology of Hawai'i Reefs. In Coral Reefs of the USA, eds. BM Riegl, RE Dodge, pp. 435–87. Springer Netherlands

Franklin EC, Jokiel PL, Donahue MJ. 2013. Predictive modeling of coral distribution and abundance in the Hawaiian Islands. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 481:121–132

Franklin J. 2010. Mapping Species Distributions: Spatial Inference and Prediction. Cambridge University Press

Freeze RA, Cherry JA. 1979. Groundwater. Prentice-Hall

Friedlander A, Goodel W, Stamoulis KA. 2014. Ecological Assessment of Hā'ena reef habitats. Fisheries Ecology Research Lab, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa

Friedlander A, Poepoe K, Poepoe K, Helm K, Bartram P, et al. 2002. Application of Hawaiian traditions to community-based fishery management. Proc. Ninth Int. Coral Reef Symp. Bali 23-27 Oct. 2000. 2:813–815

Friedlander AM, Brown EK. 2006. Hanalei bay, Kaua'i marine benthic communities since 1992: spatial and temporal trends in a dynamic Hawaiian coral reef ecosystem. Pacific Island Ecosystems Research Center of the U.S. Geological Survey

Friedlander AM, Brown EK, Jokiel PL, Smith WR, Rodgers KS. 2003. Effects of habitat, wave exposure, and marine protected area status on coral reef fish assemblages in the Hawaiian archipelago. Coral Reefs. 22(3):291–305

Friedlander AM, Parrish JD. 1998a. Habitat characteristics affecting fish assemblages on a Hawaiian coral reef. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 224(1):1–30

Friedlander AM, Parrish JD. 1998b. Temporal dynamics of fish communities on an exposed shoreline in Hawai'i. Environ. Biol. Fishes. 53(1):1–18

Froese R, Pauly D. 2011. FishBase

Garrison GH, Glenn CR, McMurtry GM. 2003. Measurement of submarine groundwater discharge in Kahana Bay, O'ahu, Hawai'i. Limnol. Oceanogr. 48(2):920–28

Gendre F, Beck C, Ruch P, Kubler B. 1994. Human impacts on coral ecosystems at Mauritius island: Coprostanol in surface sediments. Eclogae Geol. Helvetiae. 87(2):357–367

Giambelluca TW, Chen Q, Frazier AG, Price JP, Chen Y-L, et al. 2012. Online Rainfall Atlas of Hawai'i. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 94(3):313–16

Giambelluca TW, Shuai X, Barnes ML, Alliss RJ, Longman RJ, et al. 2014. Evapotranspiration of Hawai'i. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers—Honolulu District, and the Commission on Water Resource Management, State of Hawai'i.

Glenn CR, Whittier RB, Dailer ML, Dulaiova H, El-Kadi AI, et al. 2013. Lahaina Groundwater Tracer Study – Lahaina, Maui, Hawai'i

Goetze JS, Langlois TJ, Egli DP, Harvey ES. 2011. Evidence of artisanal fishing impacts and depth refuge in assemblages of Fijian reef fish. Coral Reefs. 30(2):507–517

Goodell W. 2015. Coupling remote sensing with in-situ surveys to determine reef fish habitat associations for the design of marine protected areas. Masters Diss.

Goreau TF. 1963. Calcium carbonate deposition by coralline algae and corals in relation to their roles as reef-builders. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 109(1):127–167

Green AL, Bellwood DR. 2009. Monitoring Functional Groups of Herbivorous Reef Fishes as Indicators of Coral Reef Resilience : A Practical Guide for Coral Reef Managers in the Asia Pacific Region. IUCN

Grigg RW. 1983. Community structure, succession and development of coral reefs in Hawai'i. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 11:1–14

Grigg RW. 1998. Holocene coral reef accretion in Hawai'i: a function of wave exposure and sea level history. Coral Reefs. 17(3):263–72

Gurney GG, Melbourne-Thomas J, Geronimo RC, Aliño PM, Johnson CR. 2013. Modelling Coral Reef Futures to Inform Management: Can Reducing Local-Scale Stressors Conserve Reefs under Climate Change? PLOS ONE. 8(11):e80137

Halpern BS, Walbridge S, Selkoe KA, Kappel CV, Micheli F, et al. 2008. A Global Map of Human Impact on Marine Ecosystems. Science. 319(5865):948–52

Harbaugh AW. 1990. A computer program for calculating subregional water budgets using results from the U.S. Geological Survey Modular Three-Dimensional Finite- Difference Ground-Water Flow Model. Open-File Report. 90–392, U.S. Geological Survey ; Books and Open-File Reports Section [distributor],

Harbaugh AW. 2005. The U.S. Geological Survey Modular Ground-Water Model—the Ground-Water Flow Process. U.S. Department of the Interior & U.S. Geological Survey

Harrington L, Fabricius K, De'Ath G, Negri A. 2004. Recognition and selection of settlement substrata determine post-settlement survival in corals. Ecology. 85(12):3428–3437

Hijmans RJ. 2014. R Package, Raster: Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling. Software Hijmans RJ, Phillips S, Leathwick J, Elith J. 2014. R Package, Dismo: Species Distribution Modeling

HMRG. 2015. Bathymetry

Houk P, Benavente D, Iguel J, Johnson S, Okano R. 2014. Coral Reef Disturbance and Recovery Dynamics Differ across Gradients of Localized Stressors in the Mariana Islands. PLOS ONE. 9(8):e105731

Iverson LR, Prasad AM. 1998. Predicting Abundance of 80 Tree Species Following Climate Change in the Eastern United States. Ecol. Monogr. 68(4):465–85

Izuka SK, Engott JA, Bassiouni M, Johnson AG, Miller LD, et al. 2016. Volcanic aquifers of Hawai'i—Hydrogeology, water budgets, and conceptual models. Scientific Investigations Report. 2015–5164, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA

Jokiel PL. 1978. Effects of water motion on reef corals. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 35(1):87–97 Jokiel PL, Brown EK, Friedlander A, Rodgers SK, Smith WR. 2004. Hawai'i Coral Reef Assessment and Monitoring Program: Spatial Patterns and Temporal Dynamics in Reef Coral Communities. Pac. Sci. 58(2):159–74

Jokiel PL, Hunter CL, Taguchi S, Watarai L. 1993. Ecological impact of a fresh-water "reef kill" in Kaneohe Bay, Oahu, Hawai'i. Coral Reefs. 12(3–4):177–84

Jouffray J-B, Nyström M, Norström AV, Williams ID, Wedding LM, et al. 2015. Identifying multiple coral reef regimes and their drivers across the Hawaiian archipelago. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 370(1659):20130268

Kendall MS, Miller TJ, Pittman SJ. 2011. Patterns of scale-dependency and the influence of map resolution on the seascape ecology of reef fish. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 427:259–274

Knee KL, Layton BA, Street JH, Boehm AB, Paytan A. 2008. Sources of Nutrients and Fecal Indicator Bacteria to Nearshore Waters on the North Shore of Kaua`i (Hawai`i, USA). Estuaries Coasts. 31(4):607–22

Knee KL, Street JH, Grossman> EE, Boehm AB, Paytan A. 2010. Nutrient inputs to the coastal ocean from submarine groundwater discharge in a groundwater-dominated system: Relation to land use (Kona coast, Hawai'i, U.S.A.). Limnol. Oceanogr. 55(3):1105–22

Knudby A, Jupiter S, Roelfsema C, Lyons M, Phinn S. 2013. Mapping Coral Reef Resilience Indicators Using Field and Remotely Sensed Data. Remote Sens. 5(3):1311–34

Lapointe BE, Barile PJ, Littler MM, Littler DS. 2005. Macroalgal blooms on southeast Florida coral reefs: II. Cross-shelf discrimination of nitrogen sources indicates widespread assimilation of sewage nitrogen. Harmful Algae. 4(6):1106–22

Lapointe BE, O'Connell JD, Garrett GS. 1999. Nutrient couplings between on-site sewage disposal systems, groundwaters, and nearshore surface waters of the Florida Keys. Biodegradation. 10(3):289–307

Legendre P, Anderson MJ. 1999. Distance-Based Redundancy Analysis: Testing Multispecies Responses in Multifactorial Ecological Experiments. Ecol. Monogr. 69(1):1–24

Littler MM, Littler DS. 2007. Assessment of coral reefs using herbivory/nutrient assays and indicator groups of benthic primary producers: a critical synthesis, proposed protocols, and critique of management strategies. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 17(2):195–215 Littler MM, Littler DS, Brooks BL. 2006. Harmful algae on tropical coral reefs: Bottom-up eutrophication and top-down herbivory. Harmful Algae. 5(5):565–85

Lowe KS, Tucholke MB, Tomaras JM, Conn K, Hoppe C, et al. 2009. Influent constituent characteristics of the modern waste stream from single sources. Water Environ. Res. Found. 202 Lowe KS, Tucholke MB, Tomaras JM, Conn K, Hoppe C, et al. 2010. Influent Constituent Characteristics of the Modern Waste Stream from Single Sources. Water Environ. Res. Found. 202:

Marion GM. 1998. The Geochemistry of Natural Waters: Surface and Groundwater Environments. J. Environ. Qual. 27(1):245

McArdle BH, Anderson MJ. 2001. Fitting Multivariate Models to Community Data: A Comment on Distance-Based Redundancy Analysis. Ecology. 82(1):290–97

Melbourne-Thomas J, Johnson CR, Fung T, Seymour RM, Chérubin LM, et al. 2011. Regionalscale scenario modeling for coral reefs: a decision support tool to inform management of a complex system. Ecol. Appl. 21(4):1380–98

Miller JA. 2012. Species distribution models: Spatial autocorrelation and non-stationarity. Prog. Phys. Geogr. 36(5):681–92

Minton D, Conklin E, Friedlander A, Most R, Pollock K, et al. 2015. Establishing the Baseline Condition of the Marine Resources: Results of the 2012 and 2013 Ka'ūpūlehu, Hawai'i Marine Surveys. The Nature Conservancy

Oki T, Nishimura T, Dirmeyer P. 1999. Assessment of Annual Runoff from Land Surface Models Using Total Runoff Integrating Pathways (TRIP). J. Meteorol. Soc. Jpn. Ser II. 77(1B):235–55

OP. 2000. Coastlines for the main hawaiian islands

Pastorok RA, Bilyard GR. 1985. Effects of sewage pollution on coral-reef communities. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 21:175–89

Pittman SJ, Brown KA. 2011. Multi-Scale Approach for Predicting Fish Species Distributions across Coral Reef Seascapes. PLOS ONE. 6(5):e20583

Poepoe KK, Bartram PK, Friedlander AM, Haggan N, Neis B, Baird IG. 2005. The use of traditional knowledge in the contemporary management of a Hawaiian community's marine resources. Fish. Knowl. Fish. Sci. Manag.

Pollock DW. 1994. User's guide for MODPATH/MODPATH-PLOT, Version 3; a particle tracking post-processing package for MODFLOW, the U.S. Geological Survey finite-difference ground-water flow model. Open-File Report. 94–464, The Survey ; U.S. Geological Survey, Earth Science Information Center [distributor],

Pollock DW. 2012. USGS Techniques and Methods 6-A41: User Guide for MODPATH Version 6--A Particle-Tracking Model for MODFLOW

Potter SR, Andrews S, Atwood JD, Kellog RL, Lemunyon J, et al. 2006. Model Simulation of Soil Loss, Nutrient Loss, and Change in Soil Organic Caron Associated with Crop Production. Conservation Effects Assessment Project (CEAP)

Povinec PP, Burnett WC, Beck A, Bokuniewicz H, Charette M, et al. 2012. Isotopic, geophysical and biogeochemical investigation of submarine groundwater discharge: IAEA-UNESCO intercomparison exercise at Mauritius Island. J. Environ. Radioact. 104:24–45

Price N. 2010. Habitat selection, facilitation, and biotic settlement cues affect distribution and performance of coral recruits in French Polynesia. Oecologia. 163(3):747–58

Prouty NG, Swarzenski PW, Fackrell J, Johannesson KH, Palmore CD. 2016. Groundwaterderived nutrient and trace element transport to a nearshore Kona coral ecosystem: Experimental mixing model results. J. Hydrol. Reg. Stud.

R Core Team. 2014. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.: R Foundation for Statistical Computing

Ridgeway G. 2007. Generalized Boosted Models: A Guide to the Gbm Package

Setchell WA. 1930. Biotic cementation in coral reefs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 16(12):781-783

Shade PJ. 1995. Water Budget for the Island of Kauai, Hawai'i. Water-Resources Investigations Report. 95–4128, Geological Survey (U.S.)

Smith JE, Brainard R, Carter A, Grillo S, Edwards C, et al. 2016. Re-evaluating the health of coral reef communities: baselines and evidence for human impacts across the central Pacific. Proc R Soc B. 283(1822):20151985

Smith JE, Hunter CL, Smith CM. 2010. The effects of top-down versus bottom-up control on benthic coral reef community structure. Oecologia. 163(2):497-507 Smith JE, Shaw M, Edwards RA, Obura D, Pantos O, et al. 2006. Indirect effects of algae on coral: algae-mediated, microbe-induced coral mortality. Ecol. Lett. 9(7):835-845 Smith SV, Kimmerer WJ, Laws EA, Brock RE, Walsh TW. 1981. Kaneohe Bay sewage diversion experiment: perspectives on ecosystem responses to nutritional perturbation. Pac. Sci. 35(4):279-395 Soldat DJ, Petrovic AM. 2008. The Fate and Transport of Phosphorus in Turfgrass Ecosystems. Crop Sci. 48(6):2051-65 Stamoulis KA, Delevaux JMS. 2015. Data requirements and tools to operationalize marine spatial planning in the United States. Ocean Coast. Manag. 116:214-23 Stamoulis KA, Friedlander AM. 2013. A seascape approach to investigating fish spillover across a marine protected area boundary in Hawai'i. Fish. Res. 144:2-14 Stamoulis KA, Poti M, Delevaux JMS, Donovan MK, Friedlander A, Kendall MS. 2016. Chapter 4: Fishes - Reef Fish. In Marine Biogeographic Assessment of the Main Hawaiian Islands, pp. 156-96. Bureau of Ocean Energy Management and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. OCS Study BOEM 2016-035 and NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 214. 359 pp. B.M. Costa and M.S. Kendall ed. State of Hawai'i. 2003. Data for Underground Injection Control Permit Number UH-1927. Flow and Chemistry Data State of Hawai'i. 2014. Groundwater pumping records for Hawai'i Island State of Hawai'i. 2016a. Drinking Water Contaminant Database, nitrate data for Kauai State of Hawai'i. 2016b. Hawai'i Administrative Rules Title 11, Chapter 62, as revised XXXX, 2016 Stopa JE, Filipot J-F, Li N, Cheung KF, Chen Y-L, Vega L. 2013. Wave energy resources along the Hawaiian Island chain. Renew. Energy. 55:305-21 Street JH, Knee KL, Grossman EE, Paytan A. 2008. Submarine groundwater discharge and nutrient addition to the coastal zone and coral reefs of leeward Hawai'i. Mar. Chem. 109(3):355-376 Tasato GT, Dugan GL. 1980. WRRCTR No.131 Leachate Quality from Lysimeters Treating Domestic Sewage. Water Resources Research Center, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa

Throssell CS, Lyman GT, Johnson ME, Stacey GA, Brown CD. 2009. Golf course

environmental profile measures nutrient use and management and fertilizer restrictions, storage, and equipment calibration. Appl. Turfgrass Sci. 6(1):0–0

TNC. 2015. Kaʿūpūlehu Conservation Action Plan. The Nature Conservancy

U.S. EPA. 2002. Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems Manual

USGS. 2017. USGS 16108000 Wainiha River nr Hanalei, Kauai, HI. USGS National Water Information System: Web Interface.

https://nwis.waterdata.usgs.gov/nwis/inventory/?site\_no=16108000&agency\_cd=USGS

## 2. RIDGE-TO-REEF MODELING FRAMEWORK

Venables WN, Ripley BD. 2013. Modern Applied Statistics with S-PLUS. Springer Science & Business Media

Vermeij MJ, Sandin SA. 2008. Density-dependent settlement and mortality structure the earliest life phases of a coral population. Ecology. 89(7):1994–2004

Vermeij MJ, van der Heijden RA, Olthuis JG, Marhaver KL, Smith JE, Visser PM. 2013. Survival and dispersal of turf algae and macroalgae consumed by herbivorous coral reef fishes. Oecologia. 171(2):417–425

Vermeij MJA, Moorselaar I van, Engelhard S, Hörnlein C, Vonk SM, Visser PM. 2010. The Effects of Nutrient Enrichment and Herbivore Abundance on the Ability of Turf Algae to Overgrow Coral in the Caribbean. PLOS ONE. 5(12):e14312

Walker DI, Ormond RFG. 1982. Coral death from sewage and phosphate pollution at Aqaba, Red Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 13(1):21–25

Wang W, Haver D, Pataki DE. 2014. Nitrogen budgets of urban lawns under three different management regimes in southern California. Biogeochemistry. 121(1):127–148

White KE, Sloto RA. 1990. Base-flow frequency characteristics of selected Pennsylvania streams. Water-Resources Investigations Report. 90–4160, U.S. Geological Survey; Books and Open-File Reports Section [distributor],

Whittier RB, El-Kadi AI. 2014a. Human and Environmental Risk Ranking of Onsite Sewage Disposal Systems: Molokai, Maui, and Hawai'i. State of Hawai'i Department of Health, Safe Drinking Water Branch, Honolulu, Hawai'i

Whittier RB, El-Kadi A. 2014b. Human health and environmental risk ranking of on-site sewage disposal systems for the Hawaiian Islands of Kauai, Molokai, Maui, and Hawai'i. Final Rep. Prep. State Hawai'i Dep. Health Safe Drink. Water Branch

Wiedemeier TH. 1999. Natural Attenuation of Fuels and Chlorinated Solvents in the Subsurface. John Wiley & Sons

Wu NY., Chung KC. 1995. Tolerance of Pomacanthus imperator to hypoosmotic salinities: changes in body composition and hepatic enzyme activities. J. Fish Biol. 47:70–81

Yu C, Lee JAY, Munro-Stasiuk MJ. 2003. Extensions to least-cost path algorithms for roadway planning. Int. J. Geogr. Inf. Sci. 17(4):361–376

Zheng C, Wang PP. 1999. MT3DMS: A modular three-dimensional multi-species transport model for simulation of advection, dispersion and chemical reactions of contaminants in groundwater systems; documentation and user's guide. Report SERDP-99-1, U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center, Vicksburg, Mississippi, USA

# CHAPTER 3. CORAL REEF RESILIENCE TO HUMAN DRIVERS IN OCEANIC ISLAND ENVIRONMENTS

#### ABSTRACT

High latitude coral reefs on oceanic islands are subject to a large range of natural disturbances that shape the character of these ecosystems. In the last century, climate change has emerged as a global threat to coral reefs, which can interact with natural disturbance cycles and local human drivers (fishing and land-based source pollution). To promote resilience to climate change, management of local human drivers has been widely advocated. However, the extent of its effectiveness remains unclear because the combined effects of co-occurring human and natural disturbances on coral reefs and their fisheries remain poorly understood which in turn hinders resilience management. To address this knowledge gap, this study focused on two ridge-to-reef systems (Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu) under community-based management, at opposite ends of the main Hawaiian Island chain, thus capturing a wide spectrum of natural disturbances governing high Pacific islands (geologic age, rainfall and waves). I applied a novel ridge-to-reef modeling framework, which links fine-scale land use to coral reef ecological outcomes through groundwater, to assess the cumulative effects of land-based nutrients and climate induced bleaching on coral reefs. My results indicate that Ka'ūpūlehu, on Hawai'i Island is more susceptible to coastal development and climate change, partly due to low rainfall and wave power, compounded with naturally high nitrogen in groundwater. Although Hā'ena, on Kaua'i, benefits from dilution and mixing attributable to high rainfall and wave disturbances, critical nursery habitats seem vulnerable to climate change impacts and could benefit from reduced nutrient inputs and increased herbivory to promote recovery post-bleaching events. This study suggests that managing human drivers from ridge-to-reef using a place-based approach aimed at improving water quality, protecting important habitat (refuges and nurseries), and fostering herbivory can promote coral reef resilience in the face of climate change. Lastly, I demonstrate that locally developed models offer a critical and much needed opportunity for aiding local-scale and place based management of coral reefs in high oceanic island environments.

#### 3.1 Introduction

Native Hawaiians, as the original inhabitants of the Hawaiian Islands, traditionally nurtured and regulated the resources available from ridge-to-reef by subdividing the land into ahupua'a management units to sustain their wellbeing (McGregor et al. 2003). The ahupua'a management system integrated the terrestrial, freshwater and nearshore marine resources based on the fundamental linkages from ridges to reefs (Jokiel et al. 2010, McGregor et al. 2003). Following the 1800s, the modern socio-economic and political context, specifically land and water privatization, led to breakdown of the traditional ahupua'a system (Minerbi 1999, Vaughan & Vitousek 2013). Today, a Hawaiian Cultural Renaissance, rooted in the recognition of declining important biocultural resources, has brought the ahupua'a into the contemporary framework of ecosystem-based management and seeks to re-establish the cohesive links between land and sea, encompassing both ecological and social processes along that continuum (Friedlander et al. 2013, Jokiel et al. 2010). Two leading examples are the ahupua'a of Hā'ena (Winter & Lucas 2017) and Ka'ūpūlehu, which recently enacted place-based management to restore Hawaiian values and an ahupua'a-based approach to managing coral reef fisheries (DAR 2016, TNC 2015). Located at opposite ends of the main Hawaiian Island chain, Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu also represent each end of the environmental spectrum (geologic age, rainfall, and wave) governing high oceanic island ecosystems. Hā'ena is an older windward ridge-to-reef system exposed to high freshwater inputs (Calhoun & Fletcher 1999) and high wave disturbance (Hoeke et al. 2013), while Ka'ūpūlehu is a younger dry leeward ridge-to-reef system sheltered from wave action (Chapter 1).

In order to support these and other ridge-to-reef management initiatives, I applied the fine-scale modeling framework developed for these locations, which links the effects of land use to coral reef ecological outcomes through groundwater flux (Chapter 1). More specifically, this study applied these ridge-to-reef models in order to: (1) investigate the effects of costal development and climate change on coral reefs and resource fishes; (2) examine the effect of different natural disturbance regimes on coral reef resilience; (3) and inform resilience management using a place-based approach. Assuming the fundamental ecological relationships are constant over time, these models were applied to forecast benthic and fish resilience indicator distributions under different coastal development, climate change, and combined scenarios. Then I assessed and compared the

predicted changes of the benthic and fish communities to current conditions in each place in order to answer the following questions:

- 1. Can ridge-to-reef management foster coral reef resilience to climate change in oceanic island ecosystems with different natural disturbance regimes?
- 2. Do high natural disturbance regimes, such as in Hā'ena, increase or decrease resilience to local human impacts and climate change, compared to Ka'ūpūlehu?

### 3.2. Methods

This chapter also focused on Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu ahupua'a. Refer to Section 2.1 for more information.

### 3.2.1 Modeling approach

In order to determine the effects of co-occurring human drivers on coral reefs and their targeted fish populations, I applied two spatially explicit ridge-to-reef models developed independently for Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu (Chapter 1). The modeling framework coupled groundwater models and coral reef predictive models, calibrated on locally available data (Figure 3.1). First, we designed and modeled several coastal development scenarios, based on local communities' inputs; and climate change based on projected coral bleaching for the region (Hoeke et al. 2011). The groundwater models were used to quantify the change in nutrient loads under each coastal development scenario, and were coupled with ArcGIS-based modeling to derive maps of nearshore water quality. I then simulated the change in distribution of benthic and fish indicators under those coastal development and climate change scenarios, using the predictive coral reef models calibrated on georeferenced benthic and fish survey data contributed by the Fisheries Ecology Research Lab (FERL) and The Nature Conservancy of Hawai'i (TNC). The outputs of the coral reef spatial predictive models were used to evaluate potential changes in the benthic and fish community structure under the projected scenarios compared to present conditions at 60-m2 spatial resolution.



**Figure 3.1. Modeling framework**<sup>2</sup>**.** A: Coastal development and climate change scenarios were designed for each study site. B. Change in nitrogen and phosphorus coastal discharge was modeled using calibrated groundwater models under each coastal development scenario. C: Marine drivers were derived from existing remote sensing data. D: Change in coral reef indicators distribution were modeled using the calibrated coral reef models as a function of terrestrial (freshwater and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Symbols courtesy of Integration and Application Network (http://ian.umces.edu/symbols/); bathymetry image courtesy of Hawaii Mapping Research Group for bathymetry; wave model image courtesy of Hawaii Coastal Geology Group.

nutrients) and marine drivers (habitat and wave). E: Model outputs included maps of coral reef indicators distribution under each scenario.

### 3.2.2 Coral reef indicators

To assess dimensions of coral reef social-ecological resilience, we considered the change in the distribution of benthic (% cover) and fish (biomass) indicators modeled in chapter 1, respectively. These indicators were quantified by reef survey data collected by the Fisheries Ecology Research Lab (FERL) at the University of Hawai'i and The Nature Conservancy of Hawai'i (TNC) reef monitoring program (refer to Section 2.2.3 for more details).

### 3.2.3 Modeling natural drivers

The key natural terrestrial and marine drivers were identified for these coral reefs during the development and calibration of this modeling framework (Table 3.1). The natural terrestrial drivers included groundwater discharge and nutrients loads, derived from groundwater modeling (Figure 3.1.B); and the marine drivers included wave and habitat structure, derived from wave models (Stopa et al. 2013) and remotely-sensed bathymetry (Multibeam and LiDAR) (HMRG 2015) (Figure 3.1.C). The predicted abundance of the benthic indicators were used as drivers for the fish indicators (Figure 3.1.D). To test the effect of human drivers on coral reef communities, we assumed that these natural drivers' remained constant over time, except for the benthic community indicators.

 Table 3.1. Description of the natural drivers used as predictors for the coral reef models. Refer to Section 2.2.4 and Table S2.2

 for more details on the processing methods of the terrestrial and marine drivers, respectively.

Indicator	Metrics	Description					
TERRESTRIAL DRIVERS							
Groundwater	Freshwater <sup>1</sup>	Volume of freshwater discharged yearly					
discharge	N <sup>1</sup>	Mass of dissolved nitrogen.					
	<b>P</b> <sup>1</sup>	Mass of dissolved phosphorus.					
		MARINE DRIVERS					
Wave	Power <sup>2</sup>	Mean wave power derived from a 10 year (2000-2009) SWAN hindcast wave model.	kW.m <sup>-1</sup>				
Geography	Depth <sup>3</sup>	Mean seafloor depth	m				
	Distance to Euclidean distance to the shoreline shore <sup>4</sup>						
Habitat morphology	BPI <sup>3</sup>	Difference in seafloor depth and the mean seafloor depth in an annular neighborhood of specified inner and outer radii; mean values indicate a location's position relative to the surrounding area; values can be positive (ridges), negative (valleys), or zero (flat or constant slope)					
	Slope <sup>3</sup>	Maximum rate of change in seafloor depth between each grid cell and its neighbors	Degree				
Habitat complexity	Plan curvature <sup>3</sup>	$\sqrt{\text{ature}^3}$ Seafloor curvature perpendicular to the line of maximum slope; value indicates whether flow will converge or diverge over a point; values can be – (concave), + (convex), or 0 (flat) (mean). A proxy for spur and groove effects on water flow.					
	Profile curvature <sup>3</sup>	Seafloor curvature along the line of maximum slope; value indicates whether flow will accelerate or decelerate over the curve; values can be + (concave), - (convex), or 0 (flat) (mean). A proxy for spur and groove effects on water flow.	Radians.m <sup>-</sup>				

# 3. REEF RESILIENCE TO HUMAN DRIVERS

	Rugosity <sup>3</sup> Measure of small-scale variations of amplitude in the height of a surface (me						
		Value range from 1 (flat) to infinity.					
Habitat	Aspect <sup>3</sup>	Downslope direction of maximum rate of change in seafloor depth between each					
exposure		grid cell and its neighbors (sine and cosine circular mean, circular standard					
		deviation)					
Benthic groups	CCA <sup>5</sup>	<sup>5</sup> Spatially predicted abundance of crustose coralline algae					
(applied to the	Coral <sup>5</sup>	Spatially predicted abundance of coral.					
fish models	Macroalgae <sup>5</sup>	Igae <sup>5</sup> Spatially predicted abundance of macroalgae % c					
only)	ly) Turf algae <sup>5</sup> Spatially predicted abundance of turf algae						
<sup>1</sup> Groundwater models (Section 2.2.4)							
<sup>2</sup> SWAN hindcast wave model (Stopa et al. 2013)							
<sup>3</sup> Bathymetry synthesis (HMRG 2015)							
<sup>4</sup> Coastline (OP 2000)							
<sup>5</sup> Coral reef models (Section 2.2.7)							

#### 3.2.4 Modeling human drivers

#### 3.2.5.1 Local human drivers: Coastal development scenarios

Three Coastal Development scenarios, ranging from Moderate, to Severe and Extreme were designed (Table 3.2.a) and implemented using the groundwater models calibrated on current conditions (Chapter 1). The total nutrient load delivery to the coast was calculated for each coastal development scenario based on the nutrient loading rates associated with each land use type (Table 3.2.b, Figure 2.1 & Section 2.2.4.3 for more details). For all coastal development scenarios at Hā'ena, it was assumed that the cesspools in the coastal zone were converted to septic tanks based on the recent statewide cesspool ban (Table 3.2a) (HAR Title 11, Chapter 62). At Ka'ūpūlehu, all proposed coastal development scenarios assumed low intensity development and two wastewater disposal types were considered (Table 3.2.a). For each parcel of light intensity development, a 0.4 ha lot with 60 percent green space, and 4.5 persons per residence was assumed. The moderate scenario assumed that wastewater was collected by sewer system, delivered to a wastewater treatment plant and disposed of through an injection well (Table 3.2.a). The nutrient quality of the effluent was scaled to the proposed development and assumed the same loading and discharge rates as the existing injection well (Table 3.2.b). The severe and extreme scenarios assumed that the wastewater was disposed of through septic tanks (Table 3.2.a).

In addition to increases in housing, each scenario considered increases in lawns and golf courses (Table 3.2.a). Typically, green spaces increase the nutrient flux due to increased recharge from irrigation and nutrient leaching from fertilizers. The coastal nutrient flux from green spaces were based on assumed landscaping practices, particularly irrigation (Engott 2011) and fertilization rates. At Hā'ena, the groundwater recharge over green spaces was computed and assumed no irrigation given high rainfall in the area. Based on an irrigation rate of 0.00468 m.d<sup>-1</sup> (5,000 gpd.ac<sup>-1</sup>, CH2MHill 2003), rainfall of 1.01 mm.d<sup>-1</sup> and an evapotranspiration rate of 0.00371 m.d<sup>-1</sup>, the groundwater recharge rate over green spaces in Ka'ūpūlehu was assumed 0.00191 m.d<sup>-1</sup> (Engott 2011).

**Table 3.2.a. Coastal development scenarios.** Moderate and severe scenarios considered different coastal development scenarios at each site. The extreme scenario proposed similar coastal development intensity to enable comparisons between sites.

Sites	Scenarios	Coastal development					
		Houses (units)	Green space / Golf course (km²)				
Hā'ena	Present	156 houses (on cesspool)	Green space (0.06 km <sup>2</sup> )				
	Moderate	260 houses (130 on cesspool and 206 on septic tanks)	Green space (0.2 km <sup>2</sup> )				
	Severe	336 houses (130 on cesspool and 130 on septic tanks)	Green space (0.3 km <sup>2</sup> )				
	Extreme	500 houses (130 on cesspool and 370 on septic tanks)	Green space (0.7 km <sup>2</sup> ) & 1 golf course				
Ka'pūlehu	Present	165 houses (1 wastewater injection well)	Green space (0.18 km <sup>2</sup> ) & 1 golf course (1.87 km <sup>2</sup> )				
	Moderate	201 houses (2 wastewater injection well)	Green space (1.4 km <sup>2</sup> ) & 1 golf course (1.87 km <sup>2</sup> )				
	Severe	201 houses (septic tanks)	Green space (1.4 km <sup>2</sup> ) & 1 golf course (1.87 km <sup>2</sup> )				
	Extreme	500 houses (septic tanks)	Green space (3 km <sup>2</sup> ) & 2 golf courses				

Table 3.2.b. Nutrient loading rates per land use type.

Land Use type	N Load	P Load	Wastewater	Source	
	(kg/yr)	(kg/yr)	Discharge		
			(m <sup>3</sup> /yr/OSDS)		
House (cesspool)	38	8.3	435	(Lowe et al. 2010, Tasato &	
				Dugan 1980, U.S. EPA 2002)	
House (septic tank)	15	0.5	435	(Lowe et al. 2010, Tasato &	
				Dugan 1980, U.S. EPA 2002)	
Wastewater Injection	843	1300	160,600	(State of Hawai'i 2016b)	
(current)					
Wastewater Injection	460	596	87,600	(State of Hawai'i 2016b)	
(future)					
Hā'ena green space	4.5/ha +	0.2/ha+	na	(Giambelluca et al. 2012, 2014;	
	R	R		Shade 1995)	
Ka'ūpūlehu golf	49/ha	13.5/ha	na	(Throssell et al. 2009b)	
courses/green space					

#### 3.2.5.2 Global human driver: Climate change scenarios

Climate change scenarios were designed and implemented to spatially represent the potential effect on coral bleaching. An average greenhouse gas emissions scenario (A1) was assumed for the years 2000–2099 A.D. (21st century), which corresponds to a future with very rapid economic growth, global population peaks in mid-century and declines thereafter, a rapid introduction of new and more efficient technologies, and an energy system with no heavy dependence on one particular source (see IPCC [2007] for more details). Based on SST and atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) projections, shallow-water scleractinian coral cover loss due to bleaching was estimated based on a combination of growth and mortality models (Hoeke et al. 2011). Based on a projected increase in global temperatures of 2-4° C over the coming century (per Scenario A1B) with a threshold for heat stress increasing by 0.1° C every decade (IPCC 2007); the model suggests a coral cover decline of 25% to 75% for the main Hawaiian Islands by the end of the century (Hoeke et al. 2011). These scenarios should not be considered quantitative forecasts of percent coral cover change for these specific locations and should be considered as large-scale probability-based estimates of the relative impact of predicted increases in SST and CO<sub>2</sub> on corals in the main Hawaiian Archipelago over the next 100 years (Hoeke et al. 2011). In spite of large uncertainties and debate surrounding coral adaptation to heat stress (Baker et al. 2008), this analysis quantitatively illustrated the potential for large decline in coral cover in the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Hoeke et al. 2011). Based on these projections and given that deeper waters are cooler and can reduce the impact of increase in SST (Bridge et al. 2013), we designed 3 scenarios: a Moderate and a Severe Bleaching scenario which forced a negative 25% and 50% scaling factor respectively, on all current coral cover for reef areas shallower than 5 m, and an Extreme Bleaching scenario which forced a 50% scaling factor on coral cover in reef areas between 0 and 5m and a 25% scaling factors for areas between 5 and 10m (Figure 3.2).



**Figure 3.2. Maps of coral cover per climate change scenario.** Each map shows the change in coral cover under proposed climate change bleaching scenario at Hā'ena (left) and Ka'ūpūlehu (right).

### 3.2.5 Modeling scenarios impacts

I applied the spatial predictive coral reef models developed in Chapter 1 to simulate the benthic and fish communities under coastal development and climate change scenarios for Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu. For each site, the calibrated coral reef models were used to predict the potential distribution of each benthic and fish indicator for each 60 m<sup>2</sup> grid cell according to future scenario. The modeled predictions were used to produce maps of benthic and fish indicator distributions under future scenarios. First, the benthic groups were spatially predicted as a function of the natural drivers (Table 3.1) and projected human scenarios. Then the resource fishes were predicted as a function of the natural drivers (including the predicted benthic community) and future human driver scenarios. Spatial predictions were performed in R (R Core Team 2014) using the dismo (Hijmans et al. 2014) and raster (Hijmans 2014) packages.

#### 3.2.6 Scenario analysis

The predicted spatial distribution of benthic and fish indicators under each coastal development, climate change, and combined scenarios were compared against present distributions using a permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) (McArdle & Anderson 2001) in Primer PERMANOVA+ software (Anderson et al. 2008). PERMANOVA partitions and tests simultaneously multiple response variables, represented in an Euclidean distance resemblance matrix, as a function of one or more environmental drivers in an analysis of variance (ANOVA), including fixed factors and interactions treatments (i.e., scenarios) (Anderson et al. 2008). The PERMANOVA tested for significant differences in terms of mean distribution and composition of the benthic and fish assemblages for each site. The permutation p-values provided an exact test of each individual null hypothesis (Anderson et al. 2008) and were not corrected for multiple comparisons since *ad hoc* experiment-wise corrections, such as Bonferroni, are known to be overly conservative for PERMANOVA analyses (Day & Quinn 1989). P-values were calculated based on 9,999 permutations of the residuals under a reduced model, thus avoiding the assumption of normally distributed errors (Anderson et al. 2008).

By assessing the main effect and how interactions between human drivers can manifest within coral reef benthic and fish communities, we determined if and how benthic and fish communities

differed from present conditions under each independent and combined human driver scenarios. Significant p-values indicated whether projected future benthic and fish community structure significantly differed from present community structures, in terms of mean composition. This can be interpreted as detecting whether the current coral reef community is likely to undergo a significant change under alternative human drivers' scenarios. This study sought to identify environmental conditions that may potentially lead to phase shifts or broad-scale changes in species composition and function, so p-values less than 0.1 were reported as significantly different from present conditions to identify potential ecosystem change and buffer against model uncertainty.

#### 3.3. Results

#### 3.3.1 Effect of coastal development on groundwater nutrient flux

Our groundwater models results showed that the type of wastewater technology employed can influence the nutrient load discharge (Figure 3.3). Under the Moderate Coastal Development, existing coastal houses and new houses were assumed to switch from cesspool to septic tanks, which resulted in a 50% decrease from present conditions in human-derived nutrients at Hā'ena. At Ka'ūpūlehu, the Moderate Coastal Development scenario assumed wastewater was discharged through an injection well, which resulted in 8% and 35% increase in nitrogen and phosphorus, respectively. Under the Severe Coastal Development scenario, the proposed development combined with the upgraded wastewater technology resulted in a 16% and 22%, respectively of human-derived nitrogen and phosphorus loads at Hā'ena. At Ka'ūpūlehu, the Severe Coastal Development scenario assumed to the Moderate Coastal Development (wastewater injection well). Under the Extreme Coastal Development scenario, the increase in nutrients was larger at Hā'ena (N: 500% and P: 278%) than Ka'ūpūlehu (N: 61% and P: 44%), when compared to Present conditions. The change in nutrient fluxes in groundwater resulted in change in coastal water quality (Figures 3.4 and 3.5).



Figure 3.3. Coastal nutrients export per coastal development scenario. Nutrient fluxes are expressed in terms of natural (green) and human-derived (orange) sources.



Figure 3.4. Coastal development scenarios at Hā'ena. Each map represents the modeled flux of nitrate and phosphate combined with modeled coastal plume for each coastal development scenario.



**Figure 3.5. Coastal development scenarios at Ka'ūpūlehu.** Each map represent the modeled flux of nitrate and phosphate combined with modeled coastal plume for each coastal development scenario.

### 3.3.2 Effect of coastal development on coral reefs

The projected mean composition of the benthic community of Hā'ena did not differ significantly from present conditions under all coastal development scenarios, while Ka'ūpūlehu differed significantly under the Extreme Coastal Development scenario (Table 3.4). The differences detected in the Ka'ūpūlehu benthic community was attributed to a projected decrease in CCA and an increase in turf algae (Figures 3.6 & S3.3). Similarly, the fish community of Ka'ūpūlehu significantly differed from present conditions under the Extreme Coastal Development scenario, while the fish community of Hā'ena did not differ for any of the coastal development scenarios (Table 3.4). The differences detected in the fish community of Ka'ūpūlehu was attributed to a decrease in browser biomass (Figures 3.6 & S3.3).

Table 3.4. PERMANOVA pseudo-F values for the benthic and fish communities per scenario. Coastal development (DVMT), climate change (CLIM), and combined (CLIMxDVMT) scenarios with 3 levels of intensity (A = Moderate, B = Severe, and C = Extreme). P-values <  $0.05^*$  and  $<0.01^{**}$  are reported as significantly different from present conditions.

Reef	Sites	Hā'ena			Ka'ūpūlehu		
	Scenarios	Α	В	С	Α	В	С
Benthic	DVMT	0.07	0.04	0.17	0.23	0.33	2.39**
	CLIM	2.58**	3.73**	5.29**	3.15**	6.59**	8.29**
	CLIMxDVMT	2.58**	3.73**	5.3**	6.62**	6.62**	8.62**
Fish	DVMT	0.34	0.21	1.31	0.21	0.35	2.51**
	CLIM	0.6	0.87	1.25	0.85	1.76*	1.78*
	CLIMxDVMT	0.7	0.9	1.77*	0.88	1.80*	3.00**



**Figure 3.6.** Average percent change of coral reef indicators per scenario. The x-axis represents the percent change from current conditions (marked by the red dashed line). Climate change scenarios (CLIM) and coastal development scenarios (DVMT) range from moderate, severe, and extreme. Refer to Figure S3.5 for the distribution of these predictions.

### 3.3.3 Effect of climate change on coral reefs

The projected effect of climate change on the benthic community was similar in Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu and differed significantly under all climate change scenarios at both sites (Table 3.4, Figures S3.2 & S3.3). These differences are due to the specific coral cover loss imposed as a proxy for climate change bleaching impacts in the region. Coral cover loss was higher in shallower and backreef areas at Hā'ena and along the reef slopes at Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure 3.6). Under all Bleaching scenarios, the fish community of Hā'ena did not differ significantly from present conditions, while Ka'ūpūlehu significantly differed from present conditions under the Severe and Extreme Bleaching scenarios (Table 3.4). The effect detected in the Ka'ūpūlehu fish community was attributed to a decrease in grazers/detritivores and scrapers/excavators (Figures 3.6 & S3.4).

### 3.3.4 Effects of coastal development and climate change on coral reefs

At both sites, the benthic community significantly differed from the present community under all the combined coastal development and climate change bleaching scenarios. However, no significant interaction was detected at Hā'ena because climate change was the dominant driver (Table 3.4). Conversely, at Ka'ūpūlehu a significant interaction was detected in the benthic community under the combined Extreme Coastal Development and Bleaching scenario (Table 3.4). Ka'ūpūlehu benthic community also differed significantly under both the Extreme Coastal Development and Extreme Bleaching scenarios independently, which we can interpret a significant interaction. The differences detected in the benthic community of Ka'ūpūlehu can be attributed to a decrease in CCA and coral cover, combined with an increase in turf algae (Figures 3.6 & S3.3).

For the fish community, significant differences were detected at both sites. At Hā'ena, a significant interaction was detected under the Extreme combined scenarios, (Table 3.4), attributable to an increase in grazers/detritivores biomass combined with a decrease in scrapers/excavators and piscivores biomass (Figures 3.6 & S3.2). At Ka'ūpūlehu, the fish community differed significantly under the Severe and Extreme combined scenarios (Table 3.4), due to a projected decrease in biomass for all herbivores functional groups (browsers, grazers/detritivores, and scrapers/excavators) (Figures 3.6 & S3.3). Under the Severe combined scenario, no interactions

were detected and climate change was the dominant driver, while an interaction was detected under the Extreme combined scenario.

#### 3.4. Discussion

This study used predictive ridge-to-reef social-ecological models calibrated using local data to determine the potential effect of multiple co-occurring human impacts on coral reefs, under different natural disturbance regimes in Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu (Chapter 1). The results support two important principles when managing coral reefs on high oceanic islands in the face of climate change. First, it is critical to consider the combined impact of multiple human and natural drivers, and potential interactions between them, to develop effective management actions (Crain et al. 2008, Halpern et al. 2008a, Hughes et al. 2007, Nyström et al. 2000). Second, ridge-to-reef management actions that improve water and habitat quality can play a significant role in promoting coral reef resilience under the anticipated effects of climate change (Gurney et al. 2013, Maina et al. 2013). Our findings reveal that Hā'ena coral reef community may be more resilient to increases in human drivers compared with Ka'ūpūlehu, due to more intense and variable natural disturbances (waves and freshwater) (Chapter 1). Conversely, the lack of natural disturbances to dilute and mix land-based nutrients and the stronger dependence on habitat conditions and water quality (Chapter 1), renders Ka'ūpūlehu more vulnerable to human impacts. However, changes in the coral reef community were detected at both sites under Extreme Coastal Development and Bleaching scenarios, implying that although Hā'ena may have a higher buffer against climate change and/or coastal development impact, both sites can become vulnerable to a large increase in these human disturbances. My analyses also revealed that managing local human drivers could support higher quality habitat, which can act both as refuge from bleaching for coral reefs sheltered from natural disturbances and nurseries for coral reefs subject to intense natural disturbance regimes. Managing local human drivers can also support higher reef fish biomass in both types of oceanic island environments.
# 3.4.1 Human driver effects on coral reefs

#### 3.4.1.1 Effect of coastal development on coral reefs

The results of this study imply that Hā'ena coral reef community is less sensitive to coastal development compared to Ka'ūpūlehu (Table 3.4). These findings suggest that coral reef systems largely governed by natural drivers, like Hā'ena, may be more resilient to local human drivers compared to coral reef systems governed by habitat and local drivers, such as Ka'ūpūlehu (Chapter 1). The observed difference between study sites in resilience to land-based nutrients could be a result of Hā'ena benefiting from dilution and mixing attributable to high wave power and freshwater discharge. Ka'ūpūlehu is notable for naturally high nutrient concentrations in its groundwater (Fackrell 2016) combined with human derived nutrient inputs from existing coastal development (Chapter 1). Vermeij et al. (2010) showed that local nutrient enrichment can foster turf algae overgrowth and reduce CCA and coral recovery capacity after disturbances, through loss of space availability (Smith et al. 2006). Therefore delivery of nutrient enriched groundwater can negatively affect coral reef calcifiers and promote benthic algae growth (Fabricius 2005, Pastorok & Bilyard 1985, Vermeij et al. 2010), particularly in dry ridge-to-reef systems sheltered from natural disturbances. Although the scenario analysis did not reveal a significant impact from coastal development on Hā'ena coral reef community, Chapter 1 identified positive relationships between land-based nutrients and benthic algae (macroalgae and turf algae) (Figure 2.9) and found higher levels of turf and macroalgae in the nearshore and back-reef areas of the Makua reef complex (Figure S3.2). This suggests that increases in land-based nutrients in groundwater due coastal development upstream from these ecologically important areas could negatively impact these habitats, particularly during summer when wave action is reduced (Hoeke et al. 2013). Given that turf algae can proliferate rapidly and lead to phase shifts when exposed to land-based nutrients (Fabricius 2005, Vermeij et al. 2010), these results suggest that turf algae may have a competitive advantage over corals and CCA under nutrient enriched waters at both sites but particularly Ka'ūpūlehu.

#### 3.4.1.2 Effect of climate change on coral reefs

The results of this study suggest that Ka'ūpūlehu is more sensitive to bleaching from climate change compared to Hā'ena (Table 3.4). Based on projected SST and associated bleaching for the region (Hoeke et al. 2011), the coral populations of both Hā'ena and Ka'ūpūlehu are likely to be impacted. At both sites, the imposed coral cover loss from bleaching under the Moderate Bleaching scenario represented a significant impact when compared to the current coral population. Bleaching impact seems to particularly affect corals in back reef area of the Makua complex at Hā'ena and corals in the shallow areas of Ka'ūpūlehu (Figure 3.2). The results for the fish community implied that Hā'ena community is not significantly affected by the loss of coral cover to bleaching alone, while Ka'ūpūlehu community was significantly impacted under both Severe and Extreme Bleaching conditions. This difference of susceptibility to climate change likely results from the different benthic communities among locations resulting from different wave and freshwater disturbance regimes (Chapter 1). In terms of reef calcifiers, differences in coral and CCA abundance patterns among sites indicate that CCA is out-competed by coral under wave conditions suited to coral growth, but flourish in wave conditions adverse to coral growth (Engels et al. 2004, Friedlander & Parrish 1998a, Friedlander et al. 2014, Jokiel et al. 2004). At Hā'ena, corals are restricted to back reef areas away from freshwater influence, which are protected from high wave power (Figure 2.10) (Chapter 1, Goodell 2015). Conversely, the coral population at Ka'ūpūlehu is not limited by large freshwater runoff and high wave power, and is therefore more widespread and provides important habitat for resource fishes (Figure 2.11) (Chapter 1). As a result, the fish community, particularly scrapers and excavators, are more vulnerable to coral bleaching and habitat loss at Ka'ūpūlehu, compared to Hā'ena, where reef fishes are more dependent on CCA (Figure 2.9).

# 3.4.1.3 Effect of coastal development and climate change on coral reefs

Under the combined effects of coastal development and climate change, the projected benthic community showed no significant interactions at Hā'ena but indicated a shift at Ka'ūpūlehu. At Hā'ena, the significant difference detected in the benthic community resulted from the dominant effect of climate change. Given the weak but positive relationships between land-based nutrients and benthic algae (macroalgae and turf algae) (Figure 2.9) and the higher abundance of benthic

algae in the nearshore and back-reef areas of the Makua reef complex (Figure 2.10), our results suggest that coral cover loss from bleaching combined with land-based nutrients could promote benthic algae growth, particularly during summer when wave action is reduced (Hoeke et al. 2013). Based on projected changes, the ecological shift at Ka'ūpūlehu can be characterized by a decrease in CCA and coral cover combined with an increase in turf algae (Figure 3.5). CCA can promote coral settlement (Harrington et al. 2004, Price 2010) and corals provide habitat for reef fishes (Green & Bellwood 2009), while turf algae compete for space with coral reef calcifiers (McCook 2001, Vermeij et al. 2010) and inhibit settlement of fish larvae (Vermeij & Sandin 2008, Vermeij et al. 2009). Thus, the projected changes in the benthic community at Ka'ūpūlehu suggests recovery from bleaching events may be hindered by the effects of increased coastal development.

The results for the fish community suggest that some synergistic effects may be taking place under the extreme combined scenarios at both sites (Table 3.4). At Hā'ena, the difference in the fish community structure can be attributed to an increase of grazers/detritivores and a decrease in scrapers/excavators and piscivores biomass (Figure 3.5). While at Ka'ūpūlehu, the difference stems from a decrease in total herbivore biomass (browsers, grazers/detritivores, and scrapers/excavators) (Figure 3.5). On coral reefs, herbivores can structure benthic communities by controlling the abundance of turf and macroalgae (Littler et al. 2006, Smith et al. 2010). Therefore, the extent to which a reef system possesses these functional groups is fundamental in determining its capacity to resist phase shifts and recover in the face of disturbance (Bellwood et al. 2004). Because the fish community did not change under climate change alone at Hā'ena, this study suggests that in places with high natural disturbances, managing local human drivers can minimize climate change impacts on resource fishes. This differs from Ka'ūpūlehu where the fish community was impacted by climate change alone, indicating that in places with low natural disturbances there is a need to protect deep water habitats which are removed from bleaching impacts.

# 3.4.2 Management implications

Although managing local human drivers has been widely advocated to promote resilience of coral reefs in the face of climate change (Hughes et al. 2007), the degree to which managing these local drivers can benefit coral reefs remains challenging to quantify and differs among places. This research supports the paradigm that managing local-scale human drivers is critical to the resilience of coral reefs in face of climate change (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007, Pandolfi et al. 2011). The consequences for coral reefs due to the interactions between climate change and coastal development can be used to illustrate the potential for local management to alleviate cumulative impacts (Kenneth 2016). We found that the impacts on resource fish biomass from coral bleaching could be minimized through ridge-to-reef management aimed at providing better water and habitat quality to foster coral reef resistance to disturbances and/or recovery post-disturbances. However, the extent to which improving water quality can influence coral reef resilience varies among locations and natural disturbance regimes. At Hā'ena, the benthic community is likely to be impacted by projected climate induced coral bleaching alone, particularly in back-reef areas where water circulation and depth are more restricted, while the fish community becomes vulnerable to climate change when combined with extreme coastal development. At Ka'ūpūlehu, the benthic and the fish communities are both vulnerable to coastal development and climate change alone and in combination, particularly in shallow areas. This analysis of the cumulative impacts of climate induced bleaching and water quality indicate that management of local human drivers can significantly influence coral reef resilience under a changing climate.

The major source of human-derived nutrients are wastewater disposal via cesspools for Hā'ena and green spaces or golf courses for Ka'ūpūlehu (Chapter 1). In both sites, avoiding groundwater contamination through the use of more effective OSDS adapted to volcanic islands and proper maintenance of existing OSDS (Babcock et al. 2014), can reduce land-based nutrients and improve nearshore water quality and thereby reduce coral reef vulnerability to projected climate change impacts. Improvement in water quality could also be achieved by regulating landscaping practices and fertilizer applications to green spaces and golf courses (Richmond 1993, Valiela & Bowen 2002). In addition, identifying and accounting for the nutrient ratios and limiting nutrients can reduce the risk of coral reef phase shifts (Derse et al. 2007, Prouty et al. 2016). For instance, the

ecological responses of benthic algae to different nutrients at each site suggest that coral reef waters are nitrogen limited in Hā'ena, as was shown in nearby Hanalei Bay (Derse et al. 2007) and phosphate could be a limiting nutrient in Ka'ūpūlehu, as was found in Honokōhau Bay also located on the Kona coast (Prouty et al. 2016). Therefore, adopting land use practices that reduce exposure of watersheds and coral reefs to degraded coastal water quality could reduce coral reefs vulnerability to climate change impacts and promote recovery post-bleaching events, especially in dry regions or shallow back-reef areas with limited water circulation.

Management actions that protect key habitats (Bridge et al. 2013) and prevent loss of herbivores (Bellwood et al. 2004) can alleviate risks of coral reef phase shifts under nutrient enrichment (Kenneth 2016) and climate change. To foster coral reef resilience to climate change, it is important to identify and protect reef areas where environmental conditions reduce the likelihood of temperature-related bleaching and mortality (i.e., areas naturally resistant to bleaching) and reef areas that are more likely to recover after bleaching and mortality (i.e., areas naturally resilient) (Bridge et al. 2013). In Hā'ena, protecting shallow backreef areas away from land-based influence that are protected from high wave power, provides habitats for coral settlement and fosters recovery of coral reef communities after natural and human disturbance events. The backreef habitats of Makua form a lagoon (named Kai Kua'au o Hā'ena) and were identified as an important nursery area for fishes (Goodell 2015) and granted greater protection from human activities under the CBSFA rules (DAR 2016). At Ka'ūpūlehu, the geomorphology and coral reef dynamics call for protection of deep water areas (Chapter 1), which can act as refuges from land-based influence and climate change (Bridge et al. 2013) by providing habitat for corals and shelter for key resource fishes. However, these coral refuges can work more effectively when coupled with land-based practices that minimize land-based source pollution, otherwise the depth range of coral distribution may be reduced to a narrower euphotic zone (Bahr et al. 2015). In addition to habitat management, protection of herbivores can potentially compensate for some of the lost competitive ability of calcifying organisms (CCA and coral) over benthic algae (macro- and turf algae) under climate change (Adam et al. 2015). By consuming benthic algae, herbivores also free space for CCA and coral larvae recruitment (Bellwood et al. 2004, Green & Bellwood 2009), which is important in the context of coral reef resistance and recovery from climate change.

# **3.5.** Conclusions

Chapter 1 highlighted the different disturbance regimes of these two ridge-to-reef systems and the need for place-based management actions. This chapter demonstrated the pivotal role that human disturbances can play in different oceanic island environments when considering ride-to-reef management. Our results confirm that coral reefs managed from ridge-to-reef have a much better chance of withstanding impacts from climate change. This study also helps identify land and sea pathways as well as management actions that can foster the resilience of these ridge-to-reef systems to multiple human drivers, via effective management "levers" (Kenneth 2016), such as key sources of nutrients and areas important for coral reef resilience. In addition, I illustrate the utility of decision support tools to environmental management and climatic scenarios.

# Supplementary Material



**Figure S3.1. Hā'ena benthic indicators distribution per extreme scenarios.** The benthic reef indicators are shown in each row and each column represents Extreme Coastal Development, Climate Change and their combination.



**Figure S3.2. Hā'ena resource fish indicators distribution per extreme scenario.** The reef fish indicators are shown in each row and each column represents Extreme Coastal Development, Climate Change and their combination.



**Figure S3.3. Ka'ūpūlehu benthic indicators distribution per extreme scenarios.** The benthic reef indicators are shown in each row and each column represents Extreme Coastal Development, Climate Change and their combination.



**Figure S3.4. Ka'ūpūlehu resource fish indicators distribution per extreme scenario.** The reef fish indicators are shown in each row and each column represents Extreme Coastal Development, Climate Change and their combination.

# 3. REEF RESILIENCE TO HUMAN DRIVERS



**Figure S3.5.** Coral reef indicators abundance change per scenario in Hā'ena (top) and Ka'ūpūlehu (bottom). Climate change scenarios (CLIM) and coastal development scenarios (DVMT) range from Moderate (A), Severe (B), and Extreme (C).

# References

Adam TC, Burkepile DE, Ruttenberg BI, Paddack MJ. 2015. Herbivory and the resilience of Caribbean coral reefs: knowledge gaps and implications for management. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 520:1–20

Anderson MJ, Gorley RN, Clarke KR. 2008. PERMANOVA+ for Primer: Guide to Software and Statistical Methods

Babcock RW, Lamichhane KM, Cummings MJ, Cheong GH. 2014. Condition assessment survey of onsite sewage disposal systems (OSDSs) in Hawai'i. Water Sci. Technol. 70(6):1083–1089

Bahr KD, Jokiel PL, Toonen RJ. 2015. The unnatural history of Kāne'ohe Bay: coral reef resilience in the face of centuries of anthropogenic impacts. PeerJ. 3:e950

Baker AC, Glynn PW, Riegl B. 2008. Climate change and coral reef bleaching: An ecological assessment of long-term impacts, recovery trends and future outlook. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 80(4):435–71

Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M. 2004. Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature. 429(6994):827–833

Bridge TCL, Hughes TP, Guinotte JM, Bongaerts P. 2013. Call to protect all coral reefs. Nat. Clim. Change. 3(6):528–30

Calhoun RS, Fletcher CH. 1999. Measured and predicted sediment yield from a subtropical, heavy rainfall, steep-sided river basin: Hanalei, Kauai, Hawaiian Islands. Geomorphology. 30(3):213–26 Crain CM, Kroeker K, Halpern BS. 2008. Interactive and cumulative effects of multiple human stressors in marine systems. Ecol. Lett. 11(12):1304–1315

DAR. 2016. DRAFT Management Plan for the Hā'ena Community-Based Subsistence Fisheries Area, Kauai. Division of Aquatic Resources, Hawai'i Department of Land and Natural Resources Day RW, Quinn GP. 1989. Comparisons of treatments after an analysis of variance in ecology. Ecol. Monogr. 59(4):433–463

Derse E, Knee KL, Wankel SD, Kendall C, Berg Carl J, Paytan A. 2007. Identifying Sources of Nitrogen to Hanalei Bay, Kauai, Utilizing the Nitrogen Isotope Signature of Macroalgae. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41(15):5217–23

Engels MS, Fletcher CH, Field ME, Storlazzi CD, Grossman EE, et al. 2004. Holocene reef accretion: southwest Molokai, Hawai'i, USA. J. Sediment. Res. 74(2):255–269

Engott JA. 2011. A Water-Budget Model and Assessment of Groundwater Recharge for the Island of Hawai'i. 2011–5078

Fabricius KE. 2005. Effects of terrestrial runoff on the ecology of corals and coral reefs: review and synthesis. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50(2):125–46

Fackrell J. 2016. Geochemical Evolution of Hawaiian Groundwater. In Natural and Anthropogenic Controls on Groundwater Nutrient and Dissolved Inorganic Carbon Concentrations; West Hawai'i, USA, pp. 68–99. University of Hawai'i, Dept. of Geology and Geophysics. Phd Dissertation ed.

Friedlander A, Goodel W, Stamoulis KA. 2014. Ecological Assessment of Hā'ena reef habitats. Fisheries Ecology Research Lab, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa

Friedlander AM, Parrish JD. 1998. Habitat characteristics affecting fish assemblages on a Hawaiian coral reef. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 224(1):1–30

Friedlander AM, Shackeroff JM, Kittinger JN. 2013. Customary marine resource knowledge and use in contemporary Hawai 'i 1. Pac. Sci. 67(3):441–460

Giambelluca TW, Chen Q, Frazier AG, Price JP, Chen Y-L, et al. 2012. Online Rainfall Atlas of Hawai'i. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 94(3):313–16

Giambelluca TW, Shuai X, Barnes ML, Alliss RJ, Longman RJ, et al. 2014. Evapotranspiration of Hawai'i. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers—Honolulu District, and the Commission on Water Resource Management, State of Hawai'i.

Goodell W. 2015. Coupling remote sensing with in-situ surveys to determine reef fish habitat associations for the design of marine protected areas. Masters Diss.

Green AL, Bellwood DR. 2009. Monitoring Functional Groups of Herbivorous Reef Fishes as Indicators of Coral Reef Resilience : A Practical Guide for Coral Reef Managers in the Asia Pacific Region. IUCN

Guisan A, Thuiller W. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecol. Lett. 8(9):993–1009

Gurney GG, Melbourne-Thomas J, Geronimo RC, Aliño PM, Johnson CR. 2013. Modelling Coral Reef Futures to Inform Management: Can Reducing Local-Scale Stressors Conserve Reefs under Climate Change? PLOS ONE. 8(11):e80137

Halpern BS, McLeod KL, Rosenberg AA, Crowder LB. 2008. Managing for cumulative impacts in ecosystem-based management through ocean zoning. Ocean Coast. Manag. 51(3):203–211

Harrington L, Fabricius K, De'Ath G, Negri A. 2004. Recognition and selection of settlement substrata determine post-settlement survival in corals. Ecology. 85(12):3428–3437

Hijmans RJ. 2014. R Package, Raster: Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling. Software

Hijmans RJ, Phillips S, Leathwick J, Elith J. 2014. R Package, Dismo: Species Distribution Modeling

HMRG. 2015. Bathymetry

Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, et al. 2007. Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. science. 318(5857):1737–1742

Hoeke RK, Jokiel PL, Buddemeier RW, Brainard RE. 2011. Projected changes to growth and mortality of Hawaiian corals over the next 100 years. PloS One. 6(3):e18038

Hoeke RK, Storlazzi CD, Ridd PV. 2013. Drivers of circulation in a fringing coral reef embayment: A wave-flow coupled numerical modeling study of Hanalei Bay, Hawai'i. Cont. Shelf Res. 58:79–95

Hughes TP, Rodrigues MJ, Bellwood DR, Ceccarelli D, Hoegh-Guldberg O, et al. 2007. Phase Shifts, Herbivory, and the Resilience of Coral Reefs to Climate Change. Curr. Biol. 17(4):360–65 IPCC A. 2007. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. IPCC Secretariat Geneva

Jokiel PL, Brown EK, Friedlander A, Rodgers SK, Smith WR. 2004. Hawai'i Coral Reef Assessment and Monitoring Program: Spatial Patterns and Temporal Dynamics in Reef Coral Communities. Pac. Sci. 58(2):159–74

Jokiel PL, Rodgers KS, Walsh WJ, Polhemus DA, Wilhelm TA. 2010. Marine resource management in the Hawaiian Archipelago: the traditional Hawaiian system in relation to the Western approach. J. Mar. Biol. 2011:

Kenneth ARN. 2016. Coral reefs under climate change and ocean acidification: challenges and opportunities for management and policy

Littler MM, Littler DS, Brooks BL. 2006. Harmful algae on tropical coral reefs: Bottom-up eutrophication and top-down herbivory. Harmful Algae. 5(5):565–85

Lowe KS, Tucholke MB, Tomaras JM, Conn K, Hoppe C, et al. 2010. Influent Constituent Characteristics of the Modern Waste Stream from Single Sources. Water Environ. Res. Found. 202:

Maina J, Moel H de, Zinke J, Madin J, McClanahan T, Vermaat JE. 2013. Human deforestation outweighs future climate change impacts of sedimentation on coral reefs. Nat. Commun. 4:1986

McArdle BH, Anderson MJ. 2001. Fitting Multivariate Models to Community Data: A Comment on Distance-Based Redundancy Analysis. Ecology. 82(1):290–97

McCook L. 2001. Competition between corals and algal turfs along a gradient of terrestrial influence in the nearshore central Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs. 19(4):419–25

McGregor DP, Morelli P, Matsuoka J, Minerbi L, Becker HA, Vanclay F. 2003. An ecological model of well-being. Int. Handb. Soc. Impact Assess. Concept. Methodol. Adv. 109–126

Minerbi L. 1999. Indigenous management models and protection of the ahupua 'a. Soc. Process Hawai 'i. 39:208–225

Nyström M, Folke C, Moberg F. 2000. Coral reef disturbance and resilience in a human-dominated environment. Trends Ecol. Evol. 15(10):413–17

OP. 2000. Coastlines for the main hawaiian islands

Pandolfi JM, Connolly SR, Marshall DJ, Cohen AL. 2011. Projecting coral reef futures under global warming and ocean acidification. science. 333(6041):418–422

Pastorok RA, Bilyard GR. 1985. Effects of sewage pollution on coral-reef communities. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 21:175–89

Price N. 2010. Habitat selection, facilitation, and biotic settlement cues affect distribution and performance of coral recruits in French Polynesia. Oecologia. 163(3):747–58

Prouty NG, Swarzenski PW, Fackrell J, Johannesson KH, Palmore CD. 2016. Groundwaterderived nutrient and trace element transport to a nearshore Kona coral ecosystem: Experimental mixing model results. J. Hydrol. Reg. Stud.

R Core Team. 2014. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.: R Foundation for Statistical Computing

Richmond RH. 1993. Coral reefs: present problems and future concerns resulting from anthropogenic disturbance. Am. Zool. 33(6):524–536

Shade PJ. 1995. Water Budget for the Island of Kauai, Hawai'i. Water-Resources Investigations Report. 95–4128, Geological Survey (U.S.)

Smith JE, Hunter CL, Smith CM. 2010. The effects of top–down versus bottom–up control on benthic coral reef community structure. Oecologia. 163(2):497–507

Smith JE, Shaw M, Edwards RA, Obura D, Pantos O, et al. 2006. Indirect effects of algae on coral: algae-mediated, microbe-induced coral mortality. Ecol. Lett. 9(7):835–845

State of Hawai'i. 2016. Hawai'i Administrative Rules Title 11, Chapter 62, as revised XXXX, 2016

Stopa JE, Filipot J-F, Li N, Cheung KF, Chen Y-L, Vega L. 2013. Wave energy resources along the Hawaiian Island chain. Renew. Energy. 55:305–21

Tasato GT, Dugan GL. 1980. WRRCTR No.131 Leachate Quality from Lysimeters Treating Domestic Sewage. Water Resources Research Center, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa

Throssell CS, Lyman GT, Johnson ME, Stacey GA, Brown CD. 2009. Golf course environmental profile measures nutrient use and management and fertilizer restrictions, storage, and equipment calibration. Appl. Turfgrass Sci. 6(1):0–0

Thrush SF, Hewitt JE, Dayton PK, Coco G, Lohrer AM, et al. 2009. Forecasting the limits of resilience: integrating empirical research with theory. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. rspb20090661

TNC. 2015. Ka'ūpūlehu Conservation Action Plan. The Nature Conservancy

U.S. EPA. 2002. Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems Manual

Valiela I, Bowen JL. 2002. Nitrogen sources to watersheds and estuaries: role of land cover mosaics and losses within watersheds. Environ. Pollut. 118(2):239–248

Vaughan MB, Vitousek PM. 2013. Mahele: Sustaining Communities through Small-Scale Inshore Fishery Catch and Sharing Networks. Pac. Sci. 67(3):329–44

Vermeij MJ, Sandin SA. 2008. Density-dependent settlement and mortality structure the earliest life phases of a coral population. Ecology. 89(7):1994–2004

Vermeij MJA, Moorselaar I van, Engelhard S, Hörnlein C, Vonk SM, Visser PM. 2010. The Effects of Nutrient Enrichment and Herbivore Abundance on the Ability of Turf Algae to Overgrow Coral in the Caribbean. PLOS ONE. 5(12):e14312

Vermeij MJA, Smith JE, Smith CM, Thurber RV, Sandin SA. 2009. Survival and settlement success of coral planulae: independent and synergistic effects of macroalgae and microbes. Oecologia. 159(2):325–336

Winter KB, Lucas M. 2017. Spatial modeling of social-ecological management zones of the ali'i era on the island of Kaua'i with implications for large-scale biocultural conservation and forest restoration efforts in Hawai'i. Pacific Science [in press, May 2017]. Pac. Sci.

# CHAPTER 4. MANAGING FOR ISLAND RESILIENCE THROUGH SCENARIO PLANNING WITH LINKED LAND-SEA MODELS

# ABSTRACT

Around Oceania, a cultural renaissance rooted in the concern over declining natural resources seeks to revive traditional ridge-to-reef management approaches to promote social and ecological resilience in the face of climate change. However, the differential effectiveness specific of ridgeto-reef management measures remain unclear due to a poor understanding of the individual and cumulative effects of human and natural disturbances. Therefore, new tools are needed to inform resilience management over spatial scales relevant to Oceania islanders. This research focused on a network of 35 watersheds located in Kubulau District (Fiji). Based on local data, I used a novel predictive modeling framework to evaluate differential effects of terrestrial (sediment) and marine (habitat composition and structure) drivers on coral reef communities under various future land cover and climate scenarios. I modeled the effects of three bleaching scenarios (moderate, severe and extreme), combined with deforestation and restoration scenarios, on coral reefs. The results revealed that coral reefs more exposed to chronic sediment disturbance are more resilient to modeled future climate change and deforestation impacts. In contrast, coral reefs more dependent on marine drivers, such as coral cover and habitat conditions, are more susceptible to climate change impacts. Under scenarios of climate change impacts coupled with future deforestation, targeted fish biomass is reduced at marine-driven reefs exposed to plumes from large watersheds. By linking land and sea spatially, we show multiple disturbances operating within ridge-to-reef systems can have cumulative impact on resources important to coastal communities. Therefore, forest conservation actions aimed at reducing sedimentation can promote coral reef resilience to climate change. This research demonstrates that locally developed and data-driven models offer a much-needed opportunity for aiding place-based management of coral reef social-ecological systems in high oceanic island environments.

#### 4.1 Introduction

Protected areas have played a critical role in terrestrial and marine conservation as they are amongst the most effective strategies at mitigating threats to species and habitats (Halpern 2003, Klein et al. 2014). Historically, terrestrial and marine ecosystems have been managed and protected in isolation, where terrestrial protected areas (TPAs) and marine protected areas (MPAs) were often designed without consideration of downstream or upstream activities (Alvarez-Romero et al. 2011, Margules & Pressey 2000). However, TPAs can foster downstream benefits when accounting for land and sea linkages, while the ability of MPAs to promote coral reef resilience beyond their boundaries depends on their design and the cumulative impacts of existing upstream and marine anthropogenic drivers (Grorud-Colvert et al. 2014, Halpern et al. 2008a, Klein et al. 2012b, Stamoulis & Friedlander 2013). In some cases, MPAs may not be effective at addressing land-based source pollution impacts on coral reefs (Fredston-Hermann et al. 2016, Halpern et al. 2013), but may be useful in face of climate change by protecting important functional groups (Bellwood et al. 2004). Therefore, a more coordinated effort in the placement of TPAs and MPAs could help increase benefits and resilience of both terrestrial and marine ecosystems under a changing climate (Klein et al. 2014).

In Fiji, the Government is committed to protecting 30% of its inshore waters and 17% of its land by 2020, and therefore seeks to identify what and where to protect to achieve its goal (including financial mechanisms) (Jupiter et al. 2011). During the Fiji Islands Marine Ecoregion assessment, Kubulau District on Vanua Levu and its traditionally managed fishing grounds (*qoliqoli*) were declared as areas of global significance within the Vatu-i-Ra seascape (Jupiter et al. 2012, WWF 2004). In 2005, numerous community-based marine closures (*tabu*) were combined with three large, permanent no-take MPAs (Namena, Namuri, Nasue) in a network designed based on ecosystem-based management principles (Jupiter & Egli 2011, Weeks & Jupiter 2013). Concurrently, the forests of Kubulau District with a well-preserved hydrological connectivity between land and sea (Jenkins et al. 2010), were also identified as a national priority area for conservation (Olson et al. 2010). In 2009, the high council of chiefs (*Bose Vanua*) endorsed the first comprehensive ridge-to-reef ecosystem based management for Kubulau, which seeks to integrate the management of terrestrial, freshwater, estuarine, coastal, and marine ecosystems throughout the district (Jupiter et al. 2012). Given the importance of land and sea connections, greater understanding of when and how terrestrial and marine conservation can benefit coral reef ecosystems and their fisheries is needed to support these efforts.

I address this knowledge gap by adapting and scaling up the integrated ridge-to-reef framework developed in Chapter 1 coupled with a scenario analysis for the Kubulau region. Streams and rivers are the most obvious lateral pathway to link land and sea when assessing the effects of forest conservation on sedimentation (Kim et al. 2011, Moore 1996). Therefore, I modified the framework developed in Chapter 1 to spatially link the effects of forest conservation actions to coral reef resilience potential through streams and sedimentation. My aim was to identify spatial management priorities and determine how forest and marine conservation actions can promote coral reef ecosystem resilience and fisheries in Oceania. I used Kubulau as a case study to answer the following questions relevant to ridge-to-reef management effectiveness in the context of deforestation and climate change:

- (1) What are the relative effects of terrestrial and marine drivers on coral reef dynamics?
- (2) In what context does forest conservation reduce impact of sediment runoff on coral reefs and their associated targeted fish populations?

# 4.2. Methods

# 4.2.1 Site description: Kubulau, Fiji

The Fiji archipelago consist of over 300 islands, surrounded by fringing and barrier coral reefs, with Viti Levu and Vanua Levu being the two largest islands. Both islands are mountainous with peaks rising to 1300 m, which combined with the prevailing south-east trade winds result in wet windward southeastern sides (originally covered in dense tropical rainforest) and drier leeward western sides (Neall & Trewick 2008). Kubulau District is located on Vanua Levu (Figure 4.1.a), in Bua Province. The watersheds of Kubulau District have between 70%–80% forest cover (Jupiter & Egli 2011) with relatively intact hydrologic connectivity between terrestrial, freshwater, and marine areas (Jenkins et al. 2010). Several perennial streams discharge into the nearshore waters of Kubulau (Figure 4.1.b). The complex geomorphology of Kubulau offers a spectrum of ridge-to-reef systems, ranging from small to large watersheds, which discharge in small to large bays or

narrow lagoons. The diverse marine geomorphology of the area includes fringing and inshore reefs, lagoons, midshelf reefs and a barrier reef (Figure 4.1.c). The population of the district is  $\sim$ 1,000 people spread between ten villages, seven of which are located on the coast.



**Figure 4.1. Study site.** (a) Location of Kubulau study site in the Fijian Archipelago, with the direction of the prevailing southeast trade winds indicated. Village locations are shown within (b) the landscape (watersheds and stream discharge points). Important fishing grounds (tabu and open

areas) for Navatu, Kiobo, Nakorovou and Raviravi villages and reef survey sites are shown in the (c) seascape.

# 4.2.2 Modeling approach

In order to determine the effects of terrestrial and marine drivers combined with anthropogenic drivers on coral reefs and targeted reef fish population in Kubulau District, we adapted and applied the predictive ridge-to-reef modeling framework developed in Chapter 1. The modified modeling framework, coupled sediment models and coral reef predictive models and was calibrated on locally available data (Figure 4.2). First, we designed and modeled three forest management scenarios (Present, Deforestation, and Restoration) based on the input of local communities and three climate change scenarios (Moderate, Severe, and Extreme Bleaching) derived from recorded and projected coral bleaching impacts for the region (Hoeke et al. 2011, Lovell et al. 2004). Important fishing grounds for coastal villages were identified and digitized (Jupiter et al. 2010) and mapped with existing tabu areas (Jupiter & Egli 2011). Sediment modeling was used to quantify the downstream sediment discharge resulting from land cover change, coupled with ArcGIS-based modeling to derive maps of coastal water quality. For the marine drivers, I applied GIS-based modeling of remotely-sensed bathymetry (IKONOS/Quickbird and LiDAR) (Knudby et al. 2011) to quantify and develop maps of the marine habitat structure and composition. The predictive coral reef models were parameterized for a suite of benthic and fish indicators as response variables, derived from reef survey data collected by the Wildlife Conservation Society Fiji Program. The modeled indicators were benthic and fish functional groups that support aspects of coral reef ecological resilience (Green & Bellwood 2009, Smith et al. 2016) and represent important cultural resources (Jupiter & Egli 2011). Boosted Regression Trees (BRTs) were used to characterize the responses of benthic and fish indicators as a function of the terrestrial and marine driver data sets across the Kubulau seascape and map their predicted distributions. Once adapted and calibrated, I applied this framework as a decision support tool to assess the potential benefits of forest conservation on coral reefs marine closures and fishing grounds of 4 villages (Kiobo, Nakorovou, Navatu and Raviravi) by simulating the benthic and fish communities under forest cover and climate change scenarios. The outputs of the coral reef models were used to

evaluate potential changes in the benthic and fish communities under projected scenarios compared to present conditions.



**Figure 4.2. Modeling framework for the ridge-to-reef decision support tool<sup>3</sup>.** Terrestrial drivers (total suspended sediment [TSS]) derived from sediment model SDR (a). Marine drivers (habitat composition and structure) were derived from habitat map (c) and bathymetry data (d). Boosted regression trees were used to evaluate the relative contribution of drivers on variability in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Symbols courtesy of Integration and Application Network (http://ian.umces.edu/symbols/)

benthic and fish indicators (e). Response curves created by fitting modeled predictors to empirical measures of indicators can be used to predictively map changes to coral reef indicators under different climate and land use scenarios (f).

# 4.2.3 Coral reef indicators

To assess coral reef dynamics and predicted ecological responses to sedimentation and bleaching, I considered the abundance of four benthic (% cover) and four fish (kg/ha) groups based on their functional roles and importance as biocultural resources (Table 4.1) (Green & Bellwood 2009, Smith et al. 2016). The benthic functional groups included calcifying organisms (crustose coralline algae [CCA] and coral) and benthic algae (turf algae and macroalgae) (refer to Section 2.3 for more details). Resource fishes identified as important for subsistence and cultural practices by the local Fijian communities (e.g., Acanthuridae, Carangidae, Carcharhinidae, Kyphosidae, Labridae, Lethrinidae, Lutjanidae, Mullidae, Scaridae, Serranidae, Siganidae, Sphyraenidae) (Jupiter & Egli 2011) were modeled according to their functional role to track ecological resilience (see Green & Bellwood 2009 for classification): (1) browsers, (2) grazers/detritivores, (3) scrapers/excavators, and (4) piscivores (refer to Table S4.1 for information on the species composition). The extent to which a reef system possess these functional groups is fundamental to determine its capacity to resist phase shifts and recover in the face of disturbance (Edwards et al. 2014). We derived the abundance of these indicators from reef survey data collected by the Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS) Fiji Program.

Туре	Code	Metric	Source	Description
	CCA	Crustose coralline algae	Reef surveys	% cover
Benthic	COR	Coral cover	Reef surveys	% cover
indicators	MAC	Macroalgae	Reef surveys	% cover
	TUR	Turf algae	Reef surveys	% cover
Resource fish indicators	BROW	Browsers	Reef surveys	Biomass (kg.ha <sup>-1</sup> )
	GRDT	Grazers & Detritivores	Reef surveys	Biomass (kg.ha <sup>-1</sup> )
	SCEX	Scrapers & excavators	Reef surveys	Biomass (kg.ha <sup>-1</sup> )
	PISC	Piscivores	Reef surveys	Biomass (kg.ha <sup>-1</sup> )

**Table 4.1. Coral reef benthic and fish indicators for coral reef models.** These indicators were used as response variables in the BRT coral reef models.

#### 4.2.3.1 Field datasets

We obtained three field datasets totaling 163 survey locations, collected over three sampling periods, April and September 2009 and April 2010 contributed by WCS Fiji (see WCS [2010] for more details). Fish and benthic surveys were stratified by depth (deep [12-15 m], shallow [5-8 m], top [0.5-2 m]), habitat (forereef and backreef areas), and management (open or closed to fishing) (Figure 4.1.a). Generally, two forereef and two backreef sites were surveyed within each management treatment, with 3-5 replicate transects nested within depth categories and depth nested within sites. At each site,  $50 \times 5$  m belt transects (250-m<sup>2</sup> transect area) were used to collect fish data. Benthic life-form categories were recorded along the same 50 m transects at 0.5 m intervals using lifeform categories adapted from English et al. (1994) (Jupiter & Egli 2011). Lifeform classes were reclassified according to the following 8 functional strata: crustose coralline algae (CCA, including coralline algae with structure); live hard scleractinian coral (COR: Acropora spp., branching, corymbose, encrusting, foliose, massive, and submassive corals); macroalgae (MAC: all fleshy macroalgae >2 cm, dead coral with fleshy algae); turf algae (TUR: Section 2 cm height on reef pavement); filter feeders (FLF: sponge, soft corals, zooanthids), hard bottom (HB: rubble, non-carbonate rock); soft bottom (SB: sand, silt); and other substrate (OT: including Halimeda spp., microbial and other biota). For the purposes of this study, we calculated the percentage cover of each benthic group. For each belt transect, divers recorded total length (TL) of observed fishes for each targeted species, using 5 cm length classes for fishes < 40 cm and exact size for fishes  $\geq$ 40 cm (Jupiter & Egli 2011). As many of the L-W conversions required fork length (FL), a length-length (LL) conversion factor was obtained from FishBase where necessary to convert from total length (TL) recorded during the surveys to FL before biomass estimation (Jupiter & Egli 2011). To calculate the biomass for each fish, we applied length estimates in the length-weight (L-W) expression  $W = a \times L^b$ , where a and b are constants for the allometric growth equation, L is total length in cm, and W is mass in kg, using species-specific a and bparameters obtained from FishBase (Froese & Pauly 2011) with a and b parameter values preferentially selected from sites closest to Fiji (e.g., New Caledonia). Because the L-W formula resulted in some grossly overestimated weights for fishes that substantially change morphology as they age, maximum weights were used for certain species when these fish were sighted above threshold sizes.

#### 4.2.4 Modeling human drivers

#### 4.2.4.1 Global human drivers: Coral bleaching scenarios

Climate change scenarios were designed and modeled to spatially represent the potential effects on coral reefs, including mortality from coral bleaching. Based on sea surface temperature (SST) and atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) projections, shallow-water scleractinian coral cover loss due to bleaching was estimated based on a combination of growth and mortality models (Hoeke et al. 2011). Based on a projected increase in global temperatures of 2-4° C over the coming century with a threshold for heat stress increasing by 0.1° C every decade; the model suggested a coral cover decline of 25% to 75% for the main Hawaiian Islands by the end of the century (Hoeke et al. 2011, IPCC 2007). Based on coral reef monitoring post bleaching events in Fiji (Cumming et al. 2002, Lovell et al. 2004), we confirmed similar levels of impact between Hawai'i and Fiji, so we transferred the bleaching scenarios developed for the Hawai'i sites to Kubulau. I implemented Moderate and Severe Bleaching scenarios, where negative 25% and 50% scaling factors, respectively, were forced on current coral cover for all reef areas shallower than 5 m (Figure 4.3) and an Extreme Bleaching scenario that forced a 50% scaling factor on coral cover in all reef areas between 0 and 5m and a 25% scaling factor for areas between 5 and 10m (Figure 4.3). In spite of large uncertainties and debate surrounding coral adaptation to heat stress (Baker et al. 2008), this analysis quantitatively illustrates the potential impacts from large declines in coral cover in the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Hoeke et al. 2011).



**Figure 4.3. Maps of coral cover per climate change scenario.** The Moderate (a), Severe (b), and Extreme (c) Bleaching scenarios represent different levels of coral cover loss.

# 4.2.4.2 Local human drivers: Forest cover change scenarios

Three land cover scenarios were considered: (1) Conservation (present land cover), (2) Deforestation, and (3) Reforestation. Present land cover was defined using a land cover map derived from satellite imagery (Figure 4.4) (Ministry of Agriculture *unpublished data*). A land use capability classification (Land Use Planning Section et al. 2012) was used to determine areas suitable for agriculture (classes 1-4); forestry (classes 1-7); and conservation/natural forest only (class 8). The Deforestation scenario assumed all areas within designated current and proposed logging areas within logging concessions (WCS *unpublished data*) were converted to pine with the exception of land use capability class 8. Outside of logging concession areas, all areas suitable for agriculture (classes 1-4) were converted to taro (*Colocasia esculenta*) and kava (*Piper methysticum*), whereas classes 5-8 remained forest. The forest Restoration scenario (or Reforestation) assumed all native forest was conserved and all areas currently in pine were restored to native forest.



**Figure 4.4. Maps of forest cover change per scenario.** The Conservation scenario (a) represents current conditions. Also considered were: Deforestation (b) and Reforestation (b) land cover change scenarios.

# 4.2.5 Modeling terrestrial drivers

# 4.2.5.1 Sediment models

Sediment export was modeled for each land use scenario to quantify the total sediment discharge downstream. First gross erosion was estimated per cell using the empirical Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE) method (Renard et al. 1997), and then the sediment delivery from each cell to the hydrologic network was estimated using a sediment delivery ratio (SDR) approach (Borselli et al. 2008). We used the InVEST Sediment Delivery Ratio (SDR) model to conduct these calculations (The Natural Capital Project 2015). Ground-truth data were unavailable, but the connectivity of the model was verified using available stream maps by comparing predicted stream outputs to an existing stream layer. The model parameterization included a streamflow accumulation parameter of 100, a Borselli k-factor of 5.0 and an IC<sub>0</sub> of 0.3. The maximum allowable SDR was set to 0.8. Subwatersheds were created using the Basins function with ArcGIS 10.2. Discharge points to the coast were hand-edited for accuracy in comparison to satellite imagery (Figure 4.1).

Input data to the spatial model included a digital elevation model (DEM) (30 m resolution), land cover, rainfall erosivity, and soil erodibility (**K**). The rainfall erosivity (**R**) map was created at a 100-m resolution by using available annual precipitation averages (**P**) and converting to erosivity using the Bols method, which has also been applied in Indonesia (Bols 1978).

$$R = \frac{2.5 \,\mathrm{x} \,P^2}{(100 \,\mathrm{x} \,(0.07P + 0.73))} \tag{1}$$

Soil erodibility was derived from the New Zealand Soil Survey dataset (Leslie et al. 1998), and used a value of K of 0.002 ton ha hr MJ<sup>-1</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup> mm<sup>-1</sup> to fill in missing values that were not available in the tables. In addition, for each land use class, an estimate of vegetation cover (C-factor) and management practice effectiveness (P-factor) was required for the model. We adopted the biophysical table that includes the C-factor and P-factor shown in Table 4.2. C-factors for taro were taken from published FAO rice values, and forest values were separated by degraded and secondary forests following Lianes (2009). All P-factors were kept at 1, lacking information to suggest otherwise.

Land Cover type	C factor	P factor	
Coconuts	0.02	1	
Fallow	0.12	1	
Fish pond	0.001	1	
Grassland	0.009	1	
Mangroves	0.001	1	
Monoculture taro	0.2	1	
Monoculture kuta	0.05	1	
Monoculture kuta and taro	0.05	1	
Monoculture rice	0.2	1	
Natural forest	0.006	1	
Pine	0.007	1	
Polyculture	0.3	1	
Secondary forest	0.007	1	
shrubland	0.013	1	
Tilaka	0.2	1	
Village	0.2	1	
Wetland	0.001	1	

Table 4.2. Sediment model calibration factors. See Falinski 2016 for more details.

#### 4.2.5.2 Coastal water quality modeling

The modeled sediment discharge from each watershed was distributed to each coral reef through a distance-based plume model developed in in ArcGIS, following Halpern et al. (2008a). The distance based plume model applied a decay function to a cost-path surface (Yu et al. 2003). The cost-path surface was a composite of factors that promoted or hindered sediment dispersion and included geomorphic features (i.e., fringing reef, inner reef flats, reef crests, reef slopes, lagoon) derived from a geomorphic zoning map (Roelfsema et al. 2013), as well as depth (m), distance from shore (m), and wave exposure (degree). Based on the distance measured between river mouths and locations where sediment impacts on coral reefs has been recorded in the past (Jupiter et al. 2010), the maximum threshold for diffusion from the shoreline was set to 2.5 km. This method enabled the creation of spatially explicit maps of nearshore water quality. I used this modeled coastal water quality metric as a proxy for total suspended sediment dispersion from stream discharge (TSS thereafter) that may influence coral reef dynamics.

# 4.2.6 Modeling marine drivers

The marine drivers were derived from remote sensing and wave model data available for both sites using GIS-based tools. The selected marine drivers were identified as important predictors of coral reef benthic and fish communities by chapter 1 (Table 3). Depth and distance from shore were used as geographic metrics to account for variation arising from spatial location. A bathymetric depth at 4 m resolution was used (Knudby et al. 2011), which was derived from passive remote sensing techniques and distance from shore was derived from the archipelago-wide coastline map (Fiji Department of Lands, unpublished data). Three types of habitat drivers represented direct and indirect effects of seafloor geomorphology on benthic and fish communities: (1) habitat morphology, (2) habitat complexity, and (3) habitat exposure. Habitat morphology, represented by Bathymetric Position Index (BPI) and slope metrics, were computed for two neighborhood sizes (60 m and 240 m radii) to determine depth relative to the reef and surrounding area at different spatial scales (Kendall et al. 2011, Pittman & Brown 2011). Terrain ruggedness, slope of slope, and plan and profile curvature metrics were computed to estimate topographic complexity. Three metrics of habitat exposure (aspect sine circular mean, aspect cosine circular mean, aspect circular standard deviation), representing the steepest downslope direction (measured in degrees 0°-360°),

were used to capture the direct and indirect effects of water flow due to seafloor topography and directionality. Four types of habitat connectivity metrics, representing direct and indirect effects of habitat composition and fragmentation on benthic and fish communities, were derived from the benthic habitat map at 10-m resolution (Roelfsema et al. 2013) in FRAGSTATS software (McGarigal et al. 2002): (1) contiguity, (2) fractal dimension, (3) proximity, and (4) Shannon diversity index (McGarigal et al. 2009).

Table 4.3. Description of marine drivers. Supporting	references	are 1	listed th	at indicate	the	importance	of each	variable	on fish
communities. Refer to Table S4.2 for more information.									

Indicator	Metrics	Description	Unit	References	
Geography	BeographyDepthMean seafloor depthDistance toEuclidean distance to the shoreline		m	(Dollar 1982, Fabricius & De'ath 2001,	
			m		
	shore			Jouffray et al. 2015)	
Habitat	BPI	Relative topographic position of a point based its	m	(Pittman & Brown	
morphology		elevation and the mean elevation within a		2011, Stamoulis et al.	
		neighborhood		2016)	
	Slope	Maximum rate of change in seafloor depth between	Degree		
		each grid cell and its neighbors			
Habitat	Plan curvature	Seafloor curvature perpendicular to the direction of the	Radians.m <sup>-1</sup>	(Darling et al. 2017,	
complexity		maximum slope (mean). Value indicates whether flow		Friedlander & Parrish	
		will converge or diverge over a point.		1998a)	
	Profile	Seafloor curvature in the direction of the maximum	Radians.m <sup>-1</sup>		
	curvature	ture slope (mean). Value indicates whether flow will			
	accelerate or decelerate over the curve.				
VRM Measure of terrain ruggedness variations (mean).		Unitless			
		Value range from 0 (flat) to 1 (complete variation).			
Habitat	Aspect	Downslope direction of maximum rate of change in	Degree	(Franklin et al. 2013,	
exposure		seafloor depth between each grid cell and its neighbors		Knudby et al. 2013)	
		(sine circular mean, cosine circular mean, circular			
		standard deviation)			
Habitat	Contiguity	Mean spatial connectedness of patches	Unitless	(McGarigal et al. 2009)	
composition	Index				

# 4. BUILDING REEF RESILIENCE

Fractal	Mean patch complexity at the landscape level	Unitless	(McGarigal et al. 2009)
dimension			
Proximity index	Measure of patch isolation	Unitless	(McGarigal et al. 2009)
distribution			
Shannon	Diversity of benthic cover types in the landscape	Unitless	(McGarigal et al. 2009)
diversity index			

# 4.2.7 Coral reef predictive models

For the coral reef models, I calibrated BRT models using the empirical benthic and fish data for Kubulau collected by WCS Fiji (Figure 4.2.E) as a function of the terrestrial and marine drivers for Kubulau (Figure 4.1.C & D) (see Elith et al. (2008) for more details). I used the percent deviance explained (PDE) by the calibration and internal ten-fold cross validation method as performance measures of the model optimum. The optimal models explained the most variation in the response variables (i.e., greatest PDE). To control for overfitting, we determined the number of drivers to remove by evaluating how many drivers could be dropped without resulting in a major reduction in PDE (see [Elith et al. 2008] Appendix S2). The final BRT models determined the strongest statistical environmental drivers (among the simultaneously tested predictors) and estimated the underlying relationship (response curve) between the model didicators and the key environmental drivers (Venables & Ripley 2013). I conducted the model fitting in R software (R Core Team 2014) using the gbm package (Elith et al. 2008, Ridgeway 2007).

I applied the calibrated spatial predictive coral reef models to simulate projected changes to simulate the benthic and fish communities under forest cover and climate change scenarios. The calibrated coral reef models were used to predict the potential distribution of each benthic and fish indicator for each 60 m<sup>2</sup> grid cell according to future conditions. The modeled predictions were used to produce maps of benthic and fish indicator distributions under future scenarios. First, the benthic groups were spatially predicted as a function of the terrestrial and marine drivers (Table 4.3) and projected human scenarios. Then resource fishes were predicted as a function of the natural drivers, including the predicted benthic community (Table 4.3) and future human driver scenarios. Spatial predictions were performed in R (R Core Team 2014) using the dismo (Hijmans et al. 2014) and raster (Hijmans 2014) packages.

# 4.2.8 Modeling of scenario impacts and analysis

The scenario analysis focused on the tabu and fished areas important to four villages (Raviravi, Navatu, Nakorovou, and Kiobo) to capture a range of exposure and environmental conditions (Figure 4.1) (Jupiter et al. 2010). For each of these important fishing grounds, the predicted spatial distribution of benthic and fish indicators under each forest cover, climate change, and combined scenario were compared against present distributions using a permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) (McArdle & Anderson 2001) in Primer PERMANOVA+ software (Anderson et al. 2008) (refer to Section 3.2.6 for more details).

# 4.3. Results

# 4.3.1 Terrestrial drivers

The sediment export model results for present conditions showed that current land cover in Kubulau resulted in relatively low sediment loads (2,452 tons or 11.9 t/km<sup>2</sup>) (Figure 4.5). A large percentage of the total sediment budget (ranging from 43 to 55%) discharging in the eastern bay, originated from the watershed just north of Kubulau. The largest difference between deforestation and restoration scenarios occurred within two large watersheds, which discharged in the eastern and southern bays of Kubulau. The southern bay received discharge of 550 ton/yr under the deforestation scenario, compared to 383 ton/year under the restoration scenario. These differences corresponded to a 50% and 2.8% increase from status quo conditions for deforestation and restoration, respectively. The southern bay received discharge of 280 ton/yr under the deforestation scenario, compared to 63 ton/year under the restoration scenario. These differences correspond to a 330% increase and 0.5% decrease from Present conditions for Deforestation and Restoration, respectively. In terms of sediment discharge, Raviravi (Tabu:  $\overline{X}$ = 208.1, SD=11.5; Open:  $\overline{X}$ = 182.0, SD=32.1) and Nakorovou (Tabu:  $\overline{X}$ = 182.9, SD= 99.4; Open:  $\overline{X}$ =13.3, SD= 10.8) were the most exposed to sedimentation discharge, with the exception of Nakorovou open fishing areas (Table S4.3). The fished areas of Kiobo (Tabu:  $\overline{X}$ =23.7, SD=4.5; Open:  $\overline{X}$ = 31.2, SD=7.4) and Navatu (Tabu:  $\overline{X} = 4.2$ , SD= 1.2; Open:  $\overline{X} = 0.0$ , SD=0.0) were the least exposed to sediment influence.



Figure 4.5. Modeled sedimentation coupled with modeled coastal water quality per forest cover scenario. Present (left), Deforestation (middle) and Restoration (right) scenarios.

# 4.3.2 Marine drivers

Our marine driver maps showed that most tabu and open areas were shallow reef areas and located closer to shore (Table S4.3) (refer to Figure S4.1 for spatial representation). Generally, tabu areas were shallower (6.3 - 7.9 m deep) and closer to shore (<280 m from shore), while the open areas were deeper (7.4 - 11.7 m) and located further offshore, particularly Kiobo and Nakorovou open areas (>330m from shore). Tabu areas located in Kiobo and Navatu exhibited less reef slopes and supported less habitat complexity than the open areas. On the other hand, Nakorovou and Raviravi tabu exhibited more reef slopes and habitat complexity than the open areas. Tabu areas located in Kiobo and Navatu also showed higher exposure, compared to the open areas, while the open areas located in Nakorovou and Raviravi showed higher exposure than the tabu areas. In terms of habitat

connectivity, tabu areas showed more contiguity compared to the open areas, except for Kiobo, which showed the opposite trend. Fractal dimension and habitat proximity were generally higher in the tabu areas compared to the open areas, except for Kiobo and Navatu, respectively. Habitat diversity was similar in tabu and open areas for most villages, except for Navatu where the open area showed higher diversity than the tabu area.

#### 4.3.3 Coral reef communities in tabu and open areas

The benthic group abundance and resource fish biomass varied between villages and type of fishing grounds (tabu and open areas) (Figure S4.4). Compared to the tabu areas, the areas open to fishing showed higher abundance of reef calcifiers (CCA and coral) and less benthic algae (macroalgae and turf algae) across most villages. In areas open to fishing, CCA and corals were more abundant in Nakorovou and Navatu, while benthic algae were more prevalent in Kiobo and Raviravi. In tabu areas, CCA and corals were more abundant in Nakorovou and Raviravi. With the exception of browsers, resource fish indicators biomass was higher in the areas open to fishing, compared to the tabu areas across all villages. In areas open to fishing, browser biomass was higher in Kiobo and Navatu; the scrapers and piscivores biomass was higher in Nakorovou, and Navatu supported higher biomass of grazers/detritivores. In tabu areas, resource fish biomass was higher for most indicators in Kiobo. One exception was the browsers biomass, which was higher in Nakorovou and Raviravi compared to other villages.

#### 4.3.4 Coral reef drivers and seascape dynamics

The calibration and cross-validation of coral reef models of Kubulau explained 38-73% and 11-40% of the deviance, respectively, with the exception of the turf algae model, which performed poorly (Table 4.4). Analysis of the residuals from the final coral reef models showed no spatial autocorrelation (Moran's I Index p > 0.1).
( <b>IDE</b> ). The inflation of predictors ( <b>I</b> ) is use indicated						
Reef indicators	PDE (%)	CV PDE (%)	Pi			
CCA	64	40	6			
Corals	60	29	6			
Macroalgae	43	11	8			
Turf algae	3	-1	8			
Browsers	54	10	7			
Grazers & Detritivores	63	35	6			
Scrapers	38	15	6			
Piscivores	73	36	8			

**Table 4.4. BRT model calibration and cross-validation (CV) percent deviance explained (PDE).** The final number of predictors (Pi) is also indicated.

The final coral reef models identified TSS as a key terrestrial driver and habitat complexity and connectivity as the key marine drivers, as well as exposure and depth (Figure 4.6). For the terrestrial driver, TSS was negatively correlated with the reef calcifiers and positively correlated with benthic algae. As a result, the reef calcifiers were less abundant and benthic algae were more abundant in areas more exposed to sediment influence (Figure 4.7). Except for scrapers, most resource fish biomass was negatively related to TSS. In terms of fish-habitat linkages, most fish groups were positively associated with coral cover and higher biomass was predicted in areas with higher coral cover, except for browsers. Browsers and piscivores biomass was positively related to CCA, while grazers/detritivores and scrapers were negatively related to macroalgae. The final coral reef models also identified reef morphology (represented by BPI and slopes) and topographic complexity as the most common and important marine drivers of the benthic and fish communities, followed by habitat exposure and connectivity. Most resource fishes and benthic calcifiers were positively correlated with reef slopes and topographic complexity. As a result, higher fish biomass was predicted along the reef slopes. Corals were positively correlated with more exposed habitats, while all the algae groups were negatively related to exposure (Figure 4.6). Those trends were reversed for habitat connectivity, where corals were abundant in patchy habitats, while the algae groups were more abundant in contiguous habitats (Figure 4.6). Lastly, depth was positively related to reef calcifiers and scrapers (Figure 4.6).



**Figure 4.6. Coral reef models and key drivers of benthic and fish indicators.** The BRT models identify the key drivers of the benthic and fish indicators. The benthic (top) and fish (bottom) indicators are represented along the x-axes. The terrestrial drivers, marine drivers, and benthic community predictors for the fish indicators only are represented on the y-axes. The bubble size represents the relative percent contribution of each driver and the color indicates whether the relationship between the indicator and the driver is positive (green); convex, concave, or unchanged (yellow); or negative (red).



**Figure 4.7. Predicted distribution of the coral reef indicators.** Benthic groups are measured in % cover and the fish indicators are measured in kg/ha

#### 4.3.5 Effect of human drivers on on coral reefs

The PERMANOVA results for Kiobo indicated that the benthic community significantly differed from Present conditions under climate change scenarios ranging from Severe to Extreme, particularly when combined with the Deforestation scenario (Table 4.5). In the tabu area, the benthic community significantly changed from Present conditions under the combined Moderate Bleaching and Deforestation scenario and did not change under the combined Moderate Bleaching and Reforestation scenario. When climate change scenarios were Severe and Extreme, the benthic community in the open area significantly differed under all combined scenarios. Climate change was the dominant effect and the difference was mostly attributed to a decrease in coral cover (Figure 4.8 & 4.9). For Nakorovou, the PERMANOVA results showed that the benthic community significantly differed from Present conditions in the tabu areas under the Extreme Bleaching scenario, regardless of forest cover change. In the fished area of Nakorovou, the PERMANOVA results showed that the benthic community significantly differed from Present conditions in the tabu areas under the Extreme Bleaching scenario and in combination with Deforestation only. The difference was attributed to a decrease in CCA and coral cover and a slight increase in macroalgae (Figure 4.8). In Navatu, the PERMANOVA results indicated that benthic community significantly differed from Present conditions under all the climate change scenarios alone, as well as when combined with forest cover change. The benthic community significantly changed under the Moderate and Extreme Bleaching scenarios in the tabu and fished areas, respectively. The difference was mostly attributed to a decrease in coral cover (Figure 4.8 & 4.9). When combined with a forest cover change scenarios, climate change was the dominant effect. In Raviravi, the benthic community did not significantly differ from Present conditions under all scenario considered, except for the Extreme Bleaching combined with Deforestation scenario. For the fish community, the PERMANOVA results of Kiobo, Nakorovou and Raviravi did not significantly differ from present conditions under all scenario. In the fished area of Navatu, the PERMANOVA results indicated that the fish community did not significantly differ from Present conditions under all scenario considered. On the other hand, the fish community in the tabu area significantly differed from Present conditions under the combined Extreme Bleaching and Deforestation scenario. This difference was due to a decrease in all fish groups, with the exception of browser biomass (Figure 4.8).

**Table 4.5. PERMANOVA F-values for the fished and tabu areas per village.** P-values < 0.1\* are reported as significantly different from present conditions. Current forest cover (Present), Deforestation and Reforestation (R) scenarios were combined with the bleaching scenarios and compared to present coral reef conditions in Kiobo (K), Nakorovou (O), Navatu (A), and Raviravi (R).

Fishing	Forest cover	Bleaching	BENTHIC			FISH				
areas	scenarios	scenarios	K	0	Α	R	K	0	Α	R
	Deforestation	Present	0.22	0.00	0.17	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.97	0.00
	Reforestation	Present	0.43	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.13	0.01	0.03	0.00
	Present	Moderate	1.52	0.26	2.28*	0.16	0.23	0.09	0.49	0.03
	Deforestation	Moderate	1.73*	0.26	2.17*	0.16	0.27	0.09	1.27	0.03
	Reforestation	Moderate	1.12	0.26	2.28*	0.16	0.11	0.09	0.50	0.03
TABU	Present	Severe	3.14*	0.55	4.75*	0.34	0.50	0.17	1.12	0.04
	Deforestation	Severe	3.35*	0.55	4.64*	0.34	0.53	0.17	1.79*	0.04
	Reforestation	Severe	2.78*	0.55	4.75*	0.34	0.39	0.17	1.13	0.04
	Present	Extreme	4.73*	3.82*	7.03*	1.60	0.60	0.77	1.27	0.26
	Deforestation	Extreme	4.93*	3.82*	6.92*	1.60*	0.65	0.77	1.98*	0.26
	Reforestation	Extreme	4.35*	3.82*	7.03*	1.60	0.56	0.77	1.28	0.26
	Deforestation	Present	0.12	0.35	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.71	0.00	0.00
	Reforestation	Present	0.21	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.00
	Present	Moderate	0.90	0.00	0.33	0.11	0.05	0.00	0.02	0.04
	Deforestation	Moderate	1.02	0.35	0.33	0.11	0.09	0.71	0.02	0.04
	Reforestation	Moderate	0.69	0.01	0.33	0.11	0.06	0.01	0.02	0.04
OPEN	Present	Severe	1.96*	0.00	0.70	0.24	0.23	0.00	0.05	0.07
	Deforestation	Severe	2.08*	0.35	0.70	0.24	0.25	0.71	0.05	0.07
	Reforestation	Severe	1.75*	0.01	0.70	0.24	0.21	0.01	0.05	0.07
	Present	Extreme	4.19*	1.49*	5.18*	1.39	0.44	0.06	0.78	0.26
	Deforestation	Extreme	4.31*	1.64*	5.18*	1.39	0.47	0.75	0.78	0.26
	Reforestation	Extreme	3.97*	1.49	5.18*	1.39	0.41	0.06	0.78	0.26



**Figure 4.8. Coral reef community percent change from present conditions in areas open to fishing.** The x-axis represents the percent change from current conditions (marked by the red dashed line). Each scenario combination is represented along the y-axis. Bleaching scenarios range from Moderate, Severe, and Extreme, and two forest cover scenarios were considered (Deforestation and Reforestation).



**Figure 4.9. Coral reef community percent change from present conditions in areas tabu to fishing.** The x-axis represents the percent change from current conditions (marked by the red dashed line). Each scenario combination is represented along the y-axis. Bleaching scenarios range from Moderate, Severe, and Extreme, and two forest cover scenarios were considered (Deforestation and Reforestation).

#### 4.4. Discussion

To support ridge-to-reef management on oceanic islands, I modified and scaled up a novel methodology to link fine-scale land cover to coral reef dynamics through stream sedimentation in a single modeling framework (see Chapter 1 for more details). Kubulau, Fiji represents a range of Indo-Pacific reef types, including fringing, patch, lagoon, and barrier and atoll reefs (Roelfsema et al. 2013). I used this modeling framework to characterize the dynamics of the landscape and seascape linkages of Kubulau District. The coral reef models identified habitat structure and connectivity, coral cover, and sedimentation as the primary drivers of coral reef communities. The scenario analysis of tabu and open areas revealed that coral reef ecological outcomes varied under different scenarios due to differing land-sea dynamics and the geomorphology of the land and the reefs. Ridge-to-reef systems such as Nakorovou and Raviravi, which span large watersheds and discharge in semi-enclosed bays, are more exposed to chronic sediment disturbances. Consequently, the tabu and open areas appear more resistant to increased exposure to sedimentation and/or climate change. Conversely, Navatu is located on a small nearshore island and represents a short ridge-to-reef system more exposed to waves and currents. Located across the bay from Raviravi, the tabu area of Navatu becomes vulnerable to climate change, when deforestation in the Raviravi watershed takes place, thereby revealing connectivity across ridgeto-reef systems. Similarly, Kiobo is located downstream from several small watersheds that discharge in a narrow and deep lagoon. Although, the fish community appears more resilient to climate change and deforestation, the benthic community seems more vulnerable to climate change modeled impacts, particularly when coupled with deforestation.

#### 4.4.1 Effects of terrestrial and marine drivers on ridge-to-reef dynamics

### 4.4.1.1 Effects of terrestrial drivers on coral reefs

Although, these sediment results support that the current state of the watersheds and stream systems mainly consists of unaltered hydrological systems and forested areas (Jenkins et al. 2010, Jupiter et al. 2012), my coral reef models revealed that TSS was an important driver for reef calcifiers, and to a lesser extent benthic algae (Figure 4.6). Results for CCA and corals suggested that TSS hinders their distribution in areas near river mouths or subject to high TSS. The adverse impact of sedimentation, nutrient enrichment, and turbidity on coral reefs at local scales has been well established (Fabricius 2005). Even if coral reefs in turbid waters can flourish (Anthony 1999), they are restricted to the top 4-10 m depth range (Fabricius et al. 2005, Yentsch et al. 2002), and typically support fewer species, slower growth rates, and poorer recruitment (Rogers 1990). Consequently, abundance of reef calcifiers were lower in tabu areas exposed to high sediment inputs, and higher in well exposed and deeper fished areas, demonstrating association with well mixed waters.

Conversely, results for macroalgae and turf algae showed a positive relationship with TSS (Figure 4.6). Increases in sediment can directly promote macroalgae and turf algae growth through increases in nutrients bounded to sediments (Fabricius 2005, Umar et al. 1998) or indirectly hinder competition for space by reef calcifiers (Smith et al. 2016, Szmant 2002). These results suggested that benthic algae, may have a competitive advantage over reef calcifiers under high levels of sediments and/or turbidity (Pastorok & Bilyard 1985). McCook et al. (2001) also showed that large-scale shifts from corals to algae usually indicates coral mortality due to external disturbances, rather than competitive overgrowth, and can lead to competitive inhibition of coral recruitment, with implications for coral reef recovery. In Kubulau, increase in sedimentation and TSS can reduce reef calcifiers abundance, and indirectly promote benthic algae growth, which inhibits recovery capacity after disturbances through loss of space availability. Consequently, abundance of benthic algae were higher in tabu areas exposed to high sediment inputs, and lower in fished areas which are exposed and deeper.

Sedimentation had a direct negative effect on coral reef fish biomass in Kubulau (Figure 4.6). Reef fishes can be adversely affected by sedimentation and turbidity through altered foraging patterns (Johansen & Jones 2013). Sedimentation also indirectly affects reef fishes by altering the benthic community structure and composition (Pratchett et al. 2008, Rogers 1990). Given the effects of TSS on all these benthic groups and the dependence of the fishes on these benthic communities, fishes are likely to also be indirectly affected by TSS through the benthic community. The degree of dependence on different benthic groups may influence the susceptibility of fishes to habitat impacts from sedimentation, and can have implications for coral reef recovery. For instance, research has shown that fish recruitment decreases in sediment impacted habitat compared to coraldominated habitats (DeMartini et al. 2013). Browsers were positively associated with CCA and turf algae, while grazers/detritivores and scrapers were negatively related to macroalgae. Consistent with findings in Hawai'i (Friedlander & Parrish 1998a), macroalgae appeared to have been reduced by grazing from herbivores, and their cover showed a negative relationship with grazer/detritivore and scraper biomass. Consequently, biomass of targeted reef fishes were lower in tabu areas where reef calcifiers' abundance was lower and higher in open areas where reef calcifiers' abundance was higher.

#### 4.4.1.2 Effects of marine drivers on coral reefs

Many studies have shown that habitat morphology and complexity are primary marine drivers controlling coral reefs community structure in oceanic island environments (Graham & Nash 2013, Wilson et al. 2010). Owing to its proximity to the Australian-Pacific plate boundary, the complex geological history of Fiji has resulted in diverse coral reef geomorphology and habitat structure (Hoffmeister & Ladd 1944, Neall & Trewick 2008). Across the Kubulau seascape, my benthic models indicated that coral reef calcifiers associated with steeper reef slopes and complex habitats, while benthic algae groups correlated with reef valleys and flats (Figure 4.6). The fish community was also strongly structured by BPI and reef slopes (Figure 4.6). Resource fish biomass was generally higher along reef slopes, like spur and groove habitats, which are carved by wave action (Figure 4.7) (Arias-González et al. 2006, Sheppard 1981). Structurally complex reef habitats also supported higher resource fish biomass (Figure 4.6), indicating that fishes may be seeking refuge in habitat structure (Almany 2004, Friedlander & Parrish 1998a, Gratwicke & Speight 2005). In

the tabu areas, habitat complexity was lower compared to the fished areas. Consequently, biomass of targeted reef fishes were lower in tabu areas where habitat complexity is lower and higher in fished areas where habitat complexity is higher. These trends revealed that habitat conditions play an important role in structuring the coral reef community of Kubulau.

#### 4.4.2 Effects of human drivers on coral reefs

Management of multiple human drivers requires an understanding of how interactions between local and global drivers manifests itself in different places (Chapter 2). My scenario analysis revealed that coral reef ecological outcomes in tabu and open areas varied under different combinations of scenarios, due to their different geographical location, exposure to terrestrial drivers, and habitat structure and composition (Table 4.1). The results of this study suggest that the benthic communities of Kiobo, Nakorovou, and Navatu are more sensitive to bleaching from climate change, particularly when combined with deforestation, compared to Raviravi. The degree of dependence of resource fishes on the benthic community may influence the level of vulnerability of coral reef fish populations to coral bleaching and habitat degradation (Pratchett et al. 2008, Wilson et al. 2010). This analysis identified that when forest restoration was combined with climate change, the fish population of Navatu tabu area was not impacted, while deforestation combined with climate change resulted in a shift of the fish community structure (Table 4.1). This shift in the fish community resulted from a decrease of most functional fish groups' biomass and an increase in browser biomass (Figure 4.9). Although some areas exhibit higher levels of resilience to global and local drivers, these results imply that the Kubulau coral reef benthic and fish communities are likely to be impacted by climate change, particularly if combined with deforestation, based on projected sea surface temperature and associated bleaching (Cumming et al. 2002, Hoeke et al. 2011).

#### 4.4.3 Management implications

The differences in resilience to sedimentation between tabu and open areas could result from the spatial differences in combined influences of terrestrial and marine drivers. The tabu areas of Nakorovou and Raviravi are located downstream of large watersheds that discharge in semienclosed bays, while Navatu and Kiobo are located downstream from small watersheds that discharge in areas more exposed to waves and currents. Fishing grounds located in enclosed bays, which are naturally exposed to more sedimentation, may have developed higher tolerance to sediment over time (Figures 4.1 and 4.5) (Jupiter et al. 2010). While areas that are naturally less exposed to sediments, such as the tabu area of Navatu, are more vulnerable to deforestation by being located across from large watersheds. These results also reveal that coral reefs more resilient to sediment disturbance are also more resilient to climate change. While coral reefs less exposed to sedimentation and more influenced by marine drivers appear to be more vulnerable to bleaching impacts, particularly when they are located offshore from large watersheds. At the larger land-seascape scale, these spatially complex connections show that in larger and geologically more diverse oceanic islands, ridge-to-reef systems where sediment discharge from some watersheds can impact coral reefs in nearby watersheds.

This study supports the paradigm that managing local-scale human drivers can promote coral reef resilience to climate change (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007, Pandolfi et al. 2011). The interactions between climate change and forest cover and consequences for coral reefs can be used to illustrate the potential for management actions that can alleviate cumulative impacts. The results for the benthic community in Kiobo and the open area of Nakorovou reveal that forest conservation or restoration can prevent climate change impacts. In the tabu area of Navatu, I found that coral bleaching impacts on coral reef fish populations could also be minimized through forest conservation or restoration. By managing local drivers of deforestation in areas where local drivers outweigh global drivers, reduced sedimentation provides better water quality to foster postbleaching recovery (McCook et al. 2001, Szmant 2002). Similarly in Madagascar, deforestation has been showed to outweigh the projected impacts of climate change on coral reefs (Maina et al. 2013). In areas where global drivers outweigh local drivers, adopting marine conservation actions that protect herbivores or foster marine habitat quality can foster recovery post-bleaching events. This cumulative impacts analysis of bleaching and forest cover change indicate that local forest conservation actions can significantly influence coral reef futures in the face of climate change, thereby calling for more ridge-to-reef management strategies.

#### 4.5. Conclusions

Chapter 1 demonstrated that natural disturbance regimes can shape different ridge-to-reef systems, which calls for place-based management. Similarly, this chapter showed that spatial arrangement and exposure to terrestrial and marine drivers influence the dynamics and resilience potential to local and global changes of important coral reef resources to local communities. My results demonstrated that coral reefs managed from ridge-to-reef have a much better chance of withstanding bleaching impacts. I identified drivers of coral reef fish biomass degradation and provided guidance on appropriate management actions and locations where they could be more effective. This study also helped identify where terrestrial and marine management actions can foster the resilience of these ridge-to-reef systems by strategically placing protected areas in terrestrial and marine ecosystems. Areas which are naturally more exposed to sedimentation, have evolved more resilience to both sedimentation and climate change. Conversely, areas not naturally exposed to sediments are more vulnerable and should be prioritized for land and sea management to minimize sediment impacts and promote resilience to climate change.

# Supplemental material

Function	Family	Scientific name	Common name
		Naso annulatus	Whitemargin unicornfish
		Naso brachycentron	Humpback unicornfish
		Naso lituratus	Orangespine unicornfish
	Acanthuridae	Naso sp.	Unicornfish spp.
ers		Naso tonganus	Bulbnose unicornfish
SMO		Naso tuberosus	Humpnose unicornfish
Brc		Naso unicornis	Bluespine unicornfish
		Kyphosus bigibbus	Brown chub
	Kyphosidae	Kyphosus cinerascens	Blue sea chub
	Kyphosidae	Kyphosus sp.	Chubs spp.
		Kyphosus vaigiensis	Brassy chub
		Acanthurus auranticavus	Orange-socket surgeonfish
		Acanthurus blochii	Ringtail surgeonfish
		Acanthurus fowleri	Fowler's surgeonfish
		Acanthurus grammoptilus	Finelined surgeonfish
		Acanthurus leucocheilus	Palelipped surgeonfish
		Acanthurus leucopareius	Whitebar surgeonfish
		Acanthurus lineatus	Lined surgeonfish
		Acanthurus maculiceps	White-freckled surgeonfish
		Acanthurus nigricans	Goldrim surgeonfish
		Acanthurus nigricauda	Epaulette surgeonfish
es	Acanthuridae	Acanthurus nigrofuscus	Brown surgeonfish
VOL		Acanthurus nigroris	Bluelined surgeonfish
riti		Acanthurus olivaceus	Orangeband surgeonfish
Det		Acanthurus pyroferus	Chocolate surgeonfish
જ		Acanthurus sp.	Surgeonfish spp.
ers		Acanthurus triostegus	Convict surgeonfish
raz		Acanthurus xanthopterus	Yellowfin surgeonfish
5		Zebrasoma flavescens	Yellow tang
		Zebrasoma scopas	Twotone tang
		Zebrasoma sp.	Tang spp.
		Zebrasoma veliferum	Sailfin tang
-		Siganus argenteus	Rabbitfish
		Siganus doliatus	Barred spinefoot
		Siganus guttatus	Orange-spotted spinefoot
	Siganidae	Siganus punctatissimus	Peppered spinefoot
		Siganus punctatus	Goldspotted spinefoot
		Siganus sp.	Spinefoot spp.
		Siganus spinus	Little spinefoot

Table S4.1. Fish species composition per functional groups.

		Siganus stellatus	Brown-spotted spinefoot
		Siganus uspi	Bicolored foxface
		Siganus vermiculatus	Vermiculated spinefoot
		Cetoscarus bicolor	Bicolour parrotfish
		Chlorurus bleekeri	Bleeker's parrotfish
		Chlorurus frontalis	Pacific slopehead parrotfish
		Chlorurus japanensis	Palecheek parrotfish
		Chlorurus microrhinos	Steephead parrots
		Chlorurus sordidus	Pacific bullethead parrotfish
		Chlorurus sp.	Parrotfish spp.
		Hipposcarus longiceps	Pacific longnose parrotfish
		Hipposcarus sp.	
		Scarus altipinnis	Filament-finned parrotfish
S		Scarus chameleon	Chameleon parrotfish
ato		Scarus dimidiatus	Yellowbarred parrotfish
cav		Scarus forsteni	Forsten's parrotfish
Ex	Saaridaa	Scarus frenatus	Bridled parrotfish
જ	Scalluae	Scarus ghobban	Blue-barred parrotfish
oers		Scarus globiceps	Globehead parrotfish
rap		Scarus guttatus	Blue-barred parrotfish
Sc		Scarus japanensis	Palecheek parrotfish
		Scarus longipinnis	Highfin parrotfish
		Scarus niger	Dusky parrotfish
		Scarus oviceps	Dark capped parrotfish
		Scarus prasiognathos	Singapore parrotfish
		Scarus psittacus	Palenose parrotfish
		Scarus rivulatus	Midnight parrotfish
		Scarus rubroviolaceus	Ember parrotfish
		Scarus schlegeli	Yellowband parrotfish
		Scarus sp.	Parrotfish spp.
		Scarus spinus	Greensnout parrotfish
		Alectis ciliaris	Threadfin trevally
		Carangoides ferdau	Blue trevally
		Carangoides fulvoguttatus	Yellowspotted trevally
es		Carangoides gymnostethus	Bludger
vor	Carangidae	Carangoides oblongus	Coachwhip trevally
isci	Curungidue	Carangoides plagiotaenia	Barcheek trevally
Ā		Caranx ignobilis	Giant trevally
		Caranx melampygus	Bluefin trevally
		Caranx papuensis	Brassy trevally
		Caranx sexfasciatus	Bigeye trevally

	Caranx sp.	Trevally spp.
	Elagatis bipinnulata	Rainbow runner
	Gnathanodon speciosus	Golden trevally
	Scomberoides lysan	Doublespotted queenfish
	Seriola rivoliana	Almaco jack
	Trachinotus baillonii	Smallspotted dart
	Trachinotus blochii	Snubnose pompano
	Uraspis helvola	Whitetongue jack
Carcharhinidae	Carcharhinus amblyrhynchos	Blacktail reef shark
	Epibulus insidiator	Sling-jaw wrasse
	Oxycheilinus bimaculatus	Two-spot wrasse
Labridae	Oxycheilinus digrammus	Cheeklined wrasse
	Oxycheilinus orientalis	Oriental maori wrasse
	Oxycheilinus sp.	Wrasse spp.
	Lethrinus atkinsoni	Pacific yellowtail emperor
	Lethrinus erythracanthus	Orange-spotted emperor
	Lethrinus erythropterus	Longfin emperor
	Lethrinus harak	Thumbprint emperor
	Lethrinus laticaudis	Grass emperor
	Lethrinus lentjan	Pink ear emperor
Lethrinidae	Lethrinus microdon	Smalltooth emperor
Letinmidae	Lethrinus miniatus	Trumpet emperor
	Lethrinus nebulosus	Spangled emperor
	Lethrinus obsoletus	Orange-striped emperor
	Lethrinus olivaceus	Longface emperor
	Lethrinus semicinctus	Black blotch emperor
	Lethrinus sp.	Emperor spp.
	Lethrinus xanthochilus	Yellowlip emperor
	Aphareus furca	Small-toothed jobfish
	Aprion virescens	Green jobfish
	Lutjanus argentimaculatus	Mangrove red snapper
	Lutjanus biguttatus	Two-spot banded snapper
	Lutjanus bohar	Two-spot red snapper
	Lutjanus ehrenbergii	Blackspot snapper
Lutjanidae	Lutjanus fulviflamma	Dory snapper
	Lutjanus fulvus	Blacktail snapper
	Lutjanus gibbus	Humpback red snapper
	Lutjanus johnii	John's snapper
	Lutjanus kasmira	Common bluestripe snapper
	Lutjanus monostigma	One-spot snapper
	Lutjanus quinquelineatus	Five-lined snapper

	Lutianus rivulatus	Blubberlip snapper	
	Lutjanus russeli	Russell's snapper	
	Lutjanus semicinctus	Black-banded snapper	
	Lutjanus sp.	Naso	
	Mulloidichthys flavolineatus	Yellowstripe goatfish	
M11' 1	Mulloidichthys sp.	Goatfish spp.	
Mullidae	Mulloidichthys vanicolensis	Yellowfin goatfish	
	Parupeneus cyclostomus	Blue goatfish	
	Anyperodon leucogrammicus	Slender grouper	
	Belonoperca chabanaudi	Arrowhead soapfish	
	Cephalopholis argus	Blue spotted grouper	
	Cephalopholis leopardus	Leopard hind	
	Cephalopholis miniata	Coral trout	
	Cephalopholis sexmaculata	Sixblotch hind	
	Cephalopholis sp.	Grouper spp.	
Samanidaa	Cephalopholis urodeta	Darkfin hind	
Serramuae	Gracila albomarginata	Masked Grouper	
	Plectropomus areolatus	Squaretail coralgrouper	
	Plectropomus laevis	Blacksaddled coralgrouper	
	Plectropomus leopardus	Leopard coralgrouper	
	Plectropomus maculatus	Spotted coralgrouper	
	Plectropomus pessuliferus	Roving coralgrouper	
	Variola albimarginata	White-edged lyretail	
	Variola louti	Yellow-edged lyretail	
	Sphyraena barracuda	Great barracuda	
Sphuraenidae	Sphyraena flavicauda	Yellowtail barracuda	
Sphyraeniuae	Sphyraena qenie	Blackfin barracuda	
	Sphyraena sp.	Barracuda spp.	

**Table S4.2. Modeling framework predictor variables description and processing methods.** Description of all the predictor variables modeled in the coral reef models of this modeling framework. Each metric was classified by type (terrestrial drivers or marine drivers) and coded for modeling. Data source and analytical tool used to generate each metric. Refer to Stamoulis et al. 2016 for more details on processing methods.

Туре	Code	Metric	Source	Description	Analytical tool
Terrestrial	TSS	Sedimentati	Sediment	Proxy for TSS (/year)	GIS-based models
drivers		on	model		
	Depth	Depth	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Average depth (m)	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst tools
Marine					(ESRI 2011)
drivers	dist2shore	Distance to	Coastline <sup>2</sup>	Distance to nearest land (m)	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst
(Geography)		shore			Euclidean Distance tool (ESRI
					2011)
	bpi	Bathymetric	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Mean values indicate a location's	Benthic Terrain Modeler tool
		position		position relative to the surrounding	(Wright et al. 2005)
Marina		index (60m,		area; values can be positive	
drivora		240m)		(ridges), negative (valleys), or zero	
(Mombology)				(flat or constant slope)	
(worphology)	slp	Slope	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Maximum rate of change from a	ArcGIS Slope tool (ESRI 2011)
		(60m,		cell to its neighbors	& ArcGIS Focal Statistics tool
		240m)			(ESRI 2011)
	asp_sin	Sine aspect	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Sine of slope direction (derived	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst tools
Marina				from transforming the mean aspect	(sine function) (ESRI 2011)
drivors				into "eastness") (degree)	
(Exposure)	asp_cos	Cosine	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Cosine of slope direction (derived	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst tools
(Exposure)		aspect		from transforming the mean aspect	(cosine function) (ESRI 2011)
				into "northness") (degree)	

	curv_pro	Profile	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Curvature values can be +	DEM Surface Tools Curvature
		curvature		(concave), - (convex), or 0 (flat). A	tool (Jenness 2013)
		(mean)		proxy for spur and groove effects	
				on water flow.	
	curv_plan	Planar	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Curvature values can be –	DEM Surface Tools Curvature
Marina		curvature		(concave) to $+$ (convex), or 0 (flat)	tool (Jenness 2013)
drivera		(mean)		(mean). A proxy for spur and	
(Complexity)				groove effects on water flow.	
(Complexity)	slpslp	Slope of	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Second derivative of slope	ArcGIS Spatial Analyst tools
		slope			(ESRI 2011)
	vrm	Terrain	Bathymetry <sup>1</sup>	Variation in 3D orientation of grid	Benthic Terrain Modeler tool
		ruggedness		cells value indicates topographic	(Wright et al. 2005)
				roughness ( $0 =$ no variation to $1 =$	
				complete variation).	
	contig_mn	Contiguity	Habitat	Mean spatial connectedness of	Exhaustive sampling using a
		Index	composition <sup>3</sup>	patches. Patch shape based on the	60m radius moving window
				spatial connectedness of cells	analysis in Fragstats v4.2
				within a patch; large contiguous	(McGarigal et al. 2002)
				patches will result in larger	
Habitat				contiguity index values (unitless).	
connectivity	frac_mn	Fractal	Habitat	Mean patch complexity at the	Exhaustive sampling using a
		dimension	composition <sup>3</sup>	landscape level (unitless)	60m radius moving window
		(mean)			analysis in Fragstats v4.2
					(McGarigal et al. 2002)
	prox_mn	Proximity	Habitat	Measure of patch isolation	Exhaustive sampling using a
		index	composition <sup>3</sup>	(unitless)	60m radius moving window

		distribution			analysis in Fragstats v4.2
		(mean)			(McGarigal et al. 2002)
	shdi	Shannons	Habitat	Diversity of benthic cover types in	Exhaustive sampling using a
		habitat	composition <sup>3</sup>	the landscape (unitless)	60m radius moving window
		diversity			analysis in Fragstats v4.2
		index			(McGarigal et al. 2002)
	CCA	Crustose	Coral reef	Spatially-explicit predicted % cover	Coral reef model predictions
		coralline	model		
		algae			
Donthia	COR	Coral cover	Coral reef	Spatially-explicit predicted % cover	Coral reef model predictions
Dentific			model		
community	MAC	Macroalgae	Coral reef	Spatially-explicit predicted % cover	Coral reef model predictions
			model		
	TUR	Turf algae	Coral reef	Spatially-explicit predicted % cover	Coral reef model predictions
			model		

Marine	Fishing	Kiaha	Nakorovou	Navatu	Raviravi
drivers	ground	KIUDU			Kaviravi
Depth	TABU	5.7 (+/-3.1)	7.9 (+/-2.0)	5.1 (+/-2.7)	6.3 (+/-1.0)
Deptii	OPEN	8.7 (+/-3.3)	11.7 (+/-2.3)	8.3 (+/-2.4)	7.4 (+/-2.5)
Distance	TABU	189.3 (+/-137.8)	87.6 (+/-95.7)	262.1 (+/-100.2)	106.6 (+/-93.9)
to shore	OPEN	331.6 (+/-185.0)	368.5 (+/-99.1)	285.1 (+/-97.6)	107.5 (+/-11.6)
Aspect (sd)	TABU	106.8 (+/-10.5)	95.7 (+/-10.6)	100.2 (+/-11.3)	93.9 (+/-12.5)
Aspect (su)	OPEN	102.6 (+/-8.3)	99.1 (+/-9.5)	97.6 (+/-14.0)	107.5 (+/-11.6)
BDI (60)	TABU	0.3 (+/-0.3)	0.1 (+/-0.2)	0.2 (+/-0.4)	0.2 (+/-0.1)
BF1 (00)	OPEN	0.2 (+/-0.5)	-0.2 (+/-1.0)	0.2 (+/-0.3)	0.2 (+/-0.2)
<b>BDI</b> (240)	TABU	0.3 (+/-1.1)	0.2 (+/-0.5)	-0.5 (+/-1.4)	-0.4 (+/-0.6)
BI I (240)	OPEN	0.2 (+/-1.3)	-1.8 (+/-1.8)	-0.9 (+/-1.5)	-0.6 (+/-1.1)
Slope(60)	TABU	5.1 (+/-2.5)	2.9 (+/-1.5)	5.4 (+/-2.8)	4.6 (+/-1.4)
Stope (00)	OPEN	5.9 (+/-3.2)	9.2 (+/-2.1)	6.6 (+/-1.5)	5.0 (+/-1.5)
Slope $(240)$	TABU	5.3 (+/-0.5)	2.7 (+/-1.0)	5.6 (+/-1.8)	4.7 (+/-0.3)
Stope (240)	OPEN	5.4 (+/-1.2)	6.5 (+/-0.6)	6.1 (+/-0.3)	5.2 (+/-0.7)
Slope of	TABU	22.2 (+/-8.9)	13.1 (+/-6.2)	22.6 (+/-9.7)	19.8 (+/-5.7)
slope	OPEN	24.4 (+/-10.8)	34.1 (+/-6.2)	26.2 (+/-4.8)	21.4 (+/-5.4)
Plan	TABU	0.1 (+/-0.3)	0.0 (+/-0.1)	0.2 (+/-0.3)	0.1 (+/-0.2)
curvature	OPEN	0.0 (+/-0.3)	0.0 (+/-0.3)	0.1 (+/-0.3)	0.1 (+/-0.2)
Profile	TABU	0.1 (+/-0.3)	0.0 (+/-0.1)	0.2 (+/-0.3)	0.1 (+/-0.2)
curvature	OPEN	0.0 (+/-0.3)	0.2 (+/-0.3)	0.1 (+/-0.4)	0.1 (+/-0.2)
VRM	TABU	0.0 (+/-0.0)	0.0 (+/-0.0)	0.0 (+/-0.0)	0.0 (+/-0.0)
V IXIVI	OPEN	0.0 (+/-0.0)	0.0 (+/-0.0)	0.0 (+/-0.0)	0.0 (+/-0.0)
Contiguity	TABU	0.4 (+/-0.3)	0.6 (+/-0.3)	0.6 (+/-0.3)	0.9 (+/-0.1)
Contiguity	OPEN	0.6 (+/-0.3)	0.1 (+/-0.2)	0.3 (+/-0.2)	0.7 (+/-0.3)
Fractal	TABU	0.6 (+/-0.4)	0.8 (+/-0.4)	0.8 (+/-0.4)	1.0 (+/-0.1)
dimension	OPEN	0.8 (+/-0.4)	0.1 (+/-0.3)	0.6 (+/-0.5)	0.8 (+/-0.4)
Provinity	TABU	0.8 (+/-1.3)	0.3 (+/-0.7)	1.1 (+/-1.8)	0.0 (+/-0.0)
Proximity	OPEN	0.7 (+/-1.3)	0.1 (+/-0.5)	1.6 (+/-2.0)	0.0 (+/-0.0)
SHDI	TABU	0.2 (+/-0.2)	0.2 (+/-0.2)	0.2 (+/-0.2)	0.0 (+/-0.0)
	OPEN	0.2 (+/-0.2)	0.0 (+/-0.1)	0.4 (+/-0.3)	0.0 (+/-0.0)
TSS	TABU	23.7 (+/-4.5)	182.9 (+/-99.4)	4.2 (+/-1.2)	208.1 (+/-11.5)
155	OPEN	31.2 (+/-7.4)	13.3 (+/-10.8)	0.0 (+/-0.0)	182.0 (+/-32.1)

Table S4.3. Marine drivers average and standard deviation in each tabu and open areas per village.



Figure S4.1. Spatial representation of marine drivers.







Figure S4.2. Response curves of benthic indicators.









Figure S4.3. Response curves of fish indicators.



**Figure S4.4.** Boxplots of coral reef indicators values for Present by fishing ground per village. Benthic indicators (Crustose coralline algae [CCA], coral [COR], macroalgae [MAC], turf algae [TUR]) are expressed in % cover and resource fishes (browsers [BROW], grazers and detritivores [GRDT], scrapers [SCRP], and piscivores [PISC]) are expressed in kg/ha.



Figure S4.5. Coral reef indicators abundance percent change from present conditions in Kiobo open (left) and tabu (right) areas per scenario. Extreme climate change scenarios (bleaching), forest cover change scenarios (deforestation and reforestation) and their combination are shown.



Figure S4.6. Coral reef indicators percent abundance change from present conditions in Nakorovou open (left) and tabu (right) areas per scenario. Extreme climate change scenarios (bleaching), forest cover change scenarios (deforestation and reforestation) and their combination are shown.



Figure S4.7. Coral reef indicators abundance percent change from present conditions in Navatu open (left) and tabu (right) areas per scenario. Extreme climate change scenarios (bleaching), forest cover change scenarios (deforestation and reforestation) and their combination are shown.



Figure S4.8. Coral reef indicators abundance percent change from present conditions in Raviravi open (left) and tabu (right) areas per scenario. Extreme climate change scenarios (bleaching), forest cover change scenarios (deforestation and reforestation) and their combination are shown.

### References

Almany GR. 2004. Differential effects of habitat complexity, predators and competitors on abundance of juvenile and adult coral reef fishes. Oecologia. 141(1):105–113

Alvarez-Romero JG, Pressey RL, Ban NC, Vance-Borland K, Willer C, et al. 2011. Integrated land-sea conservation planning: the missing links. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 42:381–409

Anderson MJ, Gorley RN, Clarke KR. 2008. PERMANOVA+ for Primer: Guide to Software and Statistical Methods

Anthony KR. 1999. Coral suspension feeding on fine particulate matter. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 232(1):85–106

Arias-González JE, Done TJ, Page CA, Cheal AJ, Kininmonth S, Garza-Pérez JR. 2006. Towards a reefscape ecology: relating biomass and trophic structure of fish assemblages to habitat at Davies Reef, Australia. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 320:29–41

Baker AC, Glynn PW, Riegl B. 2008. Climate change and coral reef bleaching: An ecological assessment of long-term impacts, recovery trends and future outlook. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 80(4):435–71

Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M. 2004. Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature. 429(6994):827–833

Bols PL. 1978. The iso-erodent map of Java and Madura. Belg. Tech. Assist. Proj. ATA. 105:39 Borselli L, Cassi P, Torri D. 2008. Prolegomena to sediment and flow connectivity in the landscape: a GIS and field numerical assessment. Catena. 75(3):268–277

Cumming RL, Toscano MA, Lovell ER, Carlson BA, Dulvy NK, et al. 2002. Mass coral bleaching in the Fiji Islands, 2000. Proc. Ninth Int. Coral Reef Symp. Bali 23-27 Oct. 2000. 2:1161–1167

Darling ES, Graham NA, Januchowski-Hartley FA, Nash KL, Pratchett MS, Wilson SK. 2017. Relationships between structural complexity, coral traits, and reef fish assemblages. Coral Reefs. 1–15

DeMartini E, Jokiel P, Beets J, Stender Y, Storlazzi C, et al. 2013. Terrigenous sediment impact on coral recruitment and growth affects the use of coral habitat by recruit parrotfishes (F. Scaridae). J. Coast. Conserv. 17(3):417–429

Dollar SJ. 1982. Wave stress and coral community structure in Hawai'i. Coral Reefs. 1(2):71–81 Edwards CB, Friedlander AM, Green AG, Hardt MJ, Sala E, et al. 2014. Global assessment of the status of coral reef herbivorous fishes: evidence for fishing effects. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 281(1774):20131835

Elith J, Leathwick JR, Hastie T. 2008. A working guide to boosted regression trees. J. Anim. Ecol. 77(4):802–13

English SS, Wilkinson CC, Baker VV, others. 1994. Survey Manual for Tropical Marine Resources. Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS)

Fabricius K, De'ath G. 2001. Environmental factors associated with the spatial distribution of crustose coralline algae on the Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs. 19(4):303–9

Fabricius K, De'ath G, McCook L, Turak E, Williams DM. 2005. Changes in algal, coral and fish assemblages along water quality gradients on the inshore Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51(1–4):384–98

Fabricius KE. 2005. Effects of terrestrial runoff on the ecology of corals and coral reefs: review and synthesis. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50(2):125–46

Falinski K. 2016. Predicting sediment export into tropical coastal ecosystems to support ridge-toreef management. PhD thesis. The University of Hawai'i at Mānoa

Franklin EC, Jokiel PL, Donahue MJ. 2013. Predictive modeling of coral distribution and abundance in the Hawaiian Islands. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 481:121–132

Fredston-Hermann A, Brown CJ, Albert S, Klein CJ, Mangubhai S, et al. 2016. Where Does River Runoff Matter for Coastal Marine Conservation? Front. Mar. Sci. 3:273

Friedlander AM, Brown EK. 2006. Hanalei bay, Kaua'i marine benthic communities since 1992: spatial and temporal trends in a dynamic Hawaiian coral reef ecosystem. Pacific Island Ecosystems Research Center of the U.S. Geological Survey

Friedlander AM, Parrish JD. 1998. Habitat characteristics affecting fish assemblages on a Hawaiian coral reef. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 224(1):1–30

Froese R, Pauly D. 2011. FishBase

Graham NAJ, Nash KL. 2013. The importance of structural complexity in coral reef ecosystems. Coral Reefs. 32(2):315–326

Gratwicke B, Speight MR. 2005. Effects of habitat complexity on Caribbean marine fish assemblages. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 292:301–310

Green AL, Bellwood DR. 2009. Monitoring Functional Groups of Herbivorous Reef Fishes as Indicators of Coral Reef Resilience : A Practical Guide for Coral Reef Managers in the Asia Pacific Region. IUCN

Grorud-Colvert K, Claudet J, Tissot BN, Caselle JE, Carr MH, et al. 2014. Marine protected area networks: assessing whether the whole is greater than the sum of its parts. PLoS One. 9(8):e102298 Halpern BS. 2003. The impact of marine reserves: do reserves work and does reserve size matter? Ecol. Appl. S117–S137

Halpern BS, McLeod KL, Rosenberg AA, Crowder LB. 2008. Managing for cumulative impacts in ecosystem-based management through ocean zoning. Ocean Coast. Manag. 51(3):203–211

Halpern BS, Selkoe KA, White C, Albert S, Aswani S, Lauer M. 2013. Marine protected areas and resilience to sedimentation in the Solomon Islands. Coral Reefs. 32(1):61–69

Hijmans RJ. 2014. R Package, Raster: Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling. Software

Hijmans RJ, Phillips S, Leathwick J, Elith J. 2014. R Package, Dismo: Species Distribution Modeling

Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, et al. 2007. Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. science. 318(5857):1737–1742

Hoeke RK, Jokiel PL, Buddemeier RW, Brainard RE. 2011. Projected changes to growth and mortality of Hawaiian corals over the next 100 years. PloS One. 6(3):e18038
Hoffmeister JE, Ladd HS. 1944. The antecedent-platform theory. J. Geol. 52(6):388–402 IPCC A. 2007. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. IPCC Secretariat Geneva

Jenkins AP, Jupiter SD, Qauqau I, Atherton J. 2010. The importance of ecosystem-based management for conserving aquatic migratory pathways on tropical high islands: a case study from Fiji. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 20(2):224–238

Johansen JL, Jones GP. 2013. Sediment-induced turbidity impairs foraging performance and prey choice of planktivorous coral reef fishes. Ecol. Appl. 23(6):1504–1517

Jouffray J-B, Nyström M, Norström AV, Williams ID, Wedding LM, et al. 2015. Identifying multiple coral reef regimes and their drivers across the Hawaiian archipelago. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 370(1659):20130268

Jupiter S, Mcclennen C, Matthews E. 2012. Vatu-i-Ra Seascape, Fiji. In Climate and Conservation, pp. 155–169. Springer

Jupiter S, Tora K, Mills M, Weeks R, Adams V, et al. 2011. Filling the gaps: identifying candidate sites to expand Fiji's national protected area network. Outcomes report from provincial planning meeting, 20-21 September 2010. Wildl. Conserv. Soc. Fiji Suva Fiji

Jupiter SD, Egli DP. 2011. Ecosystem-based management in Fiji: successes and challenges after five years of implementation. J. Mar. Biol. 2011:

Jupiter SD, Egli D, Cakacaka A, Tui T, Caginitoba A, et al. 2010. Factors Contributing to the Effectiven [E] S of Marine Protected Areas in a Traditional Fijian Fishing Ground, Kubulau District, Vanua Levu. Wildlife Conservation Society

Kendall MS, Miller TJ, Pittman SJ. 2011. Patterns of scale-dependency and the influence of map resolution on the seascape ecology of reef fish. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 427:259–274

Kim G, Kim J-S, Hwang D-W. 2011. Submarine groundwater discharge from oceanic islands standing in oligotrophic oceans: Implications for global biological production and organic carbon fluxes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 56(2):673–682

Klein CJ, Jupiter SD, Selig ER, Watts ME, Halpern BS, et al. 2012. Forest conservation delivers highly variable coral reef conservation outcomes. Ecol. Appl. 22(4):1246–1256

Klein CJ, Jupiter SD, Watts M, Possingham HP. 2014. Evaluating the influence of candidate terrestrial protected areas on coral reef condition in Fiji. Mar. Policy. 44:360–365

Knudby A, Jupiter S, Roelfsema C, Lyons M, Phinn S. 2013. Mapping Coral Reef Resilience Indicators Using Field and Remotely Sensed Data. Remote Sens. 5(3):1311–34

Knudby A, Roelfsema C, Lyons M, Phinn S, Jupiter S. 2011. Mapping fish community variables by integrating field and satellite data, object-based image analysis and modeling in a traditional Fijian fisheries management area. Remote Sens. 3(3):460–483

Land Use Planning Section, Land Resource Planning & Development, Department of Agriculture. 2012. Land use capability classification system - A Fiji Guideline for the classification of land for agriculture

Leslie DM, Seru VB, others. 1998. Fiji Soil Taxonomic Unit Description Handbook: Supplement to the National Soil Map. Manaaki Whenua Press

Lovell E, Sykes H, Deiye M, Wantiez L, Garrigue C, et al. 2004. Status of Coral Reefs in the South West Pacific: Fiji, Nauru, New Caledonia, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tuvalu and Vanuatu. Status Coral Reefs World. 2:337–362

Maina J, Moel H de, Zinke J, Madin J, McClanahan T, Vermaat JE. 2013. Human deforestation outweighs future climate change impacts of sedimentation on coral reefs. Nat. Commun. 4:1986

Margules CR, Pressey RL. 2000. Systematic conservation planning. Nature. 405(6783):243–53

McArdle BH, Anderson MJ. 2001. Fitting Multivariate Models to Community Data: A Comment on Distance-Based Redundancy Analysis. Ecology. 82(1):290–97

McCook L, Jompa J, Diaz-Pulido G. 2001. Competition between corals and algae on coral reefs: a review of evidence and mechanisms. Coral Reefs. 19(4):400–417

McGarigal K, Cushman SA, Neel MC, Ene E. 2002. FRAGSTATS: spatial pattern analysis program for categorical maps

McGarigal K, Tagil S, Cushman SA. 2009. Surface metrics: an alternative to patch metrics for the quantification of landscape structure. Landsc. Ecol. 24(3):433–450

Moore WS. 1996. Large groundwater inputs to coastal waters revealed by 226Ra enrichments. Nature. 380(6575):612–14

Neall VE, Trewick SA. 2008. The age and origin of the Pacific islands: a geological overview. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 363(1508):3293–3308

Olson D, Farley L, Patrick A, Watling D, Tuiwawa M, et al. 2010. Priority forests for conservation in Fiji: landscapes, hotspots and ecological processes. Oryx. 44(01):57–70

Pandolfi JM, Connolly SR, Marshall DJ, Cohen AL. 2011. Projecting coral reef futures under global warming and ocean acidification. science. 333(6041):418–422

Pastorok RA, Bilyard GR. 1985. Effects of sewage pollution on coral-reef communities. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 21:175–89

Pittman SJ, Brown KA. 2011. Multi-Scale Approach for Predicting Fish Species Distributions across Coral Reef Seascapes. PLOS ONE. 6(5):e20583

Pratchett MS, Munday P, Wilson SK, Graham NA, Cinner JE, et al. 2008. Effects of climateinduced coral bleaching on coral-reef fishes. Ecol. Econ. Consequences Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev. 46:251–296

R Core Team. 2014. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.: R Foundation for Statistical Computing

Renard KG, Foster GR, Weesies GA, McCool DK, Yoder DC, others. 1997. Predicting Soil Erosion by Water: A Guide to Conservation Planning with the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE), Vol. 703. US Government Printing Office Washington, DC

Ridgeway G. 2007. Generalized Boosted Models: A Guide to the Gbm Package

Roelfsema C, Phinn S, Jupiter S, Comley J, Albert S. 2013. Mapping coral reefs at reef to reefsystem scales, 10s–1000s km2, using object-based image analysis. Int. J. Remote Sens. 34(18):6367–6388 Rogers CS. 1990. Responses of coral reefs and reef organisms to sedimentation. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. Oldendorf. 62(1):185–202

Sheppard CR. 1981. The groove and spur structures of Chagos atolls and their coral zonation. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 12(5):549IN1–560IN2

Smith JE, Brainard R, Carter A, Grillo S, Edwards C, et al. 2016. Re-evaluating the health of coral reef communities: baselines and evidence for human impacts across the central Pacific. Proc R Soc B. 283(1822):20151985

Stamoulis KA, Friedlander AM. 2013. A seascape approach to investigating fish spillover across a marine protected area boundary in Hawai'i. Fish. Res. 144:2–14

Stamoulis KA, Poti M, Delevaux JMS, Donovan MK, Friedlander A, Kendall MS. 2016. Chapter 4: Fishes - Reef Fish. In Marine Biogeographic Assessment of the Main Hawaiian Islands, pp. 156–96. Bureau of Ocean Energy Management and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. OCS Study BOEM 2016-035 and NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NCCOS 214. 359 pp. B.M. Costa and M.S. Kendall ed.

Szmant AM. 2002. Nutrient enrichment on coral reefs: Is it a major cause of coral reef decline? Estuaries. 25(4):743–66

The Natural Capital Project. 2015. InVEST Sediment Delivery Ratio (SDR) Model

Umar MJ, McCook LJ, Price IR. 1998. Effects of sediment deposition on the seaweed Sargassum on a fringing coral reef. Coral Reefs. 17(2):169–177

Venables WN, Ripley BD. 2013. Modern Applied Statistics with S-PLUS. Springer Science & Business Media

WCS. 2010. WCS-Fiji Marine Biological Monitoring H Fiji Marine Biological Monitoring Handbook. Wildlife Conservation Society-Fiji, Suva, Fiji

Weeks R, Jupiter SD. 2013. Adaptive comanagement of a marine protected area network in Fiji. Conserv. Biol. 27(6):1234–1244

Wilson SK, Fisher R, Pratchett MS, Graham N a. J, Dulvy NK, et al. 2010. Habitat degradation and fishing effects on the size structure of coral reef fish communities. Ecol. Appl. 20(2):442–51 WWF. 2004. Setting priorities for marine conservation in the Fiji Islands Marine Ecoregion. WWF

South Pacific Programme, Suva, Fiji

Yentsch CS, Yentsch CM, Cullen JJ, Lapointe B, Phinney DA, Yentsch SW. 2002. Sunlight and water transparency: cornerstones in coral research. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 268(2):171–183

Yu C, Lee JAY, Munro-Stasiuk MJ. 2003. Extensions to least-cost path algorithms for roadway planning. Int. J. Geogr. Inf. Sci. 17(4):361–376

## **CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION**

There is a large body of literature arguing that land and sea linkages are important factors influencing the dynamics of coral reefs and the resilience of these ecosystems (Alvarez-Romero et al. 2011, Gurney et al. 2013, Jupiter et al. 2017, Klein et al. 2010), however, very few practical examples demonstrate how to operationalize ridge-to-reef concepts into marine conservation planning. This is partly because land-sea connections can take multiple pathways and forms, which makes observation and tractability challenging for scientists, and hinders managers from making informed decisions (Alvarez-Romero et al. 2011, Makino et al. 2013). This study has developed the first ridge-to-reef modeling framework that links land-based activities to coral reef ecological outcomes at fine spatial resolution for high oceanic islands.

Uncertainty is inherent to modeling complex systems (Reichert & Borsuk 2005) and arises at all stages of the modeling process (Gurney et al. 2013). A predictive model calibrated for current conditions can be used to forecast potential species distribution and abundance at another point in time (Franklin 2010), but requires a number of assumptions. One of the foremost assumptions associated with predicting futures is that species distributions are in equilibrium with current conditions and the identified relationships will not change over time (DeAngelis & Waterhouse 1987, Franklin 2010), which may not always be true (Carpenter 2002). For example, evidence is emerging that corals may acclimatize to predicted increases in SST associated with climate change (Baker et al. 2008). "Static" modeling approaches also do not account for species dispersal, migration, and interactions within the seascape (Guisan & Thuiller 2005, Stamoulis & Delevaux 2015) and therefore do not provide information on recovery trajectories of impacted ecosystems (Gurney et al. 2013, Melbourne-Thomas et al. 2011), which can influence management scale and outcomes (Toonen et al. 2011).

In addition, imperfect knowledge of the effects of human drivers and how coral reefs will respond to these drivers means that scenario modeling requires simplifications and assumptions which lead to further uncertainty in model projections (Coreau et al. 2009). By using present condition as the baseline for comparing projected coral reefs, scientists and managers need to recognize that this comparative benchmark represents ecosystems already subject to human impacts (e.g., fishing pressure and land-based source pollution) (Knowlton & Jackson 2008). However, comparing to present conditions still provides an opportunity to identify the trajectory of coral reef communities and fisheries under different human drivers and provide guidance for management (Alagona et al. 2012). In addition, projecting the distribution of species based on assumptions about current habitat suitability, inevitably translates to uncertainty in the associated projections. Therefore, sources of uncertainty in scenario analysis are inevitable. However, predicting the exact future state of coral reefs under each scenario was not our objective and is not necessary to achieve effective management outcomes (Gurney et al. 2013). Instead, we used scenario modeling to illustrate the range of possibilities for the future of coral reefs and identify trends that indicate whether coral reef and biocultural resources may be at risk (Coreau et al. 2009).

In terms of management implications, this research identified three important lessons. First, ridgeto-reef systems differ along a gradient of natural disturbance regimes. Places more exposed to natural disturbances are more resilient to local and global drivers (Hā'ena and Raviravi), compared to places sheltered from natural disturbances (Ka'ūpūlehu and Navatu). Second, ridge-to-reef management can confer resilience to coral reefs. In places exposed to natural disturbances, it is important to protect key habitats such as nurseries and maintain water and habitat quality to promote recovery post-disturbances (Hā'ena and Nakorovou). In places sheltered from natural disturbance, it is important to protect habitat removed from local and global drivers influence, such as deep-water refuges, and protect water quality and key herbivores to promote resistance to disturbances (Ka'ūpūlehu and Navatu). Lastly, size and geological history of oceanic islands influences the ridge-to-reef connections. In larger and geologically diverse oceanic islands, land and sea connections are spatially complex (Hawai'i vs Fiji).

This research demonstrated that this novel ridge-to-reef modeling framework is applicable to places driven by very different disturbances regimes while also being easily transferable to geologically different places. By adapting and transferring this framework from non-point source groundwater linkages in Hawai'i to point source sediment discharge in Fiji, this study illustrated the flexibility and transferability of this decision support tool. This framework is not a data intensive modeling tool and can also be used to calibrate more complex biophysical models (e.g.,

MARXAN, CORSET). The application of this tool in Hawai'i and Fiji confirmed the utility of fine scale spatial models that can estimate future ecosystem structure under alternative management and climatic scenarios (Guisan & Thuiller 2005, Gurney et al. 2013, Thrush et al. 2009) for islands across the Pacific and Oceania. Given existing resources, time and knowledge limitations, this information can help select management actions, which are relevant to the local context.

This study demonstrated how spatially explicit tools that couple coral reef social and ecological systems at fine spatial resolution, while linking land and sea processes, can support ridge-to reef management and help understand the impact of cumulative human drivers on coral reef resilience. These types of models can help identify drivers of coral reef degradation and consequently provide guidance on appropriate management actions, as well as identify where they could be most effective (Franklin 2010, Stamoulis & Delevaux 2015). Locally developed models, such as those developed here, offer a critical and much needed opportunity for aiding local-scale and place based management of coral reefs in high oceanic island environments.

Finally, this research demonstrated that linkages between people and nature along the ridge-to-reef continuum are critical for informing resilience management. The spectrum of natural disturbances shaping oceanic island environments can interact in various ways with human drivers. When accounting for the geological history, natural disturbance regime, and habitats unique to each place, ridge-to-reef management can promote coral reef resilience in a changing climate.

## References

Alagona PS, Sandlos J, Wiersma YF. 2012. Past imperfect: using historical ecology and baseline data for conservation and restoration projects in North America. Environ. Philos. 9(1):49–70

Alvarez-Romero JG, Pressey RL, Ban NC, Vance-Borland K, Willer C, et al. 2011. Integrated land-sea conservation planning: the missing links. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 42:381–409

Baker AC, Glynn PW, Riegl B. 2008. Climate change and coral reef bleaching: An ecological assessment of long-term impacts, recovery trends and future outlook. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 80(4):435–71

Carpenter SR. 2002. Ecological futures: building an ecology of the long now. Ecology. 83(8):2069–2083

Coreau A, Pinay G, Thompson JD, Cheptou P-O, Mermet L. 2009. The rise of research on futures in ecology: rebalancing scenarios and predictions. Ecol. Lett. 12(12):1277–1286

DeAngelis DL, Waterhouse JC. 1987. Equilibrium and nonequilibrium concepts in ecological models. Ecol. Monogr. 57(1):1–21

Franklin J. 2010. Mapping Species Distributions: Spatial Inference and Prediction. Cambridge University Press

Guisan A, Thuiller W. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecol. Lett. 8(9):993–1009

Gurney GG, Melbourne-Thomas J, Geronimo RC, Aliño PM, Johnson CR. 2013. Modelling Coral Reef Futures to Inform Management: Can Reducing Local-Scale Stressors Conserve Reefs under Climate Change? PLOS ONE. 8(11):e80137

Knowlton N, Jackson JB. 2008. Shifting baselines, local impacts, and global change on coral reefs. PLoS Biol. 6(2):e54

Makino A, Beger M, Klein CJ, Jupiter SD, Possingham HP. 2013. Integrated planning for landsea ecosystem connectivity to protect coral reefs. Biol. Conserv. 165:35–42

Reichert P, Borsuk ME. 2005. Does high forecast uncertainty preclude effective decision support? Environ. Model. Softw. 20(8):991–1001

Stamoulis KA, Delevaux JMS. 2015. Data requirements and tools to operationalize marine spatial planning in the United States. Ocean Coast. Manag. 116:214–23

Thrush SF, Hewitt JE, Dayton PK, Coco G, Lohrer AM, et al. 2009. Forecasting the limits of resilience: integrating empirical research with theory. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. rspb20090661

Toonen RJ, Andrews KR, Baums IB, Bird CE, Concepcion GT, et al. 2011. Defining boundaries for ecosystem-based management: a multispecies case study of marine connectivity across the Hawaiian Archipelago. J. Mar. Biol. 2011: